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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present, as the chairman of the board
of directors (the “Board”) of GR Properties Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”),
the report for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

During the year ended 31 December 2016 (the
“Year”), the Group recorded revenue of approximately
HK$140,178,000 (year ended 31 December 2015:
approximately HK$76,809,000). The loss before tax for
the Year was approximately HK$34,675,000 (year ended
31 December 2015: approximately HK$18,414,000). The
increase in revenue was contributed from the acquisition
of Beijing AOCEAN Business Management Company
Limited in May 2015, which contributed property
management service income to the Group for full year
during the Year. In addition, the Group acquired an office
building, namely Boundary House, in London, United
Kingdom (the “UK”) in August 2016 which contributed
stable rental income to the Group.

The increase in loss before tax for the Year was
contributed from acquisition cost of stamp duty and direct
legal and transaction costs incurred and exchange loss
caused by the significant depreciation of Sterling Pounds
(“£”) arising from acquisition of Boundary House. For
detailed analysis of financial results, please refer to the
section “Management Discussion and Analysis”.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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REVIEW AND OUTLOOK

During the Year, the Group’s operations are organised
into business segments of (i) the property management
segment in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”);
and (ii) the property development and investment segment
in the UK and United States of America (the “USA”). In
accordance with the future development strategy of the
Group, the Group would like to tap into international
markets such as the USA and Europe. This should give
diversification and a hedge against our future domestic
businesses, in order to bring good returns to the
Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
has expanded into the property market in the USA and
acquired a parcel of land located in Santa Monica,
State of California, the USA for the purpose of property
development. During the Year, the Group further acquired
Boundary House in London, UK. The Board considers
that this acquisition allows the Group to capture the
opportunity to establish its position and engage in the
property market in London, UK and for the Group to
invest in income generating real estate with potential of
capital appreciation of properties in the long terms and
redevelopment potential in the future. The Board believe
that after this acquisition, the Group will be able to
broaden its income base through the stable rental incomes
generated from Boundary House. This will also enhance
the operation base of the Group.

The uncertainties surrounding the UK’s withdrawal from
the European Union (“EU”) along with the subdued global
economy have continued to pose the greatest challenges
for the UK economy. In the short term, constrained
business investments in conjunction with inflation caused
by the sterling depreciation are likely to place pressure on
real incomes and consumer spending, which is expected
to endure throughout the period of negotiation. In the short
to medium term, a period of heightened uncertainty is
likely to prolong for several years, at least, until the future
political and trading relationship with the EU becomes
more apparent. Whilst diminished investor confidence
and lower spending have undoubtedly contributed to
the initial signs of slowdown of the real estate market,
it is ambiguous as to what extent it will be impacted in
the short to medium term. However, the Board currently
intends to hold Boundary House for long term investment
purpose and therefore considers that Brexit and short term
fluctuation of sterling would not have material impact to the
Group as a whole in long run.
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In 2017, in view of the stable and growing economy in the
USA and the expectation of appreciation of United States
Dollars, the Group plans to continue seeking investment
opportunities for properties development and investment
in the USA. At the same time, the Group will consider
investments in the PRC and UK in order to diversify the
risk of the Group. The Board will continue the strategy to
expand the Group through acquisition of assets together
with broadening the shareholders base through share
placements or rights issue.

APPRECIATION

The Company turned to a new page in 2016. | would like
to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt gratitude
to the fellow members of the Board, and on behalf of the
Board, the management and entire staff of the Group
for their diligent work and contribution in the past year.
Last but not the least, | would like to extend my sincerest
appreciation to the investors and shareholders of the
Company for their continuing confidence in and support
for the Group over the years. In 2017, the business
portfolio of the Group will continue to be optimised and
rationalised to provide the Company’s future development
and business growth with a motive force. We will devote
our best efforts to generate encouraging returns for our
supportive shareholders.

Yours faithfully,
WEI CHUNXIAN
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 March 2017
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OVERVIEW OF THE YEAR

Year 2016 is a remarkable year for the Company.
Our management is pleased to share with our
supportive shareholders that further to our
expansion into the property market in the USA
in 2015, in 2016, we have further extended our
footprint into the property market in the UK.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Placing of new shares under general
mandate

On 21 April 2016, the Company and Southwest
Securities (HK) Brokerage Limited (the “Placing
Agent”) entered into a placing agreement,
pursuant to which the Placing Agent, being an
exclusive placing agent of the Company, agreed
on a best-effort basis, to procure placees to
subscribe for up to 105,578,910 placing shares
at the placing price of HK$1.00 per placing share
(the “Placing”). The Placing was completed on 10
May 2016. The gross proceeds from the Placing
were HK$105,578,910, and the net proceeds from
the Placing were approximately HK$104,370,000
after deduction of all related costs, fees, expenses
and commission incurred in the Placing. Upon
completion of the Placing, the financial position of
the Group has been strengthened. The proceeds
therefrom are designated for supplementing the
general working capital of the Group and providing
funding for the Santa Monica Project, details of
which are more particularly delineated in the
paragraphs headed “Santa Monica Project” of
section 2.2 of “Business Review” in this report.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREw Ao

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2016 2015
BZE HE
—E2—-XRE —E—HF
+-—A=+—-8 +ZH=+—H
IEFE IEFE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Turnover R 140,178,350 76,809,367
Loss for the year attributableto FERAQXTAREKH
shareholders of the Company KEFEEEE (36,819,169) (18,152,360)
Assets and liabilities EENEE 2016 2015
—E2—-XE —E—HEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Total assets BEBE 830,995,363 553,797,556
Total liabilities BERE 296,905,344 (100,913,224)
Net assets EEFH 534,090,019 452,884,332
Total debts BEB 198,990,340 N/AA i@ B
Capital liquidity ratio® B AN Eh H 1.08 2.73
Gearing ratio* B EAEX 37.3% N/AT i
Bank balances and cash dividend by current * RITERERREBRARDERE
liabilities
# Total debts divided by total equities # EEER AR A
2. BUSINESS REVIEW 2. X¥OMW
During the Year, the Group’'s operations are RAEAFER  AEBRBLEER Y
organised into business units based on the nature of MEREDEBHE LB T MW
their operations. There are two reportable operating EmEEEnH  BREROMEEED
segments, including (i) the property management B RV EBRBRREEDE - B
segment; and (ii) the property development and — B EBAL A E - & = 1{E 5 &6 A
investment segment. The first segment is located in MRER - TEKERFPEH -

the PRC, the second segment is located in the USA,
UK and the PRC.

10 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016



2.1

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property management segment

Subsequent to the completion of the
acquisition of It B EEXEEBR A F
(Beijing AOCEAN Business Management
Company Limited*, or “AOCEAN Business
Management”) in May 2015, the Group
successfully engaged in the property
management segment.

As at 31 December 2016, AOCEAN
Business Management manages eight
major residential and commercial property
projects, all of which are located in
Beijing, the PRC. The services provided by
AOCEAN Business Management under the
management agreements thereof include,
inter alia (i) provision of heat supply and
maintenance services of heat exchange
stations and pipeline network; (ii) provision
of management services to car parks
such as maintenance of various facilities
and equipment in the car parks; and (iii)
provision of property management services to
vacant properties and general management
services such as repair and maintenance
of the buildings and fire safety equipment
and facilities to residential and commercial
property projects.

Adhering to the principle of human-oriented,
and seeing from the perspective of
customers and market needs, AOCEAN
Business Management has been improving
and perfecting its management system
and service products so as to embed
management into services and provide
quality services wholeheartedly. AOCEAN
Business Management will be dedicated to
establishing community service network,
enhancing Online to Online (“020")
development for the community and
providing attentive services in order to
improve customer satisfaction.

2.1
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREw Ao

2.2

Property development and investment
segment

During the Year, the property development
and investment segment is located in the
USA, UK and the PRC.

Santa Monica Project

In August 2015, the Group acquired a
parcel of land located in Santa Monica, the
County of Los Angeles, State of California,
the USA. The parcel of land has a total site
area of approximately 40,615 square feet.
According to the current entitlement of the
parcel of land, the proposed development
potential for the site is a mixed-use three
stories development. The total gross floor
area is estimated to be approximately 39,395
square feet for residential use, approximately
30,083 square feet for commercial use
and approximately 75,000 square feet for
parking. Total rentable/saleable floor area is
estimated to be approximately 38,000 square
feet for residential use and approximately
25,000 square feet for commercial use and
190 on-site subterranean parking spaces
upon completion of the development. The
development cost of the land will be funded
by way of construction loan from bank in the
USA and internal resources of the Company.

The construction of Santa Monica Project has
started during the second half of 2016 and is
expected to complete in 2018 for sale or for
lease.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board is of the opinion that leveraging
on the Company’s profound knowledge of
and experience in the real estate sector and
in accordance with our future development
strategy, it is a good time to seize the
opportunity to explore the property market
in the USA. The property market in the USA
is one with great development potential
for property development business. Santa
Monica in the State of California, the USA,
is a city of booming tourism. It is situated
at a prime location and purchase price is
reasonable. The Board believes that the
acquisition will strengthen the Company’s
current core business and enhance its
competitiveness and sustainability in making
profits in the long run.

Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 9 March 2015, 1 April 2015
and 20 August 2015 and the circular of the
Company dated 14 May 2015 for details of
acquisition of the parcel of land located in
Santa Monica.

Boundary House

In August 2016, the Group acquired an
office building, Boundary House, in London,
UK. Boundary House is located at the
crossover between the increasingly vibrant
Aldgate district popular with technology
media telecommunications occupiers and
the established city of London financial and
insurance heartland. Boundary House is also
close to numerous mainline and underground
stations with convenient access of rail
transportation, including the new Crossrail,
which is a high speed train expected to be
delivered and in service in 2018 connecting
the East-West of London. Boundary House is
an office building with a net internal floor area
of approximately 45,062 square feet, which
comprises a ground floor and seven upper
floors, basement storage and seven car park
spaces. Boundary House is fully occupied
and is currently let to 12 office tenants under
14 subsisting leases with term expiring
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREw Ao

between September 2018 and May 2023
(“Leases”). The car parking spaces, roof
and basement are also let to five licensees
under six licences with term either expiring
before 2021 or on a term until determined
by either party. The Leases can contribute
approximately £1,300,000 rental income to
the Group annually, disregarding the rent free
period provided to tenants.

The Board considers that the acquisition of
Boundary House could be a good investment
opportunity for the Group to explore and
invest in the UK property market. The Group
currently intends to hold the property for
investment purpose to receive rental income
and engaged a local professional property
manager to manage the property and the
Leases. Taking into account the prime
location of the property and the existing
Leases, the Board believes that Boundary
House could generate stable cash flow
and income to the Company and may
enjoy potential capital appreciation in the
future. The Company will from time to time
explore different options to enhance and
maximise the value of Boundary House,
including renewing the Leases upon expiry,
rebalancing its tenant portfolio and property
re-development.

Please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 11 July 2016 and 30 August
2016 and circular of the Company dated
1 August 2016 for details of acquisition of
Boundary House.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Fuzhou properties

Previously, the Group’s property investment
in the PRC was conducted through Faith
Stand (China) Limited (“Faith Stand China”)
and 18 2 {EK E ¥ & & A R 2 Fl(Jiacheng
(Fujian) Investments Company Limited*,
Jiacheng Fujian) by leasing out investment
properties held by Faith Stand China
and Jiacheng Fujian comprising shops,
storerooms and car parking spaces located
in two residential property development
projects in Gulou District, Fuzhou, Fujian
Province in the PRC (the “Properties”). During
the Year, in view of the downturn of the
property rental market in Fuzhou over the last
few years where the Properties are located;
and the loss-making position of Faith Stand
China and Jiacheng Fujian in prior years,
the Group had disposed of the Properties by
way of disposal of the entire equity shares
of Faith Stand China and Jiacheng Fujian
to an independent third party. Details of the
disposals are set out in the announcement
dated 15 June 2016.

3. FINANCIAL REVIEW

3.1

Financial analysis

During the Year, the Group achieved a
revenue of approximately HK$140,178,000
(year ended 31 December 2015:
approximately HK$76,809,000). The
substantial increase in revenue is mainly
attributable to the completion of acquisition
of AOCEAN Business Management in May
2015. The property management segment
reported segment revenue of approximately
HK$133,276,000 (year ended 31 December
2015: approximately HK$70,086,000). In
addition, the acquisition of Boundary House
was completed in August 2016 which has
contributed rental income of approximately
HK$3,691,000 to the Group during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREw Ao

The Group recorded loss for the Year of
approximately HK$36,819,000 (year ended
31 December 2015: loss of approximately
HK$18,152,000). The increase in loss was
mainly due to:

(i) the recognition of fair value loss of
investment property, Boundary House,
of approximately HK$9,155,000
during the Year. Boundary House
was acquired by the Group in August
2016 with total cost of £29,687,000,
comprising consideration of
£27,780,000 and direct transaction
cost of £1,907,000 and the fair value
of Boundary House as at 31 December
2016 was estimated to be £28,750,000.
The fair value loss recognised of
£937,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$9,155,000), in which the excess
of cost over the fair value, was solely
due to the capitalised acquisition cost
of stamp duty and direct legal and
transaction costs incurred.

(i) the exchange loss of approximately
HK$14,504,000 recognised during the
Year. Such exchange loss was mainly
caused by the significant depreciation
of £ after the exit of UK from the
European Union (“Brexit”) on 23 June
2016. The Board currently intends to
hold Boundary House for long term
investment purpose and therefore
considers that Brexit and short term
fluctuation of £ would not have material
impact to the Group as a whole in long
run.

16 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

REBMPUAEEZERNERSEERY
36,819,000 L (== —H
F+-_A=Z+—BULFE: B
18 #918,152,000/8 1) ° E5181E
mInEZHR

() RAEAFEBRRILEDY
¥Boundary HouseZ
A F{EEEX9,155,000
BT - AEBRZE
—NENA MUK E
42 %8 29,687,000 H £
(8 #& X {8 27,780,000
BEEREEXHEAE
1,907,000 % &) I B
Boundary House - H
& EfBoundary House
RZE—R"F+ A
=+t—BZAFER
/528,750,000 & &8 © X
i@ A FEmE K
NEBRATEERE
937,000 8% (FHE R &
9,155,000/ 7T ) <& £ H
REFCHEDEUR
EREERRSEBERA
ﬁ °

(i) MREAFEBRZELE
18 4714,504,0007% JT °
ZEXBEDEZHAR
BERRZZT—ANFA~A
ZTT=BREBE(E
BIBEER |) 2 12 2 g% ([ 3%
g1 Kig i E B -
EERBEMNFEEER
Boundary HouselA {E
RERERASZ  BUtR
REEREEEBER R
RESBESTEHA
EERBERNBEAY
@ .



3.2

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group has arranged
construction loan for Santa Monica Project
and complete the drawndown of loan of
approximately HK$5,268,000 as at 31
December 2016. In addition, the Group has
borrowed a loan of £13,875,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$132,264,000) as at
31 December 2016 with Boundary House
being charged as security for the loan. As
at 31 December 2015, the Group has no
borrowings.

During the Year, the Company and Wintime
Company Limited, an immediate holding
company of the Company, entered into
a shareholder loan facility agreement,
pursuant to which Wintime Company Limited
agrees to provide a facility with amount up
to HK$250,000,000 to the Company. This
shareholder’s loan is unsecured, interest
bearing at 2% per annum and repayable on
36 months after drawdown.

Cash flow management and liquidity
risk

Management of the Group’s cash flows is
the responsibility of the Group’s treasury
function at the corporate level. Our objective
is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through a combination
of internal resources, bank borrowings, debts
and equity securities, where appropriate. We
are comfortable with our present financial
and liquidity position, and will continue to
maintain a reasonable liquidity buffer to
ensure sufficient funds are available to meet
liquidity requirements at all times.

3.2
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BREw Ao

3.3

The directors of the Company review the
capital structure of the Group by using
a gearing ratio, which is calculated on
the basis of dividing the total debts by
total equity. The review is conducted
at least semi-annually and before each
major financing or investment decision is
made. The Group objective is to maintain
a balance between continuity of funding
and the flexibility through the use of
borrowings including bank and other
borrowings, shareholder’s loan and other
bond instruments, if any. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity
requirements and its compliance with
lending covenants regularly to ensure that
it maintains sufficient working capital and
adequate committed lines of funding to meet
its liquidity requirement.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had
unutilised facilities of HK$188,542,000 from
Wintime. As at 31 December 2016, the
Group has cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$247,495,000 and total
debts of approximately HK$198,990,000,
which is considered as a healthy level of
liquidity.

Foreign currency exposure

During the Year, the Group’s business
operations were principally in the PRC,
UK and the USA and the main operational
currencies are HK$, RMB, £ and United
States dollars (“US$”). The Group’s
transactions were mainly denominated in
RMB, £ and US$. The majority of assets
and liabilities are denominated in HKS$,
RMB, £ and US$. Any significant exchange
rate fluctuations of foreign currencies
against HK$ may have financial impact
to the Group. The Group does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy at present.
However, the Group will closely monitor the
exchange rate movement trend and take
corresponding measures in a timely manner
to reduce foreign currency exchange risk and
exposure.

18 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

3.3

ARAEEFEREEAGBLE
BEAEB ZEXRERE -BE
BELERDIRER B TERAE
WHBREE BRIANELEE
ABEIBERTAMELETY¥
FET-R - AEEEEBEB
ﬁﬁﬂﬁ?ﬂ( BERITREME
7)) OBRRERERAEMEST
ﬂ@ﬁﬂ%%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi
BB FE o  REBIE
HERZIIRERNRABE S
%IM&EM% ERAOZER
CHERERATEEES
&E%’]Iﬂﬁ%ﬁgb{/%iumiﬂé

RZE—RNF+_A=+—
H A5SEBBERDARE
188,542,000 /& Jt © J5 K B
Wintime e R = Z — XF+ =
A=Z+—H A&£EEERES
IR & F B %) 247,495,000
JC N (BT 428 #7198,990,000/8
T A REBESKEHSR A
BREEAARAE -

Sh ¥ B
REFEEAN  AEE L EBHBE
BEXrE2hAPH - ZERER
%W’ﬁi%%i;%%%
T ARE CERET([E
L)) cAKEEZRXZEEIA
Em BHERETLABENM - K
é?ﬂ%1ﬁu%n A
E% EHERETLABEAM ° Hh
& 535,78 J0 U0 B T {r] 22 K PR R OR
) Mg HASBEEKTB
e - AEEB T EININEY
FHIEE o AT - AEEF R
TEERE(BE - RIFRE
JIE ST 45 1 LA R 88 O BE [ e K%

= o

=

=



3.4

3.5

3.6

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Human resources and remuneration
policy

As at 31 December 2016, the total number of
employees of the Group (excluding directors)
was 347 (31 December 2015: approximately
320). Most of them were located in the PRC.

Remuneration offered by the Group was
determined in accordance with the relevant
policies in Hong Kong, the PRC and the USA
and with reference to market trend, as well
as individual competence and performance
of the staff. Other related benefits included
contributions to Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes, social insurance and medical
insurance funds.

Final dividend

The Board resolved not to declare any
final dividend for the Year (year ended 31
December 2015: Nil)

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had
investment properties with an amount of
HK$405,199,030 and properties held for sale
with an amount of HK$104,716,441 to secure
bank borrowings of HK$137,532,003. Such
bank borrowings comprise of the construction
loan for Santa Monica Project and the loan
with Boundary House being charged as
security.

As at 31 December 2016, trade receivables
of HK$314,711 (2015: Nil) in total was
pledged to secure a bank loan granted to the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEHRE WL

3.7

3.8

3.9

As at 31 December 2016, deposits amounting
to HK$38,800,000 have been pledged to
secure standby letter of credit issued to the
general contractor for Santa Monica Project.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not
pledge any of its assets.

Capital and other development related
commitment and contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the
Group had no material contingent liabilities.
As at 31 December 2016, the Group had
contracted but not provided for commitments
for development costs and capital
expenditure in amount of approximately
HK$186,243,000 (2015: HK$3,211,000).

Property valuations

Property valuations on the Group’s
investment properties located in the UK as at
31 December 2016 have been carried out by
independent qualified professional valuers,
Gerald Eve LLP. The property valuations
were used in preparing 2016 annual results.
The valuations were based on income
capitalisation approach.

Significant investments and Material
acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures

For significant investments held, their
performance during the year and their
future prospects, please refer to Section 2
“Business Review” in this report. Save as
disclosed, the Group had no significant
investments during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group had disposed
of the entire equity interests, of Faith Stand
China and Jiacheng Fujian, please refer to
the paragraph headed “Fuzhou properties”
of Section 2.2 of “Business Review” in
this report. Save as disclosed, there were
no other acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures
during the Year.

FUTURE PROSPECT

Looking ahead, the global economy for 2017 will be
full of uncertainties, especially, in the aftermath of
the UK referendum for Brexit. In accordance with
the future development strategy of the Group, the
Group would like to tap into international markets
such as the USA and Europe. This should give
diversification and a hedge against our future
domestic businesses, in order to bring good returns
to the shareholders. The directors of the Company
consider that the acquisition of Boundary House in
the UK allows the Group to capture the opportunity
to establish its position and engage in the property
market in London, the UK and for the Group to
invest in income generating real estate with the
potential of capital appreciation of properties in
the long term and re-development potential in the
future. The directors of the Company believe that
after the said acquisition, the Group will be able to
broaden its income base through the stable rental
incomes generated from the property. This will
also enhance the operation base of the Group and
optimise the investment properties portfolio of the
Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - w2 MERWRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is our first Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG”) Report (the “Report”) to outline our strategy,
performance and achievements during the period from
1 January 2016 to 31 December 2016 (the “Reporting
Period”). It also serves as a platform to enhance
understanding, communication and interaction with
different stakeholders. In preparation of the Report,
we strictly follow the disclosure requirements of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Unless otherwise stated,
this Report mainly covers the sustainability initiatives
and performance of our property management segment,
we seek to expand the reporting scope to our property
development and property investment segment in
future. We take into account the valuable opinions from
stakeholders with regard to the environmental and social
matters that concern them.

For information about our corporate governance, please
refer to the Cooperate Governance Report. We welcome
any feedbacks and opinions with regards to this report
and our sustainability performance. Please send us your
comments to info@grproperties.com.hk.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ABOUT GR PROPERTIES
Our Business

GR Properties Limited (“GR Properties”) is a listed
company on Hong Kong Stock Exchange (“SEHK")
focusing on its core business in property management,
property development and property investment. Our
headquarters is located in Hong Kong and our business
operations are in Mainland China, The United State of
America and The United Kingdom. We operate 8 property
management projects in Beijing. One of the projects,
Kingdom Guorui, was rated as a 5-Star Demonstration
Projects of Property Management in Beijing. We are also
engaging in a property development project in Santa
Monica, California, United Stated of America and a
property investment project in London, United Kingdom.
We strive to expand our business around the world and
provide impetus for our business growth in the future.

Business KPIs
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BE - w2 MERWRE

Commitment to Quality

We deliver high quality service that excess our customer
expectation. During the Reporting Period, we have renewed
and upgraded our quality and environmental management
certificate (Quality Management Certificate from GB/T19001-
2008 to GB/T19001-2015; and Environmental Management
Certificate from GB/T24001-2004 to GB/T24001-2015). We
have also became a member of China Property Management
Institute in October 2016, after going through a rigorous
review by the Institute. In December 2016, our second
project (Kingdom Guorui) successfully became a member
of Jin Changan Building GK Properties Alliance, which
recognise us for our superior quality of property management
services.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BE e kenms
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2016 Highlights 2016 F A=

. Successful renewal and upgrading of our quality, e IBF:EREE  RETHEERLBE
environmental management and occupational health BERFEFEZ
certificate

. Golden Tower's restaurant rated as a B-class three- o ERZEBXNNTERBR=ELE

star restaurant
. Member of China Property Management Institute . FRAKATFEYEEEREEEEM

. Member of Jin Changan Building GK Properties e Bl 8% TEIE B A S 8 2 B BR B B8R

Alliance
. Jin Changan Building GK Properties Alliance’s Taste o EELBAFTEH B AR o B
and Service award B 75 5% K Bt B & 2 AR

o Engaged as property manager of Beijing City e FRIEJE R E ¢ 242 1HE - RE RIS
Kunting project MEREZEER

. Acquisition of an office building in London, the e FE2,778% & 8 Y5 s B A K&
United Kingdom at £27.78 million

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT BihEgH

To balance the long-term interests among different E$iENEBEREBATESHEOED
stakeholders, we review various environmental, social and FENZ @ KR SBEIBE e ks
governance aspects. We collected and analysed opinions AZ & - RPIEBFRANBE S RIEERD
form our key stakeholder groups (including customers, HEH % @ WEHRMEKEBEHNEER
suppliers, employees, government, shareholders, MNHE(BEEF - (HE® - EE  HWF K
investors, business partners, environmental organisations ¥ -8 & E ¥ AERE BRAKZ T
and community) through formal questionnaire and informal @R ALT)HEER -

conversations during our daily operations.
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The materiality matrix below serves as a tool to visualise TEASM T EEBEEELRSHEMNERBET
the relative importance of each sustainability aspect with  #)z% & :

regard to our stakeholders as well as our business.
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Importance to GR Properties
HAREE  SEMN

Aspects:
BEET

Diversity and equal opportunity

(age, sex, disability etc.)
ZleRE#E (Fir - M - BEE)
Employee turnover rate

BT RAX

Occupational health and safety
BERERELR

Training and development

7 R 2

Child labour and forced labour prevention
By 1k Z T K 58 i 45 &

Employment relationship and employee
communication

BEBEAKREILER

Employee benefits/leisure activities
EIRMNREED

Sewage disposal

7T K HE R

Greenhouse gas emissions

B E R BB

Air emissions

& SRUBE BT

Hazardous and non-hazardous waste
management

B kIECBEYRRE

Energy and water conservation

B A0 B2 R K A K

Natural resource use

(include energy and water)
RKABRFMA(BIEEIR KRB K)

14 Supplier’'s environmental and social
performance evaluation
HEBREREGREANMA

15 Carbon emission trade
ik 32 55 # il

16 Suppller selection
HEMEERF

17 Anti-corruption practices
2 £E 88 8 B

18 Emergency plan
KEBEZER

19 Product safety
Em&®

20 Complaint handling
o IR

21 Intellectual property rights
RN

22 Consumer privacy
BEF/BEEILR

23 Research and development
il fF 55 B e 2%

24 Volunteer activities participation

=z /\%I/E@J

25 Charity donation
RERE
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OUR SUSTAINABILITY VISION

We are in the business of building and managing homes
and office where people live and work. “People oriented”
has always been a paramount philosophy that underpins
our approach to sustainable development. We put
people in the centre of our business and we formulate
our sustainable strategy that caters to the needs and
expectations of people. We believe the key factors to
maintain our quality services are: 1) Satisfy our customers;
2) Value our people; 3) Treasure our resources; and 4)
Harmonise our community. These values are the key to
create results that benefit all of our stakeholders.

Satisfy Our
Customers
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Treasure Our
Resources
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SATISFY OUR CUSTOMERS

“Sincerity” is always the core value of GR Properties. We
are keen to provide high quality service to our customers
and we treat “Customers Satisfaction” as our standard
in order to provide excellent experience to customers
at every degree. We keep track of customer satisfaction
level, follow up complaints until perfect, conduct self-
criticism to seek for improvement, highly concern
customers’ privacy, keep eyes on every health and safety
issue, and choose our suppliers carefully.

/Y //////////A

People Oriented
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Rate g_}_ Handling 4 Assurance 7
7 S 402 7 R 7
EEREE RERE 7 il
/ 7/ 7
7 2 7
/774 77 /72 7 2z

Sincerity

V' N 4 N

FEUH Y
7

7 / /
/ ) z
Supply Chain 7 Healthand 7 Privacy 2
Management §_4_ Safety Z Protection 7
fpmmEE 7 RERRE 7 EARE
? z
/7 Y Z//zzzzzzz /777777777777

—E-REEREFRBEAE
e Owner/customer satisfaction score of no less than 90 out of 100
EF BEPEARBMEETENRIOSD
e 100% Complaint response rate
100%7% & 6] 78 &
e 100% Satisfaction result in supplier evaluation
HITFEAKRE100%
e Zero major accidents throughout the year
PFEERERETENESE
e 100% inspection coverage according to our quality assurance program
EITI00% 2 BEMERE
e Review customer privacy protection procedure
BARERTFPILEREF
e At least three times security patrols a day, security staff on duty in 24/7 basis
AEL3RRENE - REFH24/K - FHE7TRTZHE
e Daily fire patrol and monthly inspection of fire facilities
HEETHAKE  FAREH ARG
e Review contingency plan
B ESTER
e Purchase public liability insurance for every project
REBEVMEERRABEAREERR
e On-site assessment to all new suppliers and at least 10% existing suppliers

EAHHEER  URBRITILORI0%NREHER
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Customer Satisfaction Rate

Understanding customer needs is the first step to provide
excellent service. We actively collect customer opinions
via different communication channels such as customers’
feedback collected by our customer service team, security
guards, cleaning workers and maintenance workers,
regular customer visit, discussion forum, customer
satisfaction survey, etc.

During the year, we carried out on-going investigation
toward customer satisfaction, including conducting
property management customer satisfaction survey to
each and every household in each projects. The survey
included 15 key performance indicators (KPIs) and they
were classified into 5 main categories including event
handling, environmental, security, customer service, and
engineering services. We collected and analysed those
customer satisfaction KPIs and reported to our quality
assurance team, which will follow up and verify the results.

Our average customer satisfaction rate for the year 2016
was 97 out of 100, of which:

Event handling scored 97, environmental scored 95,
security scored 96, customer service scored 98 and
engineering services scored 96.

Customers sometimes present us compliments to
recognise our services. We are not only proud of our
service team but also treat it as a good opportunity to
demonstrate best practice. We share these excellent
customer experiences among staff so that it could become
part of our common practice and corporate culture.
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B i RE AR

Complaints Handling

Handling customer complaints provides us opportunities
to improve our service quality, of which we are highly
concerned about. We have established a 24-hour
customer service hotline and a responsible team to handle
feedback and complaint from customers. We record each
complaint in our customer service system such that our
customer service and responsible team can react and
response timely. Customer service team is responsible for
monitoring the whole process and making sure all issues
are properly and promptly resolved. Each complaint case
are re-visited by a separated member for evaluation to
avoid further complaint from customer. Our standard
complaint handling procedures are as follow:

Z
Receive 2 Register
complaint —)— complaint
SRR 7 BB

[/

[/

BRE R R

BRRREEEFPERFANBEESERMEHR
RENKRERBREHS  AUHEMNSE
EREPEF  BMRLTH—m24/ )6
EPRBRG HEPRBEER YKL
THEHAAEREREZTPERF AN
BEPFREFRAMLEE —FTRFANRE
ER YAEFPRBAESR —LHLER
EEREEEE 6T EEARNBERER
& HERETERAAS —ABRASE
TEPED HRAHFBRINZERE B
FEEZRBHF - U TERMEERFZ

AR

Assign
handling staff

ZRAR

[l 2

\\\\\%\\\\‘

ANNNNNNNNNNNN

7 7

Handle 2 Communicate with 2
Complaint ;_4_ customer

P g 7 vy 7

BRERE 2 EFER 2

//////////////////////////

7
Update g Re-visit
record customer
% g EHEF

/////////////////////////A

During the year, we continued to provide training to
raise staff awareness towards customer service. We
standardised our complaint handling and processing
procedure and reviewed the feedback mechanism. We
display our complaint hotline at our front desk, lobby
of each building and our online platform, encouraging
our customer to provide their opinion to us. We demand
100% complaints response rate, resolve complaint cases
(or provide concrete solution) with 4 hour after obtaining
understanding from customer and follow up until no further
complaining. Below is our performance in 2016:
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o Complaint response rate at 100%

° No unresolved complaint case after 4 hours from
successful contact with customer

° Complaint handling satisfaction rate at 100%!

! Complaint handling satisfaction rate indicates whether
further complaint is received from customer.

Quality Assurance

We deliver “Loyal, diligent, professional and
comprehensive” services to our customers and we believe
in the philosophy of “provide quality services, add values
to the property”. In order to provide world-class service
to our customers, we need to ensure the services we
provided are professional, standardised and considerate.
We therefore established clear objectives to our 4 basic
functions:

Customer service

=R

BE - £t MERWRSE

° & & [0 78 £ 100%

. BEERFHEEFEHAETPERRS
AN

. R B 5 M B R 100% (1)

H1: BRFEGREXRRTEFREMAR -
B 1% R
HERE

EMRAEPRHAIEH BE FX &
BINRE  RMABRIREEE  WEE
BINEZEES -RATPREH#-ANEE
ER|ARE  BRABEABRPANREEE
MEBEMAMENE - RPN EEERS
BB D RATHRERBEESR

e Understand customer needs. Resolve problems they encountered.

THMEFRE MREFPBINMEE -

Engineering
IE

e Maintain, repair and upgrade public equipment and facilities.

RE HERARSBOHARE  RiE

e Keep our environment clean and green.
REFALMFTRBFREE  ETHRIEEE -

MFEORLT  RBWF  REREHEHMEBRESMH -

Environment
R
Security
®FEF

e Ensure safety and traffic in order. Quickly handle fires and other emergencies.

To fulfill our commitment to quality service, we defined
clear roles and responsibilities for all staff, established a
series of management system and working mechanism,
educated our staff to build a strong mind-set towards
customer service and enforce on-going improvement.
We defined “Six Clear Principles” to achieve our ultimate
goal of “understanding our customers’ needs, fulfilling
our customers’ needs and excessing our customers’
expectation”.

RETRAEPRH-MMRBMATE - R
REWERE  EEBETREEEST - 1M
THET — R E R EAMTEES
THREBEFEEETINEFPRBEES R
BEFEFTEL THEERBLHNE
FhRGER TEBERINERUNIER
[BREPER WEEPHR BHEP
FERINKEBER -
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Clear Task We assign clear tasks to ensure delivery of our property management
services, including move-in process, record keeping, decoration, facilities
maintenance, safety, environment and hygienic.

BEIEER BMERABENEERBEIEEE EEATER ERERE B RHEE
7 REgEE RLBEERFEFH@E -

Clear Standard We define appropriate standard level for each project to adapt different

needs of different customer type, personalise our one-stop property
management service.

BFEBEE BPARBEWERBEUENTRE  RAZKECHVEEERBEE - W TH
MEBEAENEFFE MEFREEAMELCH - BXYEERRY -
Clear Timeframe We manage our quality through regular internal inspection. Each working

task have their own inspection frequency to deliver stable and consistent
services.

BIEES FTHETARNGAREmEKE  ERMAEEARF-—RBRERENEER
X HMRBEIIIZETHBENREE EHEBFE —BHNRS -

Clear Responsibility We delegate responsibility to each level, project director, customer

service, engineer, environmental and security supervisor have their own
responsibility and accountability.

BEEA HMBERABEMNETAGE SEEEREFEALE SITEEEIHEA
EREE IRIE BREIENMFEE RI[MEL -

Clear Monitoring We perform full inspection to our projects each year, we identify and rectify
problems and deficiencies to maintain excellent service quality.

BEEERE BMEFHEHETEYEERRBETI0% 2 BERDS - KEFAENM
BHNTRE HRBREEENREEFPT R -

Clear Result We take appropriate actions to address the problem we identified through

customer feedback and our regular inspection, to ensure all issues are
properly and promptly resolved.

IS HRETEMKESIRIZTLPRENEE - RS ARREERER - BK
F-REAZZHAEE -

Privacy Protection AEBRE

We formulated privacy protection policy and defined HfIHIE TEEREEE S E kES KE
guidelines to handle customers’ private information. TFEALEER  HMEITIGES D B
In handling customer privacy information, we “set =& - ZEZR%E - @EELARIFRA @ &HE
classification, define security level, keep confidential, FEERERNETEAZEHERE JTFEE
disclose cautiously”. We restrict assess right to our #HEBSFEBEAMNBESN HE2E  ER
customer’s privacy information (such as contact HEIDMSEIEMFTEE  REZFE
information, full name, identity, etc.), to allow only staff EBMZZE cBRIEEFER - MFRATF MU
who need the information to perform their duty. If we need JNIABRBEEN @ BREREFEE I
to provide customer information to third parties, we, unless EREHFFTEEBESBUEREE £ -
required by laws or regulations, must obtain consent A #Eft o

from the customers, our supervisors will also review the

reasonableness and appropriateness when approving

such request.
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We keep training our staff to increase their awareness
to customer privacy, avoid sensitive information leakage
and protect our customer privacy information. During
the Reporting Period, no complaints regarding breach of
privacy or leakage of customers’ data were received.

Health and Safety

To ensure the health and safety of the owners and
tenants, we have put a lot effort to ensure we strictly follow
health and safety related laws and regulations, including
Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Road Traffic Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Measures of Beijing Municipality for Safety Management
and Supervision of Elevators and Regulations on Safety
Supervision Over Special Equipment. We developed a
serial of policies and procedures to prevent disasters from
happening.

We put slogan for fire safety and security to increase the
awareness of owners and tenants. In addition to regular
security patrol, we have installed closed-circuit television
cameras in public areas to enable 24-hour and real-time
monitoring by our security centre. We also implement
access control to restrict salespersons, hawkers and
people who distribute promotional materials from entering
our managing areas.

To ensure safety of drinking water, we engage
independent laboratory to perform annual testing in
accordance with the “standards for drinking water
quality”. The testing inspects 22 important items including
color, turbidity, taste and smell, visible substance, pH
value, total hardness, volatile phenolic compounds,
sulphate, chlorides, nitrate nitrogen, ammonia nitrogen,
nitrite nitrogen, iron, manganese, copper, lead, oxygen
consumption, free residual chlorine, total coliform,
thermoduric coliform, escherichia coli, aerobic plate
count, etc. During the Reporting Period, all of our projects
obtained satisfactory results.

BE - £t MERWRSE
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For fire safety, we conduct daily fire patrol and inspect the
fire equipment monthly. Once a safety risk is identified,
remedial actions must be taken immediately. Maintenance
work that involves the use of flames must obtain our
approval in advance and we will assess the competency of
the workers by inspecting the validity of their license. Our
customer service and security team will visit the site from
time to time during their operation.

For road safety, we register every vehicles when they
enter and leave our parking area. We do not allow vehicles
loaded with flammable, explosive or dangerous items to
enter. We comply with all relevant safety regulations and
requirements to the use of elevator. Our elevator safety
officer is responsible for the safety management in day-to-
day operation. The officer conducts daily inspection and
carriers out repair and maintenance work when necessary.
We have also appointed professional inspection company
to perform annual examination and repair once an issue is
identified.

We have developed 29 contingency plans to address
different kind of disaster. Emergency response teams
(including control centre, action team, order and security
team, equipment protection team, customer assistance
team and quality management dispatch centre, etc.)
will be formulated immediately in accordance with our
contingency plan. They should be properly control and
manage the situation to minimise the loss and damage.
Our response teams have clear duty and responsibility
to ensure our contingency plan carry out smoothly. When
handling the emergency situation, we need our response
teams to communicate smoothly, response quickly, handle
effectively and have clear responsibility. We perform
fire drills and emergency trainings regularly to ensure
all staff have in-depth understanding of our designated
protection procedures and evacuation means. By doing
so we increase our abilities to handle different types
of emergency situations and protect the safety of our
customers and their properties.

To provide further protection to our customers, we
purchased public liability insurance for all projects, which
covers more than 30 common accidents, offering both
preventive and compensating protection to our customers.
It strengthens our ability of preventing and controlling
public security and reduce the risks to acceptable level.

34 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

BATE  BAEESETHAKSE - A

REHARE —BERRLZ2REBEESF L
BHNE - FBEHNNEXASAR KM

RIESPBENERMH FEXABBEAREAR
MEHTE BANEREREEBEERZR R
BMERNANIIEREIRGLRERE -

RBLZERH@E &ﬁﬁmi% HiFE5

ARBRBT  RKEZR - 5E - BRaH
EWR-—REZTFEAEES - B %ﬁ&
FER e E %ﬂWAI%ﬁ@%WK

EBRE RABEMANESRLT 2 E@E'
HERLEZETEERE  BRYEERE
THERE HERRE BFHEER

AHEETRE  RRMAELERE -

RTEE ZEWRERENEAXES
BoRBIHIETORESEAR  —BE®AL
BEAXREEH  RMNEBEBIIEARR
MERRYER/NE(BRES/E  B2RE
BVE - B EEE  REBRENE %
R NERREERBLAZTLE)

ERENBRES T ﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁlﬁﬁ
FET BMHERREEAXEEZTNRE
BHRE  RERE RBREBM  BEEHE-
BPEMETERELERBREXEI

FEERANEBIIFABRABRBRESZN
RNEETELEZRENE BREES

LM CAERBEMEZERE N RERFPAE
CHERE -

BE—ZFSREZPNMZ BRMASHME

EHHBEAREARE  RES®HE®IEI0

BREFENEINEH HMFEERL
AT #E - KW ENER  MRRMENR
MEHIARE2BBME N #E—PRE
EleER EXEE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Supply Chain Management

GR Properties actively seek for business partners and
suppliers who share common sustainability vision with
us. We expect our business partners and suppliers to
operate with integrity, treating their employees fairly and
complying with all applicable laws and regulations. We
have more than 50 active suppliers providing different
services include security, cleaning, heat supply, elevator
maintenance, security, decoration, pipeline maintenance,
etc. We try our best to use local products and services
as many as possible to reduce the carbon emissions from
transportation. More than 90% of our suppliers are local
suppliers.

We maintain long-term, mutually beneficial relationship
with our business partners and we expect excellent
sustainability performance, as well as high quality
products and services from suppliers. We have
established a highly transparent and prudent supplier
assessment and selection procedure and published
procurement information on our official website to openly
invite qualify suppliers to participate in our tendering.
We assess our suppliers and perform site visits to verify
their product and service quality. We ask at least five
qualified suppliers to participate in each tendering
and formulate tendering committee, with members
from procurement department, operation department,
engineering department and project director. We perform
tender opening and evaluation at the same time and
assess tenders immediately to avoid misconduct and
ensure fairness during the whole tendering process. We
have a probation period of 1-2 month to successful tender
to monitor and assess their service quality and efficiency
before confirming further cooperation.

We maintain a “Qualified Supplier List”, by evaluating
monthly their product and service quality. Only those with
satisfactory performance could remain in our “Qualified
Supplier List”, participate in our tendering process and
develop long term relationship with us. For those suppliers
with unacceptable performance, violating our contract
terms or integrity agreement, we will remove them from
our “Qualified Supplier List” and prohibit them from
tendering by putting them into “Prohibited Supplier List”.
We also source new suppliers in the market each year and
compare them with our existing suppliers to ensure our
suppliers provide high quality goods and services.
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VALUE OUR PEOPLE

As a service provider, human resource is the most
valuable asset to us. Recruiting and retaining talent with
strong affinity and professional knowledge are critical
to maintain our service of high quality level. We offer
an ideal career development platform to our employees
with highly competitive salary package, various training
resources, as well as healthy and safe work environment.
We treat our employees like family members and respect
their views and opinions. We have open and transparent
communication channel, listen to their voice humbly. We
offer equal and non-discriminating opportunities to all staff
and take necessary steps to improve staff accommodation
and food quality, striving to become the best employer.

Employee Overview

As at 31 December 2016, we have a total of 347
employees in Hong Kong, Mainland China and the United
States. Most of our male staff was in engineering related
roles while most of our female staff was in customer
service and supporting roles.
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BMRRBELE BIRKMKREEN
BE WolYBREBBARMOAEZEERYE
MAS HUEFEMSRENRBEERE
2 -HMREIBEZEENBRERTS
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ANe IRRHMUABHEETIHZE Bk MiE
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Total workforce by gender

BENSITEREE
Year 2014 Year 2015 Year 2016
20144 20154 20164

BEMale % Female % EMale % Female % EMale % Female %
F% Z% F% Z% 5% %
Total workforce by age group
RERBRAPMERERN
60%
40% 35% 37%39 %
20% 20% 18% , 40, 21% 479, 18% I / 20%21%%
V/ / / . / 5% 7% 8%
0% % A - v/
Below age 25 Age 26-29 Age 30-39 Age 40-49 Above age 50
25BR AT 26-295% 30-395% 40-495% 5057 A £
m 2014 2015 72016
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Total workforce by geographical region

Bt ES{ER S
Year 2014 Year 2015 Year 2016
20144 20154 20164
2% —— 3% —— 1%

mPRC HK 7 USA MPRC HK 27 USA mPRC HK 7 USA
FE BB XE B BB XE FE BB XE

Total workforce by employment type

2016 FRERFEINERER
100%
80% 82%
60%
40%
20% 16%
0% _ 1% I
Management Frontline Supporting
EIRE EZ N ZEAE

Employee turnover rate by gender

EBENSITRIRRE
Year 2014 Year 2015 Year 2016
20144 20155 20164
34%—\ 34%—\ 33%—\
Total 219 Total 184 Total 173

219A 184 A 173 A

66% 66% 67%

BEMale % Female % BEMale % Female % EMale % Female %
E% 2% E% 2% E% 2%
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Employee turnover rate by age group

BRERBESMBIRXE
35%37%%g?
20% 18% 4o 21% 179 17% / 20%21%21%
Below age 25 Age 26-29 Age 30-39 Age 40-49 Above age 50
25T 26-295% 30-395% 40-495% 5057 £
2014 2015 72016
Employee Protection REET

We comply with all applicable local labour law and
regulations in each of our business locations, including
those relevant to employment contract, social securities or
staff insurance, as well as prevention against child labour
and forced labour.

Through the transparent and interactive communication
channels, our employees can provide feedback or lodge
complaint to high level management regarding injustice
or unfair treatment (including their appraisal result or
evaluation of their work). Employee complaints are
collected and reviewed by headquarters, appropriate
actions or investigation will be made on case-by-case
basis. We do not tolerate any types of harassment
or discrimination in our workplace. Employees are
encouraged to report to headquarters via our complaint
hotline. During the Reporting Period, we did not receive
any complaints about discrimination or workplace
harassment.

Recruitment and Retention

Attracting and retaining our talents is always critical factor
to sustain our business growth. Every year, we refill our
talent pool through professional recruitment website,
campus recruitment and regional large-scale job fair.
We adopt “Competency First” as our recruitment policy.
Abilities, qualifications and affinity are the major factors we
concern while other factors such as age, gender, race and
nationality will not be included in our assessment criteria.
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Out management approach to employees at
different stages of the employment cycle

Employee status
8 TiR&

New staff

environment and our culture.
BT

Our task
EE I

Provide systematic training to help them familiarise to the new working

BTHBITRGESE BB PIBANSN THEREREQRL -

BE - £t MERWRSE

HFHETIRZSRBRMNEEIE

Ordinary staff
and bring their career forward.

ERET RENAHERSE

Provide internal referrals and promotion opportunity, encourage staff mobility

ERMBE  RARBMN  HMEIHREME -

Outstanding staff
packages.
BHBT

Reward outstanding talents through promotion and better remuneration

RESAKE  XEFMSETE TUET -

Resigned employees
best to retain talents.

RHEBEBRET

Communicate and understand the reasons behind the resignation and try our

ETRREBNS  BRERBRE ZHARBEFAS -

Training and development

To enhance our staff quality and transform our talent
into our business advantage, we provide comprehensive
training programmes to our staff so that they can cope
with different kinds of challenges at work. We facilitate
our staff development through constant improvement
to our training and development programmes, regularly
review and improve our training materials. In addition to
our in-house training, we provide our staff with external
courses, outreach trainings, seminars and invite external
speakers to share with us the latest market update. We
also encourage our staff to pursue external academic or
professional qualifications.

During the Reporting Period, we provided more than
12,400 hours of internal training to our employees. We offer
different types of training programs to satisfy needs at
different level and types of employee, including orientation
training, financial/customer service/security/engineering
skill training, emergency and fire safety training, equipment
maintenance training, regulatory and compliance training,
leadership and management skills training as well as team
building activities.

EIRERE
RRABIXREYBASTEZBLREHE
B ZMA/ETRHEZEMEFIIRE N
BRETHREMNEMAIIELTRMOKE -
HMPEETHcEE THRINTRERE
Z o oEHRSEAEREHEYRHHET
BR -BABEIN RATEERET
e LN BRI DI GRAR ~ SNRIF I - 5B EE R
A EINARETEE  NEE TER
HEMEXRER °

Boo16F & - A B TIREHB B 12,400
INEF R EREE I o ST N E T /E AR B F14E B
MEBT  HMRERETENEIEE 81
ABEESN B 5 Bl 2R/ TRMEA
Bl =BREGHAREHELEZEEREI-F
MEEEEREI VEEREI - BEN
HMEBRE NEI - ZOEBREXRFNE -
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BE - g MEARS

Average training hours completed per employee
by gender and employee category
R B FER B S 50 R T 19 1% Al 65 8

60
50
40
30
20
10
0
Male Female New staff Ordinary staff
BT TWET

Workplace Safety

We commit to minimise the occupational risk and
continuously improve the safety measures to secure a
safety and healthy working environment. Every of our
projects has appointed a safety officer and the head of
engineering department is responsible for safety of our
frontline workers. Through routine safety inspections, we
ensure safety measures are in place, protective equipment
is used correctly and safety procedures are indeed
implemented. Tasks with high risk or require professional
skill (such as tasks related to high-voltage electricity)
are outsourced to professional and competent service
providers. On-site workers are required wear protective
equipment and safety reflective jacket. We will provide
equipment to staff to prevent cold or heat stroke according
to different weather conditions.

Work-related injury and fatalities

Number of work-related fatalities
EIEBEMIETH AR

Rate of work-related fatalities
HItERAEMIL T L X

Lost days due to work injury
(excluding leave due to trivial iliness)

RTBEAXTHERB(IBEIFTE L —

A R)

2014 2015 2016
201445 20154 2016 F
Nil Nil

37
28
12
Englneenng Middle to senior Average
management  management 15
TIRRERAE HEREEAS
BIzZ

BMBHNEKEIEIELTEZEHOE
RRERE BB THTELE2EEGE -
ﬁ%ﬁﬁla EREMBRENTIERE -
BHMEEEEHRELEZEEA ITRSE
BHRSAEERTIRABR2 - HMAB
PIITRESFER  BREZE2REREREE
BELE  Z2REALHEER Z2EF
BHREHNT Z2RBNEXEBERES
WIEPIMESBEENAEBIE &M
SHHEEE SERMNITERAET
TRERABNEEEHERE FZ£4
RERXGH IR -REFHOEH &

Mren8TRHEHE -HHPI2EE -

THEEHHER

Nil

(N oA oA
0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
0 day 0 day 0 day
0X 0X 0X
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Work Life Balance

We pay attention to both physical and mental health of our
employees. We offer annual health check and purchase
employee accident insurance to provide protection and
support. We also help our employees to achieve work-
life balance. We, in addition to the annual leave, marriage
leave, maternity leave provided, we invest in staff
facilities, staff quarters and provide entertainment (such
as computer, TV, etc.) in the staff lounge. We also hold
birthday parties, festival celebration, outdoor company
activities and visit frontline staff. We hope to keep our
employees in best shape to face their challenges of work.
We review regularly our employee benefits and satisfaction
and seek for different ways to enhance our support.

TREASURE OUR RESOURCES

We value and treasure our environment and our scattered
natural resources. We emphasise the importance
of resource saving and reduction of pollution. We
actively promote green management, implement green
procurement, participate in various environmental
activities and promote green life, such that we can
contribute to environmental and resource sustainability.
We have implemented the following policies to reduce
emissions and increase efficiency of resource usage:

BE - £t MERWRSE

THEBEEFFE
FMEREINILERE BFAE8IIR
HEEFERE TAEIBEEIINEE
R - IEEETIHNRENZE - BT B
ETHEITEHEAEZHIGSFESE KK
REFR - -BR  E£EBRE®AIN - IREN
THEIRBEORE BUYURXREEEME
IHEE UEEEXRERELR (KBS
BERE) BRAAT HHEEMREY A
BAGETRMES FIFREDHE
EETITAEIEFZH#EMBESTENFEE - MU
MR LIBETELEAKSE - RMIE
HRAgEIRMNERERE KAUSHT
ArFAMEEETHNIF -

BMZEAENEEMERARE KRR
FIETNZHNERERARER  Et®RMEA
HERNREMBREELENME ARIKH
R BEBEREBREERE  SERE -
SEEBREFRETPNERSESLE
HPFERERENERNATSELE &
MRREERMEXRNBER  HMFTZ
TIATEE :

Category Policy
El BUSR

Green management o
FEER o

BRFE

caused by damage;

f& 1 fE

& B

Provide training for employees to raise their awareness;
REIRHERREBEY)  EERAHREREFTENHT

e Achieve waste reduction and effective use of energy and water
resources by encouraging behavioral change;

s TEBBANETARBEEINRSERZVEESE RZEFAERMK

e Regularly inspect and repair equipment to reduce the waste

s TEHIMEMBEHGKRE VERREMLE

e Establish plans and guidelines for energy and water saving; and
o HIRTEF A BE R AN &7 49 A /K 89 51 & B2 45 5]
e Review the efficiency of resources usage and our performance in

environmental protection.
e HERBTEE RAARAEBRABROUEMERFRE TE

B R R BEZER
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BIE -Hteglkenms

Category Policy
il B R

Green equipment e |nstall regional lighting control, such as voice or infrared sensor,
e to turn off unnecessary lighting automatically;

o RHMEEENIEN H SIABIEHAIMRRERLS  BEFELEN
& 7

e upgrade lighting system and use high efficiency LED lamps;

s REAEBAFRGITHR TESRBRUFEHLEDE A

e Install rainwater recycling system; and

s MEMKEKERR

e Upgrade to non-negative pressure fresh water supply system to
save energy.
o NEEBEME R BIKKHERSR

Environmental awareness e Install sub-meter and implement “user / polluter-pays” policy to
RIREH encourage water and electricity savings; and

e TRKEHNK BEIANSHEENIOER REFERAEAPK
WMER  SEED

e Display tips, warm reminder and guidelines in the public area to
promote environmental protection awareness.

e RAHMFEHRT SBHBFTABERMEL M LA KA
HE R BE B AT 1T 46 5l

Result Sharing
BRDE

We purchase at least national level Il energy efficient equipment in order to reduce energy
consumption since 1st January 2016.

B2016F1A1HE  REIERER BHMEMFEFRIFTRERBHRABR — REHE
R -

Install heat re-cycling system in the “Fortune Street” and “North Garden” projects, upgrading our
boiler to reduce emission of exhaust gas and greenhouse gas.
EFmERILIEEBETRYIRERADKELS  BBYRE RGO RBUGE - FH BRI RR
=REBABE -

Upgrade to non-negative-pressure water supply system to save energy in the “Ego Act Living”
project

HitR ZBERETERBRIOKEERRARETICE - RIERER -

P
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Comply to Environmental Laws and Regulations

We comply with all environmental law and regulations
in each of our business locations including laws and
regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste that have a
significant impact on us. We continuously educate our staff
to ensure strictly follow all relevant laws and regulations
and avoid damaging the natural environment. We try our
best to achieve an environmental protection performance
which is higher than regulation requirement in order to
minimise the impact to the environment. In 2016, we
did not receive any complaint or charge in relation to
environmental laws and regulations.

Emissions

Our main emissions are living garbage and exhaust gas
(greenhouse gases and air pollutants such as nitrogen
oxides, sulfur dioxide and particles), which comes from
using of mobile vehicles, air conditioning and heat supply
to residents. Our business also brings indirect emissions
of greenhouse gas from our use of electricity. We actively
optimise our operation to increase the efficient of energy
and water usage and reduce emissions.

BE - £t MERWRSE

REREBFRAERM

TAPTBR A% 38 < & E PR M BV IR R AR o (R
Bl BREERBEREBHENR - RKR
TiEE AEREEEREVNELRR
MBRMELEEAZENRN - RAFE
REMABT  EBEEBRIGRERME
ARBRREN  TAGEERIZEAAR
BogATHERT RMAZFHEDLLMA
MZRBRESNRREDER  BLR
MEBRRETREE - RARS W ER
Hl - RAX 2B RBEMAEBERRRE
Bl R ar sz s -

BB
BMUXBEENETEZHBY R LR FM
BER(BEAERBLEASALY  —&/IR
REREZER)SRY)  BRFEMKETE
PR ZREBEBA R BEFPHEBRERX
RARFTEENER - M&EMERENDEIR
EEREENAEREBHN - HMABEBE
EBEMNEEEN - hREARERER
MAKER REFAERDER - LB
FHRERBHREREFTKNEE -

Living garbage

4 E B AR

(Tonnes)

NP

Total 1,872
FEE=; 1,872
Intensity? (per household) 0.239
BE(i2) (FF) 0.239

2 Intensity is calculated as the total emission divided by 2 BEHERBHEREBRIUAQTETIE

the average household. In 2016, the average number of
household is 7,848.

EMFRFEHEFE AFENEHER
H AH7,848F o
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B e R E AR

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (Scope 1&2)*

AERBRNE(BE1REE2)(F3)

Z
5 g_ 3’5: 25,000
B O 20,000
EQE
w5 g 15,000
0= ~
T O % 10,000
OB
C mm 5,000
5=
= 0
Total Scope 1 Scope 2
HEHER #HEN #HE2
3 Prepared in accordance with the Guideline to Account for 773 RBEEETEE RRERREZH (S
and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emission and Removal for BREYNEERBERERRROZHE
Buildings in Hong Kong (2010 Edition) Published by the ML) (2010F b)) - BIEEHE (E
Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical BERAEREEN) EE2 (FAEREE
and Mechanical Services Department. Covering scope 1 SIBMBREREBYR  WEHFMESR) -
(direct greenhouse gas emission) and scope 2 (Energy FSHNERERTRE  KREBERLLEH
indirect emissions). We did not include the emission BRI o
related to use of refrigerants due to lack of information.
Distribution of greenhouse gas emissions*
BEREHEBRESH(T4)
Electricity
BN
43.4%\
Stationary fuel
& 7 R
0,
Mobile Fuel °6.5%
BAME
<1%
4 The total emission equivalent to approximately 22,400 4 : #EERERE RN 422,400AMECO; °

tonnes of Carbon Dioxide.
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Use of Resources

Our business consumes water, electricity and natural gas
to provide lighting, water supply, heat supply, elevators
and escalators to our customers. We tried our best to
adopt latest technology and equipment to optimise our
energy and resources saving. We require our project
managers to submit energy saving plan each year to
enhance our control towards energy saving. We also
incorporated energy saving and emission reduction as our
regular appraisal KPI.

BE - £t MERWRSE

BERER

BPNEBEREANRRERR/K B
ARRAR - EEEZANEH - 4K - HiK
ARER KRFERMESE - RAAEABE
158 1 & B 59l A0 3R 4 A B 11 T P9 B0 £ BE AR
RBATEXREEARBRLESFRER
BIRE T &= - N & 0 2 7 12 il gE JR O #E
LEeE R ERBTHEEHREHRER -

Energy | Natural Gas Electricity Water

BE R 48 A0 AARR HE Ak

(MV) (M) (kWh) (M?)

(KEH) (ZFHK) | (FH k) (75 K)

Total 277,922,000 6,538,000 9,263,600 134,000
BwE 277,922,000 6,538,000 9,263,600 134,000
Intensity® (per sq. meter) 362.35 8.52 12.08 0.17
BE(i25) (&#-FFHK) 362.35 8.52 12.08 0.17
Intensity® (per household) 35,413.04 833.10 1,180.33 17.07
BE(i76)(EF) 35,413.04 833.10 1,180.33 17.07
5 Intensity is calculated as the total emission divided by #5° ZBEFMEREFRERARQFETIA

the total chargeable area of our projects, in 2016 the total
chargeable area is approximately 767 thousand square
meters.

6 Intensity is calculated as the total emission divided by
the average household. In 2016, the average number of
household is 7,848.

BR@amEERRERE  AFENAY
XWREHMBEORTCTET K -

6 BENERAHERERARNRFETEA
BNFERTFHERPE  AFEMFHERP

HAR7,848F ©
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BIE -Hteglkenms

Our major energy and water saving initiatives is as follow: LTRHEMEENEHET N
. Lighting . Water supply 3. Heat Supply 4. Elevators and
. BHA . fitk 3. g escalators
e |Install regional e |Install water level e Recycle heat for e  Group control
lighting control, controller, variable heat supply and elevator system
such as voice or speed pump and upgrade boiler e automate stand-by
infrared sensor, to multiple speed e |nstall automated mode during non-
turn off unnecessary pump temperature control peak hours
lighting e Upgrade to non-
automatically negative-pressure
e Upgrade lighting water supply
system and use system
high efficiency LED | e Install automatic
lamps faucet, adjust

flushing water to
appropriate amount
of water

e Collect rain water
for irrigation

e RAMBEBIEE o MEKMUIEBE 2| HRACWRLS HIE o KRBERHEZRR

(InEFEZEHE - 4& Rk REBE Tt 4 ik o HEHEILKER HKF
R ARREARHA E OEMZHBAR o RKAHREEHEAR BB B BEAERE
JERS B CIERR) | MEERAEBKR B FE £ o iR RE

o BILENHMREIE | AHRFLERARFARAE
FHREARE  Ho B BEEREKER

HA B IRE A Bk BHEEE
% A& BE MLEDYE IR KE
o WEMKEEBRME
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Avoid, Reduce, Reuse, Recycle

We adopt “1A3R” (Avoid, Reduce, Reuse, Recycle)
principle in managing waste. We encourage our customer
to reuse pots by providing small green plants for their
adoption. We install recycling bin in public areas,
encourage owners and talent to separate their waste
before disposal. We collect and transfer the recycled
waste to proper collector/recycler to make good use of the
waste.

Green Procurement

We give higher priority to environmental friendly suppliers
and also give higher priority to products with higher
energy efficiency. In order to protect our environment and
save our cost at the same time. We try our best to use local
products and services as many as possible to reduce the
carbon emissions from transportation. More than 90% of
our suppliers are local suppliers.

We select equipment with energy label indicated as high
efficient (at least grade 2). In 2016, we installed heat re-
cycling system in the “Fortune Street” and “North Garden”
projects, upgrading our boiler to reduce emission of
exhaust gas and greenhouse gas.

HARMONISE OUR COMMUNITY
Anti-corruption

Integrity is our first priority, we require all of our staffs,
customers, suppliers and business partners to strictly
abide all relevant laws and regulations including criminal
law, tendering and bidding law, contract law, etc. In 2016,
we did not receive any complaint or charge to us or our
employee in corruption.

We established code of conduct and distributed to all
staff, we communicate our requirement towards integrity
and ethic during orientation training, we remind those
requirements to our existing staffs from time to time during
our daily operations and training. Integrity and ethic also
included as an important element in our annual appraisal
and we have zero tolerant to violation to integrity and
ethical requirements.

B - g LEAWRE

B B2 -ER - -BK
BMEAMASRINEZWEERA - &1
7= ] % i % (Avoid)sk ik A (Reduce)®! i g
Y mHFBAYE - S KER(Reuse)f[E
W(Recycle)W Al 771% - BB ER2EH
MA - RBENARTEFESE - BMESE
HEMAEMFHEREN RS EERRD
Wi BEEEIRALPEED Y EL B
BRBE KMBERELKEERILS -
RREENE=ZFTHRBSENT AL EE
HEEBIR o

BRERE

BMERBIESELEEEIFRRAN
HEBEIE TELAZERBSERYA
Em - ERERREEERRF LSRR
ERAWIEER - ERITTHBERT  HAGE
EQERAMOERNRYE BRI EHB
TR RIS R - AR E0% R
A e e

BPRBORSRBOREAEMEH LED

AR EN MR Y E - AR
2016 F EMB M mae - LEEBR MHRIE

iﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁzLI&M/ﬁkd BERARERE
IR -

it [ #05E

RES

HHnE-—ALRERAERR  ERAR
BET &P  HEBEURAMAEBER

BEST(REAARLMBANE) - (PEAR
HMBEBEEZEVICPEARKLME AR
FEVERBERERMBRE - R2016FE -
WEEAEEAEEIEBETE S ZHFA
= o

BMEEIET B TERITAENLIRETAT
EET HZMeEHE T ABEIEREET
ENBELIHEMARHEIHNEMERTE
MERK  NEeRBEEIEMEIIPFIEER
EET HEMEBRIEABEIEZEXNE
Hh— MEEEE HRERBEMEEE
KHWEBT RASEBEE BTG -

B

Y
;

=

]]]E
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w
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BE - w2 MERWRE

When we invite our supply for tendering, we will include
an “Integrity Commitment” as appendix to our invitation,
communicate our requirement towards integrity. All tender
participant must agree to comply before submitting their
tender. According to the Integrity Commitment, we will
immediately terminate their contract and report to relevant
authority once we have found any corruption incidents (such
as providing or receiving bribes) or other misconducts.

We established conflict of interest disclosure policy and
whistle blowing policy that we require all employees to
report their conflict of interest, and we encourage them to
report any fraud or misconduct they have noticed to our
Audit Committee.

Community Investment

We are closely related to our community, interaction with
the community is part of our work, we educate our staff
to provide support to our community, neighbourhoods
and wherever we can offer our help. We focus our
contribution to 3 main areas: health, charitable activities
and environmental protection education.

In 2016, a family member of the employee of our
outsourced service provider was suffering from acute
leukemia, results in financial difficulty and unaffordable
medical expenses. Our project team take immediate action
and organise donation to help the family.
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Green procurement
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EIEA31 DREBEBEENTE - HRERE
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(a) LR M LSRR RN
L) BTFTHETABEAXZENHBEEZLRAINE
£ o
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AN |(RERER EREGERBEHSNESSEH - |[BIER 36-37
FE1EB1.A1
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and | Employee overview 37-38
geographical region. Most of our employee,
and area employee
turnover located in PRC
BREN |[RERAENRMRIASNEERELE - BIHR 37-38
$E1EB1.2 BFREBHEIEPRS
BARE - Atk KEBHES
R S R B K BE
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TEHERE EH —REBERBEXEER - 4: 1 H#¥
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[BEB2: EEHELE
General Information on: Workplace safety 40
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and We fully comply with
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations |relevant laws and
that have a significant impact on the issuer regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
—RRE |[FERHZ2IEREAMREEERELBENLEE BRILSE 40
B BT ETREHEET
(@) BE® : & RERTHEBNERR
L) ETFHETABERTENHBEZLARONE | RO
H e
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Workplace safety 40
No work-related fatalities
during 2016
BREM |(AIEFBMEMMBETHABKLLL X - BIz2 40
5 1EB2.1 R-ZB—RFUEEER
TEBERSBILTH SN
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Workplace safety 40
No work-related injury
during 2016
MgEm | EILEGBRXIEBRH - BIzz 40
g 1EB2.2 R-ZTB-RFUWEEER
ITHEEATIERBNEMN
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Workplace safety 40
measures adopted, how they are implemented and
monitored.
BREN |(HOAMKANBRERRET2RER UAREENT BRILSE 40
E1EB23 | RERFE -
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Aspect B3: Development and Training
EmB3 : #&E KIF

Chapter/Comment
- 4: 8 1

Page
B

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and | Training and 39-40
Disclosure |skills for discharging duties at work. Description of | development
training activities.
—REE |FHERAEEBRITIIEBRENMIENRENEBR - |[BIIRER 39-40
M FIES -
KPI A3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender | Training and 39-40
and employee category (e.g. senior management, |development
middle management).
AREN |[RUIREEEN(NESREERE HREBES) |BIIRERE 39-40
BIEAST | EIoWXIEEB DL ©
KPI A83.2 The average training hours completed per Training and 39-40
employee by gender and employee category. development
BREM |(RUEBNKEERFE Y  SRESETKIIN T | BHIRER 39-40
JEIZA3.2  |BEH -
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EEB4 : & T A8
General Information on: We comply with all N/A
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and relevant laws and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations |regulations relating to
that have a significant impact on the issuer preventing child and
relating to preventing child and forced labour. forced labour.
—MEE |FEMLEIS®RGES T : AEEVEZFRNBER| TER
(@) E & NEERERBBADILE
L) EBFHBETABEATENHBEZLRROINE | Tkoatlss TeEEeE
Ko A - RAIRROZEEH -
KPI A4.1 Description of measures to review employment We review our human N/A
practices to avoid child and forced labour. resource practices
annually to ensure
compliance with relevant
laws and regulations
relating to preventing
child and forced labour.
FREN |(HURTREEBNBEEUARAETIRANLST - | AEEEFFRIANER|TNER
FE1EA4A BENBER2EE (R

BIEPDEEMERET
Ko o8 il 85 T &9 {6 Bl -
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Chapter/Comment
- 4: 1

KPI A4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Once discovered child | N/A
practices when discovered. and forced labour, we
will establish response
team to protect the
victim, take discipline
action and inform local
welfare department to
ensure proper follow up.
BREN |(HAEERERBAREREABEAMERNLSRE - | RMSERRERETIN|TER
E1EA4.2 BHBIRVEKYER
BRIB/NE  REBEHET
g ST A AHE
I/HEm  URBHNE
At &8N EBPT - HELR
RERREZEMETE -
Operating Practices
= EE P
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[BEBS5 : fEHEE IR
General Policies on managing environmental and social Supply Chain 35
Disclosure |risks of the supply chain. Management
—RE |BEEHEEAOREREEREARBR HEEER 35
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain 35
Management
Over 90% of our supplier
are local supplier
BREN |(RmRISNEEREE - ey g IR 35
5 1£B5.1 B HEEBERIO0%R
AN 3, it & 7
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain 35
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices | Management
are being implemented, how they are implemented
and monitored.
BsEN |(HAEHAEREERNEN mERTERENN | HEREIE 35
E1EB52 |HERMEE URBBAEINNRTRERERZE -
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6: EmEE

Chapter/Comment
- 4: 8 1

Page
B

General Information on: Quality assurance 31-34
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and Privacy protection
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations |Health and safety
that have a significant impact on the issuer We have complied with
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling |all relevant laws and
and privacy matters relating to products and regulations
services provided and methods of redress.
—REE |FUEMRHERNRBNREREELZE BES RE|EERIF 31-34
RILEBEEARBRG AN - LRI
(a) K & fEEET 2
L) BTFTHETAREAZENHBZEZRRINE | BHMESEFTHERREER
ko 2 EBE BRERMEF
EEBREERRG -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped We do not produce N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. products
BREN | EEXACELERLHTEAZ>EREREAMALD | NER  HMLEHEE|TEMS
EEB6.1 (BB BESE - =
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Complaint handling 30
complaints received and how they are dealt with.
BREN |EEERERMRBNRFBEEUREHTE - |RERSF 30
15 15B6.2
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and | Our business does N/A
protecting intellectual property rights. not involve intellectual
property rights.
BREN |(HOEgERRENBEESANED - TER  BMEBLES | TEA
15 1%B6.3 Ko G B E HE
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and We do not produce N/A
recall procedures. products
BREN HUESRTBEMEROKRER - TER  BMVRBHEE | TEMA
¥ 1%B6.4 oa
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Privacy protection 32-33
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.
7 52 45 3 A BEEERRERLBERE - WREERTR LEBRE 32-33
E1EB6.S | EERGE o
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TEHE EEH - REBERBERBXEER - 4: 1 BH
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7: RAS
General Information on: Anti-corruption 47-48
Disclosure |(a)the policies; and We comply with all
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations |relevant laws and
that have a significant impact on the issuer regulations relating to
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money bribery, extortion, fraud
laundering. and money laundering
—REE |ARAMLER ¥R HFOLERER R&B 47-48
(@) %K : & BB BERBNIEH
L) EFHBETABEATENHBEZZERRINE | B R RFLEEE
Ko MR EE KRB
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding No concluded legal N/A
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its |cases regarding corrupt
employees during the reporting period and the practices brought
outcomes of the cases. against us or our
employees in 2016
BREN |[ROEHAEETASKERERETYEEENET RRSHRN  YEZEEE | TER
#EEB71 | SFRAARUOEE RFAER - EAEESHETHEGZ
RANEM o
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption 47-48
blowing procedures, how they are implemented
and monitored.
BREN |(HAMSREREBERET  UREBARTRERS | RES 47-48
E1ZB7.2 K -
Aspect B8: Community Investment
[EHEB8: Ht@&KE
General Policies on community engagement to understand | Community Investment |48
Disclosure |the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.
— R Eﬁmﬂil?j/,\ﬂ?makﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ EMERE HEIRE 48
¥R EHgERLRANGEHEIE
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community Investment |48
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport).
BRENR |FIERER(HE REFHEH SLIFX - HERE 48
1B |E Xk -8BF) -
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the |Not disclose this year N/A
focus area.
BREN | EZISBMBAER(NSEIERE) - REEETEEABEER | TEMA
5 1EB8.2
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wei Chunxian, aged 53, was appointed as an
executive director and the Chairman of the Company on
17 February 2014. He also acts as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Wei is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely
Rui Cheng Investment Company Limited, Rui Shing
Investment Company Limited, Rui Hua Investment Limited
and Rui Shen Investment Limited (each a Hong Kong
subsidiary of the Company), GR USA Holdings Limited, GR
UK Holdings Limited and GR Properties UK Limited (each
a British Virgin Islands subsidiary of the Company), GR
Properties USA Inc. (a USA subsidiary of the Company).
In addition, he is also the President of GR Properties USA
Inc. and East Pacific Properties LLC (each a US subsidiary
of the Company).

Mr. Wei graduated from the Department of Architecture,
Beijing University of Civil Engineering and Architecture (1t
RELTIRER) in 1985 and was conferred a Bachelor
of Engineering degree in architecture. Thereafter, Mr. Wei
obtained the senior engineer qualification in 1995. Mr. Wei
has more than 10 years of management experience in the
real estate sector, and is currently a director of Beijing
Guorui Holdings Company Limited* (1t 7 B8 $ % A% B R &
&]) who is primarily responsible for its product planning
and market strategies. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Wei
did not hold in the past three years any directorship in
other public companies the securities of which are listed
on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Wei is a director and the beneficial owner of Wintime
Company Limited (“Wintime”), the controlling shareholder
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”)) of the Company. As at the date of this
report, Wintime held 492,814,591 shares in the Company,
representing approximately 54.91% interest in the issued
share capital of the Company. Wintime is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Winluck Global Limited. The entire issued
share capital of Winluck Global Limited is beneficially
owned by Mr. Wei. As such, Mr. Wei was deemed to be
interested in the said 492,814,591 shares in the Company
under Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Wei does not have any
relationship with any other directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the
Company within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

*

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES
& 3l
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Properties UK Limited (5 & A& RQ 7] 7 % &
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it S - 8 % & 77 AGR Properties USA Inc.
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4 B E - Wintime$§F £ 492,814,591 I8 X A 7]
g HMERARARE BT AL54.91%
# 25 ° Wintime&Winluck Global Limited 2
2 &M B Q") » Winluck Global Limitedz
EWHEBITRABMLEETEES - AL -
BRIBC(EF R B EROIDEXVI - 385 £
B A 492,814,591 B AR 2 B B 17 7B
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Mr. Sun Zhongmin, aged 50, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 17 February 2014.

Mr. Sun has been involved in the real estate sector since
1992. He has been engaged in preliminary work of real
estate projects and is conversant with the procedures for
various formalities and the relevant requirements. Mr. Sun
is currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings Company
Limited* (db = B 8% % I8 & BR 2 7). Save as disclosed
herein, Mr. Sun did not hold in the past three years any
directorship in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Sun is the beneficial owner of 47,510,510 shares in the
Company, representing approximately 5.29% interest in
the issued share capital of the Company.

Mr. Sun does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Ms. Liu Shuhua, aged 40, was appointed as an executive
director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company
on 17 February 2014. Ms. Liu is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Company, namely Rui Cheng
Investment Company Limited, Rui Shing Investment
Company Limited, Rui Hua Investment Limited and Rui
Shen Investment Limited (each a Hong Kong subsidiary of
the Company), GR USA Holdings Limited, GR UK Holdings
Limited and GR Properties UK Limited (each a British
Virgin Islands subsidiary of the Company), GR Properties
USA Inc. (a USA subsidiary of the Company).

*
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Ms. Liu graduated from the Central University of Finance
and Economics (FF 28 Bf 48 KX £) in 1998 and was conferred
a Bachelor of Economics degree in accountancy.
Thereafter, Ms. Liu obtained the intermediate accountant
qualification in 2004. Ms. Liu has been engaged in
financial field for more than 10 years, including financial
management work in real estate development enterprises.
She is currently a director of Beijing Guorui Holdings
Company Limited* (dt = B &% = g B R & 7]). Save as
disclosed herein, Ms. Liu did not hold in the past three
years any directorship in other public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas.

Ms. Liu does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric, aged 46, was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 17 February 2014. He also acts as the Chairman of the
Audit Committee and a member of each of the Company’s
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Tung graduated from York University, Toronto, Canada
with a bachelor’'s honours degree in administrative
studies. Being an experienced Hong Kong certified
public accountant and a U.S. certified public accountant
(practising), he has gathered many years of experience in
the financial and capital markets. Mr. Tung is the assistant
president and general manager of the finance department
of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
392), an executive director, the chief financial officer
and company secretary of Beijing Enterprises Water
Group Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 371), an independent
non-executive director of South China Financial Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 619), as well as the company
secretary of Biosino Bio-Technology and Science
Incorporation (a company listed on the Growth Enterprise
Market of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 8247). Save
as disclosed herein, Mr. Tung did not hold in the past
three years any directorship in other public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas.
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Mr. Tung does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Guan Zheng Michael, aged 42, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company
on 19 October 2016. He also acts as the Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of
the Company. Mr. Guan has over 15 years of extensive
experience in capital markets, cross-border mergers and
acquisitions and private equity investments in China and
Europe. Mr. Guan was most recently a Managing Director,
Corporate Finance at Edmond de Rothschild Securities
(UK) Limited in London. Mr. Guan obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from The University of
Oxford in 2001.

Mr. Guan did not hold in the past three years any
directorship in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Guan does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Chui Tsan Kit, aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on
17 February 2015. He also acts as a member of each of
the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the
Company. Mr. Chui has extensive experience in financial
services. He was an honourary assistant professor of the
Department of Computer Science, Faculty of Engineering
at the University of Hong Kong and an adjunct associate
professor of the Department of Marketing, Faculty of
Business Administration at the Chinese University of
Hong Kong. He is currently a TV host and a radio host on
business and finance-related programmes. Moreover, he
is an author of various financial books, and a columnist for
various newspapers and financial magazines.
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Mr. Chui's past working experience included being the
chief strategic officer of Zhongtai Financial International
Limited (formerly known as “Qilu International Holdings
Limited”), the chief executive of China Galaxy International
Wealth Management (Hong Kong) Co Limited, a sales
director of investment services of ICBC International
Holdings Limited, a senior manager of the derivatives
division, global market of Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Limited, as well as an associate director of retail
operations of Sun Hung Kai Financial Limited. Mr. Chui
was appointed as independent non-executive director of
GET Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
8100) with effect from 23 April 2015. Save as disclosed
herein, Mr. Chui did not hold in the past three years any
directorship, in other public companies the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas.

Mr. Chui obtained a Master of Science degree in
Engineering (Electronic Commerce) from the University of
Hong Kong in 2000, a Master of Business Administration
degree and a Master of Laws degree in Chinese Business
Law from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in 2002
and 2010 respectively, and a Master of Science degree in
Investment Management from the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology in 2004. Furthermore,
he was awarded an Honorary Doctor of Business
Administration by the York University of the USA in 2010.
Professionally, Mr. Chui is a Chartered Wealth Manager
of the International Academy of Financial Management,
a Certified E-Commerce Consultant of the US Institute of
E-Commerce Consultants, a Certified Financial Consultant
of the US Institute of Financial Consultants and a Senior
Commercial E-Business Specialist of China General
Chamber of Commerce.

Mr. Chui does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.
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Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu, (resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 19 October 2016)
aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 17 February 2014. Before
his resignation, he also acted as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Company’s Audit Committee and Nomination Committee.

Mr. Mak graduated from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology with a Bachelor of Business
Administration degree in Finance in November 1996 and
a Master of Business Administration degree in November
2004. Mr. Mak earned the Chartered Financial Analyst
designation in September 2000 and has been a U.S.
certified public accountant since May 2002 and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since May 2003. Mr. Mak acted as an executive director
and the chief executive officer of Convoy Financial
Holdings Limited (formerly known as “Convoy Financial
Services Holdings Limited”, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1019) between
16 March 2010 and 31 March 2016). Mr. Mak acted as
an independent non-executive director of Lerado Group
(Holding) Company Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, Stock code: 1225) between
25 April 2014 and 2 November 2015. Mr. Mak also acted
as an executive director of Interactive Entertainment China
Cultural Technology Investments Limited (formerly known
as “China Mobile Games and Cultural Investment Limited”
and “Computech Holdings Limited” (a company listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 8081), between 30 July 2008 and 28 April 2014.
Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Mak did not hold in the past
three years any directorship in other public companies the
securities of which are listed on any securities market in
Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Mak does not have any relationship with any other
directors, senior management, substantial shareholders
or controlling shareholders of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Board is committed to maintaining and ensuring
high standards of corporate governance practice. The
Company stresses the importance of maintaining the
quality of the Board by ensuring that the directors possess
a wide range of expertise and the effective implementation
of an accountability system, so as to ensure that business
activities and decision making processes are regulated in
a proper manner. The Company’s corporate governance
practices are based on the principles and code provisions
in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set
out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

The Company will seek to improve its management
and raise its control level to enhance the Company’s
competitiveness and operating efficiency, to ensure its
sustainable development and to generate greater returns
for the shareholders.

A. BOARD
A.1. The Board’s Role and Delegation

The primary role of the Board is to maximise
long-term shareholder’s benefit. It assumes
the responsibility for providing effective and
responsible leadership and control of the Company,
and directing and supervising the Company’s affairs
in the pursuit of the Group’s strategic objectives.

To enhance efficiency, the Board has delegated the
Chief Executive Officer the day-to-day leadership
and the management of the Group.
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A.2. Board Composition

At present, the Board comprises three executive
directors and three independent non-executive
directors. The directors of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date
of this report were:-

Executive Directors

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael
(appointed on 19 October 2016)
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu
(resigned on 19 October 2016)

On 19 October 2016, due to his own decision
to devote more time to his other business
commitments, Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu tendered
his written resignation as an independent non-
executive director upon expiry of the director’s
service contract to the Board. He also resigned as
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Board and resigned
as chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the
Board. Mr. Guan Zheng Michael was appointed
as an independent non-executive director and
a member of each of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee and chairman of the
Remuneration Committee of the Board on the even
date.
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The biographical details of the current directors are
set out on pages 57 to 62 of this annual report. The
Board possesses a balance of skills and experience
which are appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The opinions raised
by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company in the Board meetings facilitate
the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices. All independent non-executive directors
have the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required by Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules. A balanced composition of executive and
independent non-executive directors also generates
a strong independence element on the Board, which
allows independent and objective decision making
process for the best interests of the Company.
The Company will review the composition of the
Board regularly to ensure the Board possesses the
appropriate and necessary expertise, skills and
experience to meet the developmental needs of the
business of the Group.

In compliance with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
the Company has appointed three independent non-
executive directors, representing more than one-third
of the Board. All independent non-executive directors
are free from any business or other relationship with
the Company. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director, who were in the
Board during the year, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considers the independent
non-executive directors to be independent.

The Board’s primary functions are to set corporate
policy and overall strategy for the Group and to
provide effective oversight of the management of the
Group’s business and affairs. Apart from its statutory
responsibilities, the Board also approves the
strategic plans, key operational issues, investments
and loans, reviews the financial performance of
the Group and evaluates the performance and
compensation of senior management. These
functions are either carried out directly by the Board
or through committees established by the Board. The
Board is also responsible to maintain an effective risk
management and internal control system.
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A.3.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four
times a year to approve the annual and interim
results, and to review the business operation and
the internal control system of the Group. Apart
from these regular meetings, Board meetings are
also held to approve major issues. At least 14
days’ notice of each regular meeting is given to
all directors. Agendas and accompanying Board
papers are sent not less than three days before the
date of Board meetings to ensure that the directors
are given sufficient time to review the same. Draft
minutes of Board meetings and Board committee
meetings are circulated to directors for their review
and comment. All the said minutes are kept by the
company secretary of the Company and are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable
notice by any director.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive of an issuer should be
separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. With effect from 17 February
2014, Mr. Wei Chunxian and Ms. Liu Shuhua have
been appointed as Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer (the “CEQ") of the Company respectively.
There is a clear division of responsibilities between
the Chairman and the CEO, in that the Chairman
provides leadership for the Board and bears
the primary responsibility for the functioning of
the Board, by ensuring its effective operation,
while the CEO is authorised and responsible for
the management of the day-to-day business of
the Group as well as the implementation of the
strategies approved by the Board.
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Appointment and Re-Election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment and
removal of directors are laid down in the Company’s
Articles of Association (the “Articles”).

All directors (including independent non-executive
directors) have entered into service contracts or
letters of appointment (as the case may be) with the
Company for a term of one year, which is terminable
by either party by giving no less than three months’
or one month notice in advance to each other
(as the case may be), subject to retirement from
office by rotation and re-election at annual general
meeting.

Pursuant to Article 77 of the Articles, any director
appointed by the Board shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting and shall then
be eligible for election but shall not be taken into
account in determining the directors or the number
of directors who are to retire by rotation at such
meeting.

According, Mr. Guan Zheng Michael Shall hold
office only until the next following general meeting
and, being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 81 of the Articles, at every annual
general meeting one-third of the directors for the
time being or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, then the nearest number to but not less than
one-third shall retire from office by rotation provided
that every director shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, a retiring
director shall be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Articles 81 and 83 of the Articles, Mr.
Sun Zhongmin and Mr. Chui Tsan Kit will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

A.4.

BREOMS
ESEEARER

EXRIRERZEFBRERINAE
NEIESERR@R (AR -

REZ(BREBIFATER)ER
EARNAGARE A QLEB KT
(GEABERME) - BB—F - XA
HER—TTEHETELADR=(EA
— 8 A (RIBRME) Z %A B
TR SERBRRBEAS L@
MEERER -

RIFARET7R  TAEEZREE
ZEFEZAHMEEER T —RERK
ehERTERES  ETERAEE
ERZASLREREZESFHES
2H -

At - BELEEEREEE T —ER
RAERIL BRaERIBEEEE
EAE -

RIFAAESE - REBERERRBFK
gL ERRB=NZ—(HWE=E
BBV == F8  A&EAE
PTIOR=ZD2Z—2BEBIZEFAR
BRE HBUEFRAZEIE=-FH
JERE—IR

RBAAF8MG REEFHAER
BEEML -

BRAAESE R FEIERME - &
FREERGRAELERIDKERZ
BRAFAE LRARE MEFS
BUNEERLREBEEE-

FEHME 2016 BHBEFRIT 67



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

NN
£EEA W
A.5. Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 which
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the
Board.

The Company recognises and embraces the
benefits of having a diversified Board and sees
increasing diversity at Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of the
Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable
development.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, length of service,
professional experience, skills and knowledge.
The Company will also take into consideration its
own business model and specific needs from time
to time. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy and candidates will be considered
against objective criteria, having due regard to the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has set the measurable
objectives based on several focused areas: age,
cultural and educational background, length
of service, professional experience, skills and
knowledge for the implementation of Board diversity
of the Company.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
6 directors, amongst them, 3 are independent non-
executive directors, thereby promoting critical
review and control of the management process. The
Board is also characterised by significant diversity
in terms of professional experience, skills and
knowledge.

Having reviewed the Board Diversity Policy and the
Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee
considered that the requirements of the Board
Diversity Policy had been met.
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LEESHE
Induction and Continuing Development for Ab6. EEREEARSERRE
Directors
Pursuant to the CG Code which has come into BER-_Z——FMA—BEER
effect from 1 April 2012, all directors and the (EERTAD)  MEEFRAFIW
company secretary should participate in continuous ERESHEBBESETR  UERYE
professional development to develop and refresh FHMB L UBREESELER
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that HEEBARYAEMENBR THE
their contribution to the Board remains informed and Ee/EHER -
relevant.
Reading materials on relevant topics have AREREERNESHLEEREY
been issued to directors where appropriate. FEME - RSB FTAEZEE2N
All directors are encouraged to attend relevant HEAEIIRE - TEENEEZHE K
training courses. Newly appointed director has ESXEARNESEAFEAEMER
received formal and tailored induction and training MEBREE) - UIEREHAEER
on his appointment, so as to ensure that he has HEEREBYBEENER UK
appropriate understanding of the business and TEHMBEARAEAECLETHRAIRE A
operations of the Group and that he is fully aware of EERETHBEREM -
his responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and the relevant regulatory requirements.
According to the records maintained by the BRIBARARRTFEZRLEE  RAFEE
Company, the directors received the following W BR(CEBRTADEERFE
training with an emphasis on the roles, functions HERRIET EFCEIUTE
and duties of a director of a listed issuer in J ERES T ANEENAS -
compliance with the requirements of the CG Code B MEME
on continuous professional development during the
year:
Attended
seminars/
Read briefings
materials HEHFTE
Directors BE B EAM R Ena
Executive Directors HITEF
Mr. Wei Chunxian M ES A v v
Mr. Sun Zhongmin RMR%EAE 4 v
Ms. Liu Shuhua ZMEL L v v/
Independent Non-executive Directors & 3F#1 77 # F
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric EREEAE v v
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael B AE v v
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RREE L 4 v

During the year, all directors confirmed that they
have complied with the CG Code.

RAFEERN  FIBEESHER
BEET(EEERTRD -

e
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A.7. Directors’ Attendance Record of Board and
General Meetings

There were five board meetings and two general
meetings held during the year under review. The
attendance of the directors at the board meetings
and the general meetings was as follows:

A7. EEHFEESBREERRRARE
Z G 8%
REBEFENRRTIREEREZ
ERRBRAEG EFHEEERE
ZMBRARENERWT :

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure of
the directors

EEAHAEES
BOEBRE
Board General
Note meeting meeting

Directors 2= k3 EEREgE BRAE
Executive Directors HITESE
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) BB E(F/E) 5/5 1/2
Mr. Sun Zhongmin RHREE 5/5 2/2
Ms. Liu Shuhua ZME L+ 5/5 2/2
Independent Non-executive Directors 781 #1717 # &
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERBERE 5/5 2/2
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael Bk E (a) 0/0 11
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RGBT E 5/5 2/2
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu BHBEAE (b) 4/5 11

(a) Appointed on 19 October 2016
(b) Resigned on 19 October 2016

The Company has complied with the code
provisions set out in the CG Code as stated in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2016.
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Compliance with Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Having made specific
enquiry to all directors of the Company, all the
directors of the Company have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standards and
provisions as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 December 2016. The Company
is not aware of any non-compliance with the Model
Code regarding the trading of the Company’s
securities for the year.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the
corporate governance functions set out in provision
D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year, the Board reviewed the training and
continuous professional development of directors
and senior management, the compliance of the
Model Code and the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code.

Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover in respect of potential legal actions against its
directors and officers.
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B. BOARD COMMITTEES

B.1.

As part of good corporate governance, the Board
has set up an Audit Committee, a Nomination
Committee and a Remuneration Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s
affairs. All Board committees have been established
with defined written terms of reference, which
are posted on the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or
recommendations made.

Audit Committee

The Board set up the Audit Committee in July 1999
with specific written terms of reference (which
have been revised subsequently to cope with
changes) which clearly deal with its authority and
duties. The Audit Committee’s role is to review the
Group’s financial reporting, internal controls and
corporate governance issues and to make relevant
recommendations to the Board.

During the year, the Audit Committee consisted
of three independent non-executive directors.
With effect from 19 October 2016 following
the resignation of Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu and the
appointment of Mr. Guan Zheng Michael as
independent non-executive director, Mr. Tung Woon
Cheung Eric acted as Chairman with Mr. Guan
Zheng Michael and Mr. Chui Tsan Kit acted as
members.
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The corporate governance functions performed
during the year included the following:

(a)

(c)

(e)

to develop and review an issuer’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and
make recommendations to the Board;

to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of
directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the issuer’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code
of conduct applicable to employees and
directors; and

to review the issuer’'s compliance with
the code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report.

In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit
Committee has performed the following tasks during
the year:

(i)

(if)

(iif)

(iv)

reviewed the effectiveness of the audit
process in accordance with the applicable
standards;

reviewed the draft interim and annual
financial statements and the related draft
results announcements;

reviewed the change in accounting standards
and assessed the potential impacts on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements;

discussed with the management the relevant
issues including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management
functions and ensured that the management
has discharged its duty to have an effective
internal control system including the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function, and their
training programmes and budget; and

made recommendation on the appointment
or reappointment of the external auditor and
approved their terms of engagement.
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All members of the Audit Committee possess in- ENEZESRKERESXAENE
depth experience in their profession. All of them LEEKR HED % HRECLET
possess appropriate professional qualifications HMENE321EZETE  BEBEEER
or accounting or related financial management ¥ER HEBEENGIEEN
expertise as required under Rule 3.21 of the Listing MBEERER -
Rules.
The Audit Committee held two meetings during REBFERNERITRAEZEZES
the year under review and the attendance of its /E\E% cHKEMHFEBERNT

members was as follows:

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Note EEFHAEES
Members of Audit Committee ERZEENE LoFza BITERRH
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric BERBEAE 2/2

(Chairman) (£/E)
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael B A (a) 0/0
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit TRIE G % & 2/2
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu BHBEAE (b) 2/2
(a) Appointed on 19 October 2016 (a) RZZE-—RETATNLBEZE
(b) Resigned on 19 October 2016 (b) RZZE—R"F+ATNLBEE
B.2. Nomination Committee B2 EREZE®

The Board set up the Nomination Committee in %%%E\:Eftizﬂﬁii%%*
March 2007 with specific written terms of reference Ee WTEZEHBESRE(REELEZ
(which have been revised subsequently to cope m%,i%{lkﬂ)/ﬁ M7 i E B R D N B
with changes) which clearly deal with its authority 5 o RELTEevBETFERTE T
and duties. The Nomination Committee’s roles HMEMEZEERRETMER - X/ RE
are principally to review the structure, size and REBRTMEZETNESRIRHER
composition of the Board on a regular basis and Z OB EEBERKAEENAEA
make recommendations to the Board regarding BoUmtkmEBEEDRERSE 0 LT
any proposed changes; identify individuals suitably EEYIERITEENBILIE -

qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board in this regard; and
assess the independence of independent non-
executive directors.
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In respect of code provision A.5.1 of the CG
Code, the Nomination Committee of the Company
is chaired by the Chairman of the Board and
comprises a majority of independent non-executive
directors.

On 17 February 2014, Mr. Wei Chunxian was
appointed as Chairman, whilst Mr. Tung Woon
Cheung Eric and Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu were
appointed as members of the Nomination
Committee, respectively, on the even date.

On 19 October 2016, Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu resigned.
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael was appointed as a
member of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 19 October 2016.

The work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year included the following:

i) to review the structure, size and diversity
(including without limitation, gender, age,
cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of services) of the
Board and make recommendations on
any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

i) to assess on the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and

iii) to make recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for
Directors and to identify individuals suitably
qualified to become Board members.
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B.3.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year under review and the attendance of its
members was as follows:

REBEFENRRIT - RIERZES
@ -HEKBMLFERBROT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Note EETHAERES
Members of Nomination Committee IEEZEE/KE iokza BITEBRY
Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman) MBS E(EE) 1/1
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ERBEEE 1/1
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael BEAELAE (a) 0/0
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu BERREE (b) 1/1
(a) Appointed on 19 October 2016 (a) RZZBE—RNFET+ATNLBEZE
(b) Resigned on 19 October 2016 (b) RZZE—RNFTATNLBEE
Remuneration Committee B3. ¥MZES

The Board set up the Remuneration Committee in
May 2005 with specific written terms of reference
(which have been revised subsequently to cope
with changes) which clearly deals with its authority
and duties. The Remuneration Committee’s role
is to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for directors and
senior management and to ensure that they are
fairly rewarded for their individual contribution to
the Group’s overall performance, having regard to
the interests of shareholders. The principal duties
of the Remuneration Committee include determining
the specific remuneration packages of all executive
directors and senior management with reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time. No director or any of his/
her associates may be involved in any decisions as
to his/her own remuneration.

In accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules,
the Remuneration Committee is chaired by an
independent non-executive director and comprising
a majority of independent non-executive directors.
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On 17 February 2014, Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu was
appointed as Chairman, whilst Mr. Tung Woon
Cheung Eric was appointed as member of the
Remuneration Committee, respectively, on the even
date. On 17 February 2015, Mr. Chui Tsan Kit was
appointed as member of Remuneration Committee.

On 19 October 2016, Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu resigned.
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael was appointed as a
member of the Remuneration Committee with effect
from 19 October 2016.

The work performed by the Remuneration
Committee during the year included the following:

(i) reviewed and recommended the
remuneration package of the independent
non-executive directors of the Company; and

(ii) reviewed and approved the remuneration
package for the executive directors and
management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting
during the year under review and the attendance of
its members was as follows:

ERE LIRS

RZZE-—MNE_A++H - HHXEE
SEZERFMEESER  MER
BAEAREEREENERTRHH
ZEgKE R-ZE—HAF-_A++t
H RREEEEZER/RFNEES
%58 -

RZFB-—RE+ATIA  BXEkL
EBME - EEEERZERFNESR
EXE R-T-RFEt+tATNLERE
HERL e

RAFEER  FMEZESMETZT
EBFEIATEIE :

() W REBARRBILIFAT
EEHHEE &

(i) RWARLEARBDATESK
EEABHFHIMTE -

REBEFERNERIT - RFMEES
SHCHERBMHERBRANOT

No. of meetings attended/
held during the tenure
of the directors

Members of Note EEEHAEES
Remuneration Committee FMEEERE g3 BTEERE
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael (Chairman) &1L 4E 4 (E /&) (a) 0/0
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric BERAREAE 11
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RIRG LA 11
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu BHBEE (b) 11

(a) Appointed on 19 October 2016
(b) Resigned on 19 October 2016

(a) RZB-—RFTATNAEZE
(b) RZZE-RFTATLABME
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C.

RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARATION AND REPORTING OF
ACCOUNTS

The directors of the Company acknowledge their
responsibility for preparing the accounts which were
prepared in accordance with statutory requirements
and applicable accounting standards. A statement
by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities
is set out on pages 116 to 125 of this annual report.

The directors are not aware of any material
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL
Risk Management Structure

The Board of directors is responsible to maintain
an effective risk management and internal control
system, in order to safeguard the interest of the
Company and shareholders as a whole. However,
the risk management and internal control systems
were designed to manage rather than eliminate all
risks exposure of the Group. It does not provide
an absolute shield against inherent limitations
such as unpredictable risks, uncontrollable events
such as natural catastrophes, fraud, and errors of
judgement, but it may provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatements
or losses.

The Company established an Enterprise Risk
Management framework in order to implement
effective risk management. Our risk management
structure is simple and clear, which has categorical
duties.

78 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

REREHEEZRE

AAREEHOREAEAEREEN
MENMBASHENRREE - B
MpEE2MEMEMEH 2 BEBPIHNA
FHREIM6AEEFE1258 °

EFVITABRBAEMNEHFHBERLZ
EATHEARE AT EH AR AL
BREEEEBEENENBERER
SR o

BEEERANIBER

[ B TR R 4B
EFeAETHBANZAREER
NEPEEE RS - UREARR A RERK
REBEN - AW - AKREH EH
[ B B IR I M AR BE 1R R A LEEEﬁﬁﬁ
FEHBR T A AN KB E S AR
FRFEAR T YR A AR R R )SZ
AAEH EF (Pl A E - BRGEF
RAEABRR)FEARS - R~
SEEANKERMNBRIFLAIE
mIEBH M IRE

ARABBEBREYCERBRERER -
Aﬁiﬁ’xﬁ(ﬁ’]ﬂ‘*”ﬁl{’ﬁ ZINE =
EoEREERBEERRE  EE5
B

Hﬂfh

i:EH



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Board of Directors

The Board plays an important role in the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems.
The Board is responsible for establishing the risk
management framework and risk management
policies, and the relevant policies are aiming
to assess and determine the Group’s business
strategies and defining the risk tolerance. The
Board, with assistance from the Audit Committee,
monitors risk management and internal control
system in an on-going manner and reviews, at least
annually, the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system.

Audit Committee

Audit Committee stands at the highest level of the
risk management and internal control system below
the Board. The Audit Committee assists the Board
in overseeing the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems by providing advice and
support in respect of all risk matters, including
on-going monitoring of the implementation of risk
management procedures, reviewing the Group’s
risk register, reviewing and approving the internal
control review plans and results.

Management

The management of the Group is responsible for
identifying and on-going monitoring strategic,
operational, financial, reporting and compliance
risks associated with the daily operations of the
Group. The Management reports to the Board and
Audit Committee on the relevant risks and their
changes. The management also formulate various
internal control measures to mitigate the risks, and
rectify internal control deficiencies they identified in
a timely manner.
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Independent Professional Internal Control
Advisor

To ensure the independence of the internal control
review, the Group has outsourced the internal
audit function to an independent professional
internal control advisor (the “Internal Control
Advisor”), whose work scope includes reviewing
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
procedures and effectiveness of the internal
control systems. The Internal Control Advisor
formulates the internal control review plan based
on risk assessment and gets approval from Audit
Committee, and will communicate with the Audit
Committee about the review results directly.

Risk Management Procedures

The Group has established the Enterprise Risk
Management framework so as to effectively
manage all kinds of risks faced by the Group. The
Enterprise Risk Management framework defined the
procedures for identifying, assessing, responding
to and monitoring risks and their changes. Through
regular discussion with each operating function,
the Group strengthened the understanding of risk
management so that all employees will understand
and report the risks timely which enhanced the
Group’s ability to identify and manage risks.
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In the course of risk identification, the Management
liaise with each operating function, collect
significant risk factors that affect the Group
from the bottom to the top, in various aspects
including strategic, operational, financial, reporting
and complying aspects. After establishing risk
assessment scope, the Management will assess the
potential impact and possibilities of the risks and
prioritise the risks, and make appropriate internal
control measures are then developed to mitigate the
risks identified and monitor the changes of risks in
an on-going manner.

Main features of our risk management and
internal control systems

Maintain an effective internal control system
(operational level)

° Establish clear internal control policies
and procedures, clearly define the
responsibilities, authorities and
accountabilities of each key position;

o Establish code of conduct, convey to all
employee the Group’s requirements on
integrity and ethic;

o Establish whistle blowing mechanism,
encourage employees to report incidents of
misconduct or fraud;

° Establish appropriate level of information
technology assess rights, avoid leakage of
price sensitive information;

° Establish inside information disclosure policy,
including reporting channels and responsible
person of disclosure, unified response to
external enquiries and obtain advice from
professional financial advisors or the Stock
Exchange, if necessary.
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In 2016, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of internal control policies and procedures,
including those related to financial reporting and
Listing Rule compliance and the Management also
conveyed confirmation of the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems to
the Board and the Audit Committee. The Board
has considered the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes
and budget of the accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions during the evaluation of
the review of risk management and internal control
systems.

On-going risk monitoring (risk management
level)

Based on the risk management framework and risk
management policies established by the Board,
the Management communicate with each operating
function, collect significant risk factors that affect
the Group from the bottom to the top. The Group
has established a risk register to record the risks
identified, the Management will assess the potential
impact and possibilities of each major risk and
develop relevant internal control measures.

In 2016, the Management conducted evaluation of
risk management structure and procedures and
submitted a risk assessment report to the Board
and Audit Committee, including a 3-years internal
control review plan, to enable the Board and
Audit Committee to effectively monitor the major
business risks of the Group and know about how the
Management responses to and mitigates such risks.

Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

We established appropriate level of information
technology assess rights, avoiding leakage of price
sensitive information. We also establish inside
information disclosure policy, including reporting
channels and responsible person of disclosure,
unified response to external enquiries and obtain
advice from professional financial advisors or the
Stock Exchange, if necessary, in order to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules requirements
regarding handling and dissemination of inside
information.
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Independent review

The Group has outsourced the Internal Control
Advisor to conduct an internal control review,
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems and
submitted the internal review report to the Audit
Committee.

In 2016, the Internal Control Advisor has completed
the internal control review work during the year.
The review aimed at the transaction incurred during
the period from 1 January 2016 to 31 December
2016, and the scope of the review included the
effectiveness of the internal control measures in
corporate level and operational level. the Internal
Control Advisor has reported the results of the
internal control review work to the Audit Committee.

The Management has established remediation and
improvement plan for internal control weaknesses
identified. Nothing has come to the Audit
Committee’s or Board’s attention to believe that risk
management and internal control systems of the
Group are inadequate or ineffective.

Principle risks and changes of the Group
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The following are the principal risks and changes LTEEAARNEEN T ERBL KEE
faced by the Group: FIFR

Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes

2, B Mt TEARERRER )
Economic Affected by economic downturn, — Regularly analyse overall Decreasing
downturn the number of people who are able economic changes, adjust i,

BT AT to purchase or rent the property business strategies, and

decreased. We may need to lower

selling price or rental rate or may even

not be able to sell or lease. We might

also be unable to increase our property
management/other additional service

fee due to the overall worse economic ~ —
conditions.
RERKBEMYETHRNEREIARD
EOARYD  AEEAFETAEE A
OREEEAHE /M- MAURELR
REBEMBNRSERER HoBN —
RBHOER -

communicate quickly with
managers in business areas
through video conferencing

to implement recommended
improvements
THOMERLBEEE HEXR
BRE UTABRGEAREE
EEKRBERAREREER
BT

Conduct due diligence and
understand local economy and
property market outlook before
acquisition of new property
investment projects
BEFONERERARETR
BiRE BREMQERMED

5 Al
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f TERBERERE 25
Human Insufficient staff or incompetency of our — Be close to the pay market Increasing
Resources staff might affect our ability to provide dynamics, control the wastage 3% fil
ANER quality service to meet our customers’ rate

demands. In addition, labour costs

in mainland China are expected to
increase which might also decrease our
profits or competitiveness.
SEAEBEEHEREELTR  BER
RENRBKEREEPER B0 - A
B 31t ) 25 B ) AR TR R A B 3 A0 7 AT
SHIBHARMMBRZEE SN

Brand Name If we fail to maintain our service level

i in customer service, engineering,
cleaning or security, customers may
lose confidence which will have a very
negative impact on our Company'’s
reputation and image.
SEAERRAERREKT  ETFRE
TREE BRIRZIEFHREAR
B REPREAGE HEBRERENK
BREENTE -
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SRFEMTEBE AR

Recruitment planning every year,
timely replenishment of staff
turnover

BEETHERE  REMRR
XAF

Provide adequate training for
staff to improve staff service

standards

REIRMAREIN RAET

AR 5k %

Daily self-examination to Decreasing

maintain and enhance the quality &%
of service and engineering
ARETRBEEEEHERER
ARBEMIRESE KT

Investigate customers’
satisfaction, monitor the latest
ratings for each project,

follow up timely on customers’
complaints

HAEEPREE ERZHEED
AR REREFPBAIEE
ETRE

Provide regular training for staff
to ensure that employees have
sufficient capacity to deal with

problems
EHENET BREIBRH
e R A
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Outsourcing
e

=04 H
REE RS
Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
f ut TERBERERE 25
Failure by service providers and — Conduct strict assessment and ~ No Change
contractors to proceed projects to follow due tender procedures i34 d

their completion on time and on the
unsatisfactory quality of the work may

incur extra cost to the Group in orderto  —
complete the work.

RGHER RAEBREREZETK I
FHTIERERMEE ey ERP —
HEMRBORERE (B MEEE
MEIMKARIAT KB B -

in selecting outsourcing service

providers.
EEBIBRBHEARETR
ERFTERBELIME

Our project manager and legal
staff would review the terms of a
outsourcing agreement to ensure
the duty and responsibility of
each party therein are clearly
defined and stated.
BEEEBNEBABEEHNES
R RS 7 B R SOE M
B

Evaluate and update
performance by outsourcing
service providers on regular
basis to ensure their service
standards meet the Group’s
requirements.
TFHRENRBHEERRE -
BRERBKTHEEEEZR
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Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f TERBERERE 25
Natural Inappropriate handling of emergency — Put in place various contingency No change
disasters situations triggered by natural disasters plans and strategies and with % 21
BEAXE (e.g. fire, electric shock, traffic accident designated persons-in-charge

etc.) or epidemic outbreaks may lead to deal with specific risks, and

to substantial/numerous claims and conduct of regular disaster drills.

liabilities against the Group and damage — HEEREZEEBRRAE -

to our reputation, in addition to human FURBESBEA  LTEHE

casualties and direct losses on assets. Th B B

l$%ﬁﬁ SIE R B A K E (B

ZZD)\“ BE XBEIE)LELRE — Periodic checks on equipment

LR B%—J“ SIBABBETREREE for emergency and regular

BRI RS AEREHAE/ B8 inspections would be conducted

RE FREM URBEEEREZS so that any source of severe

hazards could be identified as
early as possible.

— EHmER A KE  ARETH
FHE  REERERERR

— Maintain third party liability
insurance to diversify our risk
exposure and review the scope
and amount insured regularly.

— ﬁ%“”*_%ifﬂ% 2 DA AR

CEHRARESENRE
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D RO EHR A
iE ¥ ‘B0 Ay Res
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes

B8 f ut TERBERERE 25
Occupational Failure by the Group to put in — Put in place various work safety  Decreasing
health and place appropriate emergency procedures, strictly observe D

safety equipment, formulate and oversee and implement precautionary

BEEEE  the implementation of various safety measures for all duties and

Z% procedures that result in injuries of our procedures that are hazardous

employees in work may incur liability to
the Group against any compensation,
give adverse effect to our reputation and
cause an outflow of talents.
Pregek s - BIE W E
BEEEZERFONT SIBEIREIE
EBTHREERT ¥

SEARERRSE

BXE KEAUES
REMBEEKAE
2 9{ °

AL

B/ 48
wE

ARBIEAT

in nature. Designated persons
would be appointed to oversee
the implementation of such
measures.

HEZ2TERF  BEHNTS
EXAERUEETIEREERRD
gl YHRKEEAERE
WMITIER

Provide training on safety and
raise the awareness of our
employees on occupational
safety.
REZ2E - ERETHRE
ZEHER

Conduct regular inspection on
safety equipment to ensure they
are in good working conditions.
THRELRE2RE  HRRHBE
fEE®
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Parasihy
REE RS
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
2 B i TERRERER 25
Interest rate  The Group holds borrowings on floating — Closely monitor the interest rate, Increasing
7l & interest. This may increase the cost and report to the management 3% fi
and have an effect on profits due to the timely on the interest rate
increase in interest rates. changes
SERFANIDNEAENBT Bk — EOEENEMRR - LERER
EXMELAMTEMEMEAL - FEF EERSKHAEE (L
e
— Formulate policy and take
measures to reduce interest rate
risk
— 1l 7 & S BRI Y R SRR BE 2
{7 = E B
Foreign The Group holds assets and liabilities ~— — Actively monitor the fluctuation  Increasing
exchange rate denominated in Hong Kong dollars, in foreign exchange rate change, %0
& 2 Renminbi, US dollars and GBP. Foreign consider all necessary actions

exchange rate fluctuations may bring
exchange losses to the Company.
SERSANET  ARE  ZxRES
BrEERABR IEEXKHREGRAK
RAmRELEX -
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(such as reduce loan/investment,
hedging).
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Perform sensitivity analysis to
quantify currency exposure
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REE RS
Risk Description Key Risk Mitigations Changes
B8 f ut TERBERERE 25
Relevant Changes in politics, policies and — Actively monitor changes of laws No change
politics, regulations on real estate might increase and regulations associated with & & {t;
policies and  our operating expenses. If we breach the business of the Group.

regulations on relevant regulatory and governing —
real estate requirements, such as lack of ability
BEHEMEHR to adjust the operational procedures
HEBUA © B timely, the Group may incur losses due  —
ERER to penalty, suspension or interruption of
operation
ERIME ERRETEREBEHEM
EEZERY FEERREBAZARE
BEX(ORERGEASAGEERTE —
BOMAEELAEER XN - BEX
hREEMSI BEX -

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year, the company secretary of the
Company has taken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company’s external auditor is Ernst & Young.
(including any entity that is under common control,
ownership or management with Ernst & Young or
any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party having knowledge of all relevant information
would reasonably conclude as part of the audit
firm nationally or internationally). The remuneration
paid/ payable to Ernst & Young in respect of audit
services and permissible audit related and non-
audit services for the year ended 31 December
2016 amounted to approximately HK$1,250,000 and
HK$952,000 respectively. The non-audit services
of HK$952,000 comprised (i) accounting and tax
advisory services relating to due diligence for
acquisition of approximately HK$650,000; (ii) agree-
upon procedures on interim financial information of
approximately HK$200,000; and (iii) other and tax
services of approximately HK$102,000.

EEERRAKHERABNE
asRe

Consult legal staff or legal
advisors to ensure the Group’s
compliance with policy,
regulatory and governing
requirements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREOMSE
G. COMMUNICATIONS WITH

SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

Pursuant to the Companies Ordinance, a general
meeting of shareholders of the Company can
be convened by a written request signed by
shareholders holding at least 5% of the total rights
of all the shareholders having a right to vote at
that meeting, stating the nature of the business
to be dealt with at that meeting, and deposited
at the Company’s registered office. The rights of
shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings
are contained in the Company’s constitutional
documents. Details of such rights to demand a poll
and the poll procedures are included in all related
circulars to shareholders and will be explained
during the proceedings of meetings.

Poll results will be posted on the website of the
Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day
of the shareholders’ meeting.

The general meeting of the Company provides a
forum for communication between the shareholders
and the Board. The Chairman of the Board, as well
as the Chairmen of the Audit Committee, Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee or in
their absence, other members of the respective
committees, normally attend the annual general
meeting and other relevant shareholders’ meetings
to answer shareholders’ queries at the shareholders’
meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’
meetings on each substantial issue, including
election of individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communication
and relations with its investors. Enquiries from
investors are dealt with in an informative and timely
manner.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
Company had not amended its constitutional
document.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors (the “Board”) hereby present its
report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended
31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The Group is principally engaged in the property
development and investments in the PRC, the USA and the
UK, and the provision of property management services
in Beijing, the PRC. Details of the principal activities of
the subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s principal business activities are exposed to a
variety of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk,
liquidity risk, operational risk and market risk.

The Group’s business and profitability growth during the
Year is affected by the volatility and uncertainty of macro-
economic conditions in Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA
and the UK. The divergence of monetary policies in major
advanced economies of global nations is expected to
continue to contribute partly to the volatility of fund and
trade flows and that of asset prices in Hong Kong, the
PRC, the USA and the UK.

In particular, the potential impact on economic activities
and real estate prices is also affected by political and
economic developments in Hong Kong, the PRC, the
USA and the UK. The long term business and profitability
growth of the Group is expected to continue to be affected
by the changes in macro-economic variables, including
unemployment rates, real gross domestic product growth,
consumer and asset price indexes and credit demand,
and also qualitative factors such as political and economic
policy developments of Hong Kong, the PRC, the USA and
the UK.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATION

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2016
and the Group’s financial position at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 126 to
129.

*
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERGEE

The Board did not recommend the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2015: Nil). No interim dividend was
declared for the Year (2015: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2016 has been stated in Chairman’s Statement
on pages 4 to 7 and Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 8 to 21.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group
are set out in Environmental, Social and Governance
Report on page 22 to 56.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

An account of the key relationships of the Group with its
employees, customers and suppliers is contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on page 22
to 56.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities
and equity of the Group for the last five financial years/
period, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2016
and the annual report of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2015 are set out on pages 223 to 224. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated
financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS
AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements and the risk of non-compliance.
The Group has been allocating system and staff resources
to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations
and to maintain strong working relationships with
regulators through effective communications. During the
year ended 31 December 2016, the Board is not aware of
any material non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the Company’s share capital during
the year is set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the Year, the Company placed new ordinary shares
of 105,578,910 shares with net proceeds from the placing
of approximately HK$104,370,000. The placing price of
HK$1.00 per share represents a discount of approximately
9.09% to the closing price of HK$1.10 per share as quoted
on the Stock Exchange on 21 April 2016. The placing
shares will be placed to not less than six placees who and
whose ultimate beneficial owners are not connected with
or acting in connect with the directors, chief executive or
substantial shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any of their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
and whom are not connected persons of the Company.
The details of the placing are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 21 April 2016 and 10 May 2016 and
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 9 of this
annual report.

During the Year, the Company completed capital reduction
of HK$700,000,000, the details of which are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 21 October 2016.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company had no reserve available for cash
distribution/or distribution in specie as at 31 December
2016 in accordance with the provisions of section 291, 297
and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Movements of the reserves in the Group and the Company
during the Year are set out on page 130 and in Note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2016, less than 30%
of the Group’s revenue was attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers, and less than 30% of the Group’s
purchases were attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERWEE

None of the Directors of the Company, or any of their
close associates or any shareholders (which, to the
best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s top five customers and suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2016 and 2015, the
Group did not make any charitable donations.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Year were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Wei Chunxian (Chairman)

Ms. Liu Shuhua (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael
(appointed on 19 October 2016)
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu
(resigned on 19 October 2016)

In accordance with Articles 81 and 83 of the Company’s
Articles of Association, Mr. Sun Zhongmin and Mr. Chui
Tsan Kit will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election.

According to Article 77 of the Articles of Association,
any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following
general meeting and shall then be eligible for election.
Accordingly, Mr. Guan Zheng Michael shall hold office
only until the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election.

The Company has received written annual confirmations
of independence from all independent non-executive
directors and as at the date of this report all of them are
considered to be independent.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

BOARD CHANGES AND CHANGES IN
DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Rules Governing The Listing of Securities
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”) is set out as follows:

Board changes
On 19 October 2016:

— Mr. Guan Zheng Michael succeeded Mr. Mak
Kwong Yiu to act as independent non-executive
director of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHIES

The biographical details of the directors of the Company
are set out on pages 57 to 62 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined
by the Board with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group as well as the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee.

Further details of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
are set out in the corporate governance report on pages
76 to 77 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Other than the directors named under the paragraph
headed “DIRECTORS” above, the persons who have
served on the boards of the subsidiaries of the Company
as at 31 December 2016 and up to the date of this report
included Mr. Chen Gang and Ms. Huang Fei.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERGEE

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument of each of the directors and the
employees of the Group is on the basis of their merit,
qualification, competence and experience in the industry,
the profitability of the Group as well as remuneration
benchmarks from other local and international companies
and prevailing market conditions, executive directors and
employees also participate in bonus arrangements which
are determined in accordance with the performance of the
Group and the individual’s performance.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 137 of the Company’s Articles of Association
provides that every Director, executive Director, manager,
secretary, officer and auditor of the Company shall be
indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liabilities incurred by him as such Director, executive
Director, manager, secretary, officer and auditor in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, to
the extent permitted by the Companies Ordinance. The
Company has also maintained Directors and officers
liability insurance during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, the
Company has not entered into any contract with any
individual, firm or body corporate to manage or administer
the whole or any substantial part of any business of the
Company during the Year.

REMUNERATION PAYABLE TO THE
MEMBERS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT BY
BAND

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code,
for the remuneration payable to the members of the
senior management by band for the Year, please refer
to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees, as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules, in notes 8 and 9
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
AND CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and
significant related party transactions are disclosed in
this report and in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statement. Save for the above, no director nor a connected
entity of a director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts
of significance to the business of the Group to which
the holding companies of the Company, or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of
the directors and the chief executive and their associates
in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) (a) which
were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or (c) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) contained in the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), were as follows:
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LONG POSITION IN THE ORDINARY RELTFIREBERZNFE -
SHARES OF THE COMPANY:

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Number of issued share
Name of Director Capacity shares held capital
LER N
BERITREZ
EEgA g0 BERGHE BAaBE DL
(%)
Mr. Sun Zhongmin Beneficial owner 47,510,510 5.29
BRMREE EnlAA
Mr. Wei Chunxian Interest of controlled corporation 492,814,591 54.91
a2 s REEE 2= (Note)
(Htat)
Note: The shares are held by Wintime Company Limited. Wintime — #:£ : & B {D fiWintime Company Limited#
Company Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Winluck A ° Wintime Company Limited AWinluck
Global Limited. The entire issued share capital of Winluck Global Limitedz & & K& A & » Winluck
Global Limited is beneficially owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian. Global Limitedz & #0 2 % 17X AN fh 28 40
Each of Winluck Global Limited and Mr. Wei Chunxian is BREEERES - BEFELELRBAEEN
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Wintime Winluck Global Limited %% 4fi i& 5t £ &
Company Limited under the SFO. B # % & R Wintime Company LimitedFf

HAEZBEMPHEAER -

98 GRPROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

LONG POSITION IN UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY:

Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2016, none
of the directors nor the chief executive of the Company
had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (a)
which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein; or (c) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2016 were
rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any of
the Directors or their respective spouse or minor children
under the age of 18, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or was the Company, its holding companies, or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights
in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, as at 31
December 2016, the following persons (not being directors
or chief executive of the Company) had, or were deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO:
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EERWEE

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES AND & 2 F) B 7 R 45 BR B {9 &2 ¥F
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE B
COMPANY:
Number of shares held, capacity Approximate
and nature of interest percentage
Directly Through a Company’s
beneficially controlled issued share
Name Notes owned corporation Total capital
BARRAT
BE#E g cl BRITRAEZ
nE/EB g3 BERER ZEHEE BF  BHEIH
(%)
Wintime Company Limited (a) 492,814,591 — 492,814,591 54.91
Winluck Global Limited (b) — 492,814,591 492,814,591 54.91
Notes: HiaE -

(a) Wintime Company Limited holds 492,814,591 shares
directly.

(b) Winluck Global Limited is deemed to be interested in the
492,814,591 shares by virtue of its controlling interests in
its wholly-owned subsidiary, Wintime Company Limited.
Mr. Wei Chunxian is deemed to be interested in the
492,814,591 shares by virtue of his entire equity interests
in Winluck Global Limited.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2016, the
directors and the chief executive of the Company were
not aware of any other person (other than the directors
and the chief executive of the Company) who had, or was
deemed to have, interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTIONS

On 7 November 2016, the Company conditionally adopted
the Share Option Scheme, pursuant to which the Board
may, at its discretion, grant options to any Directors
and any employee of the Company or the Group or any
person, who, in the absolute opinion of the Board, have
contributed or will contribute to the Company or the
Group. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
(i) incentivise and reward those who have contributed or
may contribute to the development of the Group; and (ii)
attract and retain skilled and experienced personnel and
motivate them to strive for the future development of the
Group by providing them with an opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company thereby linking
their interest with that of the Group. Unless otherwise
determined by the Board in the relevant offer letter to a
grantee, there is no minimum period for which any share
option (“Option”) must be held before it can be exercised
and no performance target which needs to be achieved
by a grantee before the options can be exercised. Under
the Share Option Scheme, the Board will have absolute
discretion in determining the subscription price (subject to
the Listing Rules) in respect of any Option. The Board is
of the view that the flexibility given to the Board will place
the Group in a better position to incentivise or reward the
Participants and retain human resources that are valuable
to the growth and development of the Group as a whole.

The subscription price shall be such price determined
by the Board in its absolute discretion and notified to the
Participant in the offer and shall be at least the higher
of (i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily
quotations sheet issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of offer of the grant; and (ii) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer of the grant. The
consideration payable for acceptance of the option by
each Participant is HK$1.00 which shall be received by the
Company within such time as may be specified in the offer
(which shall not be later than 21 days from, and inclusive
of, the date of offer). If the Participant does not accept
such grant of option pursuant to the procedures specified
in the respective offer letter or notice within the stipulated
time frame, such option shall be regarded as unaccepted
and lapsed.
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Based on the 897,420,738 shares in issue as at the date
of adoption of the Share Option Scheme, the maximum
number of shares to be issued upon the exercise of
options that may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme are 89,742,073 shares, being 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the Share Option
Scheme. 89,742,073 shares represents 10% of the issued
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual report.
Subject to the obtaining of Shareholders’ approval with
respect to the adoption of the Share Option Scheme,
pursuant to Rule 17.03 of the Listing Rules, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon the exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option
Scheme must not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the shares
in issue as at the date of approval of the Share Option
Scheme. The Board shall not grant any options which
would result in the maximum aggregate number of shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted but yet to be exercised under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes
adopted by the Company exceeding, in aggregate, 30%
of the shares in issue from time to time. The total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company to each
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of shares in issue (the “Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of options to a Participant which would result
in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted and to be granted to such Participant
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in the 12-month period up to and including the date of
such further grant exceeding the Individual Limit shall
be subject to approval of the Shareholders in general
meeting with such Participant and his close associates (or
his associates if such Participant is a connected person)
abstaining from voting. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption of the

Share Option Scheme.

No options were granted, outstanding, lapsed, exercised
or cancelled during the Year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group
entered into certain transactions which constituted
connected transaction(s) continuing connected
transactions (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the
Company, the details of which are set out below.

A.

(1)

Continuing connected transactions
subject to the reporting, announcement
and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, it
TR AW EEE AR QA (Beiling AOCEAN
Property Management Company Limited* or
“AOCEAN Property Management”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, provided heat
supply and maintenance services to a total of 9,308
property units of Beijing Guorui Property (Note)
and Beijing Guolong (Note) with a total floor area of
approximately 829,000 square metres.

Beijing Guorui Property Heat Supply
Services Agreements

Date: 27 November 2015
Parties: (i) AOCEAN Property Management
(i) Beijing Guorui Property (Note)
Original term: 1 April 2014 to 15 September 2015 (with
no automatic renewal clause)

New term: 16 September 2015 to 15 September

2018 (both days inclusive)

Fortune Street Phase One* (B im & — HA),
Fortune Street Phase Two* (Bf i % — )
and Rui City International Building™ (§% 4
Bl X E) in Chaoyang District, Beijing,
and Kingdom Guorui* (B] ##e% 1) in
Daxing District, Beijing.

Location:

Provision of
services:

AOCEAN Property Management's
responsibilities include (i) overlooking
the daily operation and provision of
repair and maintenance services of the
heat exchange station and facilities and
the pipeline network; and (i) ensuring
that the heat supplied complies with
governmental guidelines and standards,
etc.
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Fees: Residential properties: RMB30 per BR FEME  SEERZHE
square meter per heat supply season, THARAREI T HER
payable on annual basis FY M
Commercial properties: RMB42 and HANE : REEHRFF
RMB47 per square meter per heat BoRAGERESZHTT
supply season, payable on annual basis HFARARBL2TRARELT
in respect of the original term and new T HARBEIM

term, respectively

Transaction amount ~ RMB1,249,108 (equivalent to approximately ZE-RFN AR®1249108T(HE R
during 16 HK$1,486,494) AB+7RBZE 41,486,494 L)
September 2015 to N
15 September 2016: NATHA

RHEE

Transaction amount ~ RMB458,225 (equivalent to approximately ZE-REN AR458,225 7 (FHE R4
during 16 HK$523,171) B+AEZE 523171870
September 2016 to ZE-R
31 December 2016: F+-A4

=+—B%
5%

Annual cap: Original term: 2EER . REFH \

Not applicable (as this constitutes THEB(EBEBER(LETR
a continuing connected transaction AI) E14A 601k 2 H BB
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing ERX5)

Rules)

New term: MER

For the three years ending 15 BE-_Z-N\ELATH
September 2018 are RMB1,466,000, AE=EFE: 23 AA
RMB2,291,000 and RMB4,258,000, K % 1,466,000 T A K
respectively B 2291000 T k AR B

4,258,0007T
* For identification purpose only  EEEF
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Beijing Guolong Heat Supply Services

Agreements
Date:

Parties:

Original term:

New term:

Location:

Provision of
services:

Fees:

27 November 2015

(i) AOCEAN Property Management
(ii) Beijing Guolong (Note)

1 April 2014 to 15 September 2015
(with no automatic renewal clause)

16 September 2015 to 15 September
2018 (both days inclusive)

North Garden* (Jt7EE) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing.

AOCEAN Property Management’'s
responsibilities include (i) overlooking
the daily operation and provision of
repair and maintenance services of the
heat exchange station and facilities and
the pipeline network; and (i) ensuring
that the heat supplied complies with
governmental guidelines and standards,
etc.

AOCEAN Property Management charges
the individual owners/tenants of the
property units directly for those units
which are occupied. Beijing Guolong will
be responsible for the fees of the vacant
units within the aforesaid property
project

RMB30 per square meter per heat
supply season, payable on annual basis

EERREE
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Transaction amount
during 16
September 2015 to
15 September 2016:

Transaction amount
during 16
September 2016 to
31 December 2016:

Annual cap:

RMB3,259,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$3,807,000)

RMB1,964,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,294,000)

Original term:

Not applicable (as this constitutes
a continuing connected transaction
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing
Rules)

New term:

For the three years ending 15
September 2018 are RMB3,351,000,
RMB3,159,000 and RMB3,217,000,
respectively

* For identification purpose only

During the year ended 31 December 2015, each
of Beijing Guorui Property and Beijing Guolong
renewed its property management agreement
with AOCEAN Property Management for the
management of the vacant units within their
residential and commercial property projects.
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Beijing Guorui Property Management

Agreements
Date of Agreement:

Parties:

Original term:

New term:

Location:

Provision of
services:

Fees:

Transaction amount
during 1 January
2016 to 31
December 2016:

Annual cap:

27 November 2015

(i) AOCEAN Property Management
(ii) Beijing Guorui Property (Note)

1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015

1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018
(with no automatic renewal clause)

Fortune Street Phase One* (Bfi##—H),
Fortune Street Phase Two* (Bfi##T— ),
Rui City International Building* (251 E8%
[€), and GOLDEN TOWER* (£ RZAE) in
Chaoyang District, Beijing, and Kingdom
Guorui* (B $ie% 78) in Daxing District,
Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management is
responsible for (i) safekeeping of the
keys of the vacant units; (ii) carrying
out monthly inspections of the vacant
units and keeping records accordingly;
(iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of
the vacant units; and (iv) inspecting
the vacant units during bad weather
conditions, etc.

The management fee ranges from
RMB2.25 to RMB9.4 per square meter
per month for different property units

RMB4,243,647 (equivalent to approximately
HK$4,958,520)

Original term:

Not applicable (as this constitutes
a continuing connected transaction
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing
Rules)

New term:

For the three years ending 31 December
2018 are RMB4,481,000, RMB6,858,000
and RMB7,497,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only
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(4) Beijing Guolong Property Management

Agreement
Date of Agreement:

Parties:

Original term:

New term:

Location:

Provision of
Services:

Fees:

Transaction amount
during 1 January
2016 to 31
December 2016:

Annual cap:

27 November 2015

(i) AOCEAN Property Management
(ii) Beijing Guolong (Note)

1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015

1 January 2016 to 31 December 2018
(with no automatic renewal clause)

North Garden* (3t 7£[) at Gaobeidian,
Chaoyang District, Beijing.

AOCEAN Property Management is
responsible for (i) safekeeping of the
keys of the vacant units; (ii) carrying
out monthly inspections of the vacant
units and keeping records accordingly;
(iii) carrying out monthly cleaning of
the vacant units; and (iv) inspecting
the vacant units during bad weather
conditions, etc.

RMB2.25 per square meter per month

RMB2,031,750 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,374,013)

Original term:

Not applicable (as this constitutes
a continuing connected transaction
pursuant to Rule 14A.60(1) of the Listing
Rules)

New term:

For the three years ending 31 December
2018 are RMB3,003,000, RMB2,642,000
and RMB2,907,000, respectively

* For identification purpose only
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During the year ended 31 December 2015,
Beijing Guorui Property entered into a property
management agreement with AOCEAN Property
Management in respect of the management of the
sales office and ancillary areas of Kingdom Guorui*
(R e 78) at Beijing Economic and Technological
Development Area, Daxing District, Beijing.

Kingdom Guorui Sales Office Management

Agreement
Date of Agreement:

Parties:

Term:

Location:

Provision of
Services:

Fees:

27 November 2015

(i)  AOCEAN Property Management
(i) Beijing Guorui Property (Note)

8 October 2015 to 7 October 2018

Kingdom Guorui* (Bl f{e% %) — sales office
and ancillary areas at Beijing Economic and
Technological Development Area, Daxing District,
Beijing

AOCEAN Property Management is responsible
for (i) welcoming and arranging customers to visit
the show flats; (i) coordinating services related
to sales activities; (iii) the security, hygiene and
concierge services of the property; (iv) the daily
operation, management and maintenance of the
common parts including the restaurants, bars and
other amenities facilities and common facilities;
(v) maintenance of the hygiene and security of
the common parts of the property; (vi) refuse
collection and disposal; and (vii) maintenance and
management of the greenery of the property, and
S0 on.

Beijing Guorui Property shall bear the following
expenses, disbursements, costs and fees, which
are paid by AOCEAN Property Management in
advance and settled between the parties quarterly:

o the expenses incurred in the course of
providing services to the property, including
all supplies, materials and labour costs;

o disbursements including the costs incurred
for external wall cleaning, floor brightening,
maintenance of the exterior greenery as well
as power charges and replacement costs of
facilities;

* For identification purpose only
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Transaction amount

o the costs of acquiring the fixed assets,
equipment and facilities necessary for the
additional services if Beijing Guorui Property
requests AOCEAN Property Management
to provide additional services or themed
activities related to sales; and

o the relevant taxation and profit margin of 10%
over the actual costs and expenses incurred in
the course of managing the property.

RMB11,246,869 (equivalent to approximately

during 8 October  HK$13,328,381)
2015 to 7 Qctober
2016:

Transaction amount
during 8 October

RMB1,896,592 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,247,603)

2016 to 31
December 2016:

Annual cap:

Note:

For the three years ending 7 October 2018
are RMB12,048,000, RMB13,253,000 and
RMB14,578,000, respectively

1t 7 B 8 = b EE B9 % 2 &) (Beijing Guorui Property
Development Company Limited*, or “Beijing Guorui
Property”) is a connected person of the Company
by virtue of Mr. Wei Chunxian (the Chairman,
executive director and the controlling shareholder
of the Company) being a director and the
controlling shareholder of Beijing Guorui Property,
holding approximately 89.6% equity interest (the
remaining equity interest of approximately 10.4%
being held by Mr. Sun Zhongmin (an executive
director of the Company)) and each of Mr. Sun
Zhongmin and Ms. Liu Shuhua (an executive
director of the Company) being a director of
Beijing Guorui Property. Since each of 1t RE & &
% B BR AR (Beijing Guolong Property Company
Limited* or “Beijing Guolong”) and 4t & £t &
JERI B B R B R A A (Beijing Haoshi Zhonghong
Technology Development Company Limited* or
“Beijing Haoshi”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Beijing Guorui Property, each of Beijing Guolong
and Beijing Haoshi is also a connected person of
the Company.
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(1)

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Connected transaction pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules in respect of a
shareholder loan

Interest on loan from a shareholder

Date of supplemental

agreement:

Parties:

Principal amount:

Terms:

Purposes of

shareholder loan:

Interest rate:

Drawdown loan
amount at 31
December 2016:

Interest during the
year:

24 August 2016

(i) the Company

(i) Wintime Company Limited
(“Wintime”) , a company beneficially
owned by Mr. Wei Chunxian as to
100% and a controlling shareholder
of the Company

HK$250,000,000

Three years from the date of
draw-down of the relevant shareholder
loan or such other date as mutually
agreed by Wintime and the Company

For financing the working capital
requirement of the Group in connection
with its property acquisition and
development

2% per annum

HK$61,458,337

HK$1,375,925 accrued interest not yet
paid

* For identification purpose only

(1)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERWEE

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

A summary of the significant related party transactions
which were undertaken in the normal course of business
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements. For those related party transactions that
constituted connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions (as the case may be) (other than
those described in the section above headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”)
under the Listing Rules, these transactions are exempt
from reporting, annual review, announcement and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company
have reviewed and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions undertaken by the Group were
entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group; (b) either on normal commercial
terms or better; and (c) in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing the transactions on terms that
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditor of the Company has also confirmed that
nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes it
to believe that the continuing connected transactions (a)
have not been approved by the Board; (b) were not, in all
material aspects, in accordance with the pricing policies
of the Group; (c) were not entered into in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing such transactions,
in all material respects; and (d) have exceeded the
respective caps as aforesaid, where applicable.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the
Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 “Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his
unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this Report in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. The Company has
provided a signed copy of the said letter to the Stock
Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

At as the latest practicable date prior to the issue of
this annual report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the best knowledge of
the Board, the Company maintained sufficient public float
as required under the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2016.

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OF CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

Pursuant to a construction loan agreement (the
“Construction Loan Agreement”) entered into by
and among East Pacific Properties LLC (“East Pacific
Properties”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company as borrower, the Company as guarantor and
a licensed bank as lender (the “Lender”) effective on
27 September 2016, the Lender has agreed to provide
a bank loan (the “Loan”) in an aggregate amount of
not exceeding eighteen million United States Dollars
(US$18,000,000.00) which shall be used to finance the
direct construction costs and related expenses of the
residential and retail buildings and relevant structures to
be constructed on the land in Lots 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 in
Block 4 of The Chelsea Green Tract in the City of Santa
Monica, County of Los Angeles, State of California of
the US. The Loan shall be repaid in full on or before the
maturity date (the “Maturity Date”), which is two (2) years
after the day on which the Lender first advanced all or a
portion of the Loan to East Pacific Properties. The Maturity
Date may be extended twice, for periods of one year
each, if there is no event of default then existing and East
Pacific Properties has paid the Lender an extension fee as
stipulated in the Construction Loan Agreement.

Pursuant to the Construction Loan Agreement, it shall
constitute an event of default if Mr. Wei Chunxian, the
controlling shareholder (has the meaning ascribed to
it under the Listing Rules), an executive Director and
the Chairman of the Company, does not maintain direct
management in East Pacific Properties under which
circumstance the Lender may in its absolute discretion
declare all amounts owing by East Pacific Properties under
the Construction Loan Agreement immediately due and
payable.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERGEE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the quality of
corporate governance so as to ensure better transparency
of the Company, protection of shareholders’ and
stakeholders’ rights and enhance shareholder value. In
the opinion of the Board of the Company, the Company
had complied with all code provisions set out in the CG
Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules during
the year ended 31 December 2016 and up to the date of
publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry of the directors, all of the directors have
complied with, for any part of the accounting year covered
by this annual report, the required standard set out in the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Connected
Transaction and Continuing Connected Transactions”
and “Related Party Transactions” of this annual report,
there were no contracts of significance in relation to the
Company’s business, to which the Company or any of the
Company’s subsidiaries was a party, subsisting at the end
of the Year or at any time during the Year, and in which
a Director had, whether directly or indirectly, a material
interest, nor there were any other contracts of significance
in relation to the Company’s business between the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

As at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competed or was likely
to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
businesses.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement benefits schemes of the Group
are set out in Note 2.4 (headed “Employee Benefits
(pension scheme)”) to the consolidated financial
statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2016 have been audited by Ernst & Young.
A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2016 were approved by the
Board on 31 March 2017.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wei Chunxian
Chairman

Hong Kong
31 March 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\IAZHEHE S

To the members of GR Properties Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 126 to 221,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report, including in
relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included
the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements. The results of our
audit procedures, including the procedures performed
to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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BIAZBERES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Classification of properties under construction between
properties under development and investment properties under

construction
The Group acquired the entire
interest of the land (the “Land”)

in the City of Santa Monica of the

United States of America during
the year ended 31 December
2015 for the development of a
property on the Land.

According to the latest
development plan of the Land

up to the date of approval of the

financial statements, once the
construction of the property is
completed, a portion of which
will be put into the market for

sale (the “Sale Portion”) while the

remaining portion will be leased

to third parties for earning rental
income (the “Investment Property

Portion”).

The Sale Portion was accounted

for as “Properties under
development” in accordance
with Hong Kong Accounting
Standard 2 Inventories, and the

Investment Property Portion was

accounted for as “Investment
properties under construction”
in accordance with Hong

Kong Accounting Standard

40 Investment Property. At 31
December 2016, the carrying
amounts of the Sale Portion and
the Investment Property Portion
amounted to HK$104,716,441
and HK$130,193,780,
respectively, representing

approximately 12.6% and 15.7%

of the Group's total assets,
respectively.

We inspected the relevant
government approval
document in relation to the
feasibility of the construction
plan and checked if there
are any changes to the
development plan from
previous year.

We reviewed the latest
available development plan to
evaluate the allocation basis
used by the Group to allocate
the costs of construction and
re-calculated the allocation of
construction costs between
properties under development
and investment properties
under construction.

We considered the adequacy
of the Group’s disclosures

in the financial statements in
respect of this matter.

118 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

MEEZER(E)

TEFHREH

B AD 20 1] R E B
FREH

HEEFYRBZER P YERAEZTREY

Ey:0paF ]

HE-_Z—AFt+=
A=+ —8 1Lt #&
E BEEBWKENMN
MEBREER KL
(L] 2
o ALY
% °

REBEZMBEHRRE
#t 2 B 7 L i 8 &
TS - fWERSD
WMEBTEK - R E
DMEF/RR TS H
E(HEEHRD]) - &
THOBETFE=T
ABREVE & WA (T#
BEMEED]) °

REFES

% g
HoRAE BE
|:F|
%

B
)
&=
=

o ERIER
X RRES
HERFEAFER E
vxE BREVEITD

ERIEEFEREY
2|l - RN T —XKF
+=ZA=+—8

HEXD RIEEY
XM oMEEESD
Bl A& 104,716,441 7
7T & 130,193,780 i
T ARKE B
BREEMN126%K
15.7% ©

BB E A MBI
2177 17 1% ) B R LS
B R BB R
BIEFREHAEM
28 -

B AIE R & H A A
%ErE R ER
[ 73 Bc e T AR AN BT R
AR EEENEE
o WEHFEER
TYERERBRE
MEBEIKEXSD
[

BMEZE E&H
R TR R EM
BMEENZEE-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

BWIZHENRES
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAEFEXFTHE)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the T EHFEZEH BRE T FEAREE
key audit matter EREH
Classification of properties under construction between HEEFYREAZFRFYXERFEEFREY
properties under development and investment properties under EY:00 0% 00~ D)

construction (Continued)
Since different accounting
policies are applied to the Sale
Portion and the Investment
Property Portion, any change

RBEHR - AR
R EFTHRREAR
HEMDORIREYE
By - LS

to the development plan of the RER E Bk EIE
Land or improper classification MERZRAYER
of properties under construction FREPREDEHD
between properties under EEMEFE BS
development and investment EroEEFHEES

properties under construction
would have a significant impact

BEAXE -HMAR
HHZHEMERE

on the Group’s net current 2o

assets position as at the end of

reporting period. We considered

this significant to our audit.

Related disclosures are included HH 8 B BR 0 B 7% 5

in notes 2.4, 3, 13 and 15 to the
financial statements.
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BIAZBERES

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the
key audit matter

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

At 31 December 2016,
investment properties of

the Group amounted to
approximately HK$405,199,030,
representing 48.8% of the

total assets of the Group as at
that date. In accordance with
the accounting policy of the
Group, investment properties
are stated at fair value, with the

corresponding fair value change

recognised in profit or loss. The
valuation process is inherently
subjective, and dependent on
a number of estimates. The
Group engaged an external
professionally qualified valuer
to perform the valuation for the
investment properties.

Related disclosures are included

in notes 2.4, 3 and 13 to the
financial statements.

We considered the objectivity,
independence and
competence of the valuation
expert.

We evaluated the valuation
methodology adopted by
the valuer and reviewed the
data used as inputs for the
valuations.

We involved our internal
valuation experts to assist us
in evaluating the assumptions
and methodologies used

for valuation of investment
properties of the Group and
performing market value
benchmarking against
comparable properties.

We considered the adequacy
of the Group’s disclosures

in the financial statements

in respect of the fair value
measurement of investment
properties.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the

key audit matter

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

At 31 December 2016, the

Group had trade receivables of
HK$20,316,142 in aggregate,
which arose from the provision of
property management services

and leasing of investment
properties.

Significant management’s

judgements and estimates were

involved in determining the

recoverability of these trade
receivables for impairment

assessment.

Related disclosures are included

in notes 2.4, 3 and 17 to the
financial statements.

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE

ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report

thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any

We reviewed related
documentations prepared
by the Group relating to
the settlement history and
creditability of tenants to
evaluate the amount of
provision.

We reviewed the historical
settlement records to
obtain an understanding

of settlement pattern and
reviewed the historical
percentage of delay in
settlements and bad debts,
to assess the impairment of
trade receivables estimated
by the Group. We also
tested the accuracy of the
ageing analysis of the trade

receivables prepared by the
Group and re-performed the

calculation of impairment
provided to assess the
mathematical accuracy.

We considered the
adequacy of the Group’s
disclosures in the financial
statements in connection
with the impairment of trade
receivables.

form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\IAZHEHE S

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Company or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we
exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\IAZHEHE S

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’'S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is CHENG, Man.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
22nd Floor, CITIC Tower,

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central,
Hong Kong

31 March 2017
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Year ended 31 December 2016 #Z_-—F—NF+=-A=+—HIFZ

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

2016 2015
—E-REF —ET—RF
Notes HK$ HK$
B i BT T

REVENUE ON 5 140,178,350 76,809,367
Cost of sales 5B B AR (111,470,498) (53,761,876)
Gross profit ESPA| 28,707,852 23,047,491
Gain on bargain purchase of M /& A 7] BE B & B W 25

subsidiaries 7 — 6,776,122
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEN B R R/

subsidiaries aF,/ (EE) 29 (1,587,305) 217,708
Other income and gain H Al A K M 5 1,490,803 1,102,224
Selling expenses $HE KA (762,336) (1,454,679)
Administrative expenses THREA (35,561,565) (29,130,382)
Other operating expenses, net Efh&& & H » F5 (16,411,147) (993,284)
Fair value loss of investment &% A FEEE

properties 13 (9,154,894) (15,988,119)
Finance costs 81 7% & A 6 (1,396,439) (1,991,112)
LOSS BEFORE TAX Al & B 7 (34,675,031) (18,414,031)
Income tax Frig 7t 10 (2,144,138) 261,671
LOSS FOR THE YEAR BEBREAATARREN

ATTRIBUTABLE TO TEFEEEHER

SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY (36,819,169) (18,152,360)
LOSS PER SHARE EERAAQATRRN

ATTRIBUTABLE TO BREE

SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY 11
Basic and diluted ERREE (0.043) (0.031)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COI\/IPREHENSIVE INCOME

BrEkEx
Year ended 31 December 2016 #HZE—F—~NF+=-A=+—HIFEF
2016 2015
—B-XE —hF
Note HK$ HK$
B & BT T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEEHA (36,819,169) (18,152,360)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HfZHEIKA (&H#H)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/ KX & B 5 & 7 48
(loss) to be reclassified to A E#ﬁ?/\/(fﬁﬁf’)
profit or loss in subsequent #IEE -
periods:
Exchange differences: EH ZR -
— Translation of foreign — BRERINEEET
operations (2,292,587) (5,453,420)
— Reclassification — L EKB R A R
adjustments upon FAEEA
disposal of subsidiaries BEFHERAE
included in profit or loss 29 15,942,404 (469,071)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AEEHMETE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE WA (EE)
YEAR, NET OF INCOME TAX HIEKRFrTBH 13,649,817 (5,922,491)

BEREADARRDN
rEERHERASH

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
LOSS FOR THE YEAR
ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

(23,169,352)

(24,074,851)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

31 December 2016 —FE—N¥+=-H=1+—HA
2016 2015
—E-REF —E—RF
Notes HK$ HK$
Jiikz3 BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ¥ % - B E K& & 5 12 1,729,349 5,628,302
Investment properties KEME 13 405,199,030 188,505,568
Intangible assets BEEE 14 541,427 10,598
Non-current deposits FERHE & 428,754 655,519
Total non-current assets FERBEESG 407,898,560 194,799,987
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development 2 & f 4 % 15 104,716,441 91,006,295
Inventories FE 16 282,393 157,896
Trade receivables FEWE 5 AR 3K 17 20,316,142 20,668,920
Prepayments, deposits and ERRE T2k
other receivables H i B K 9,919,833 2,954,221
Due from related companies & W B8 & A &l s I 18 1,567,345 1,149,972
Pledged bank deposit EEHIRITER 19 38,800,000 —
Cash and cash equivalents BE&RIREEEY 19 247,494,649 243,060,265
Total current assets MEBEEAG 423,096,803 358,997,569
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables B E SRR 20 23,447,100 10,461,349
Receipts in advance 8 I SR I8 30,887,865 25,893,410
Other payables and accruals  H{th f& f X F1 7B 12 & H 21 32,543,933 39,214,514
Due to a shareholder FE 1 AR SR Fk I8 22 1,375,925 —
Due to related companies FEfS & & Rk IE 18 5,601,350 3,394,044
Bank borrowings RITE K 23 132,264,315 —
Income tax payables FE A FT 13 %% 2,036,355 4,511,512
Other taxes payables E b e BB 2,022,476 5,437,333
Total current liabilities mEBEESE 230,179,319 88,912,162
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETFHE 192,917,484 270,085,407
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EERERRBAE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 600,816,044 464,885,394
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
a8 VIR

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

2016 2015
—E—-RE —T—RHF
Notes HK$ HK$
JioN=3 BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ¥ hBaE
Bank borrowings IRITE K 23 5,267,688 —
Loan from a shareholder & U B% R 3k 18 24 61,458,337 —
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIE A E 25 — 12,001,062
Total non-current liabilities IEREBEERS 66,726,025 12,001,062
Net assets BEFR 534,090,019 452,884,332
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to ERERAARRRNESR
shareholders of the
Company
Share capital & R 26 519,965,063 1,115,590,024
Reserves f#1E 28(a) 14,124,956 (662,705,692)
Total equity AR 534,090,019 452,884,332
Wei Chunxian Liu Shuhua
BAE 2
Director Director
EF E
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Year ended 31 December 2016 #HZE=—F—NF+=-HA=+—HI Fi#

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

BERAARRE
Capital Exchange
Share reduction Capital  fluctuation Accumulated Total
capital reserve reserve reserve losses equity
BRHA Bh ExRE

g ke i it 2 BB ERnAst

Notes HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

hrit AT BT BT BT B AT

(note 28(b))  (note 28(c))
(Hiit28()  (Hit28(c)

At 1 January 2015 “Z-1%-A—H 777,970,773 — 165571972 (11,482,613) (792,720,200) 139,339,932

Loss for the year rEEER — — — —  (18,152,360) (18,152,360)
Other comprehensive loss AEEEM2AEBE

for the year:
Exchange differences: ERER:

Translation of foreign BEBMIE LK

operations — — —  (5,453,420) —  (5,453,420)
Reclassification adjustments ~ BEBEERRH
upon disposal of HEHE AR
subsidiaries included in MEHSBAE

profit or loss 29 — — — (469,071) — (469,071)

Total comprehensive loss AEEZABELE

for the year - - —  (5922491) (18,152,360) (24,074,851)
Rights issue 1t B 26(a) 343,131,459 — — — — 343,131,459
Rights issue expenses HRER (5,512,208) - — — —  (5,512,208)
At 31 December 2015 and R-_ZE-HE

1 January 2016 +-A=+-HEK

“Z-x"¥-R—H 1,115,590,024 —* 165,571,972*  (17,405,104)* (810,872,560)* 452,884,332
Loss for the year rEEBR - - = —  (36,819,169) (36,819,169)
Other comprehensive loss AEEEMZARBE
for the year:
Exchange differences: EREE:
Translation of foreign RERNMIEER
operations — — —  (2,292,587) —  (2,292,587)
Reclassification adjustments FHRREERRN
upon disposal of HERE RN
subsidiaries included in BENAEAR
profit or loss 29 — — — 15,942,404 — 15,942,404
Total comprehensive income/ ~ AEEZ2ERA/

(loss) for the year (BR)eR — - — 13649817  (36,819,169) (23,169,352)
Placing of new shares REHRH 26(b) 105,578,910 = = = — 105,578,910
Share issue expenses RiHZTER (1,203,871) — — — —  (1,203,871)
Capital reduction BRHIR 26(c) (700,000,000) 24218342 . — 675,781,658 _
At 31 December 2016 RZE-—1F

+-A=1+—-H 519,965,063  24,218,342* 165,571972*  (8,755,287)* (171,910,071)* 534,090,019
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated * RZE—ARE+=ZA=+—8 - Eiifﬁf%

reserves of HK$14,124,956 (2015: negative consolidated
reserves of HK$662,705,692) in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
meRATAE

Year ended 31 December 2016 #HZE—F—~NF+=-A=+—HIFEF

2016 2015
—EB-RF —T-hF
Notes HK$ HK$
Wit B BT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELEMNAESRE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax T A1 &5 18 (34,675,031) (18,414,031)
Adjustments for: AEIEE
Finance costs TR AR 6 1,396,439 1,991,112
Bank interest income RATF B A 5 (1,047,477) (313,626)
Gain on bargain purchase of MBARRERE K=
subsidiaries — (6,776,122)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HERBRAR®
subsidiaries BB/ () 29 1,587,305 (217,708)
Loss on disposal of items of HEWE  BEK
property, plant and equipment REEENESE 7 13,725 61,442
Gain on disposal of intangible HE &R EEN K=
assets — (67,040)
Depreciation e 12 1,071,297 1,321,371
Fair value loss of investment REWMERATEEE
properties 9,154,894 15,988,119
Amortisation of intangible assets & i & &= # §4 14 70,904 425,416
Impairment of intangible assets &2 & & & 14 = 470,744
Impairment of trade receivables  fE U 2 5 B ZUR & 17 1,850,028 403,867
Operating loss before working HEESEHAH
capital changes REERE (20,577,916) (5,126,456)
Decrease/(increase) in JEBNERTF R A (35 )
non-current deposits 226,765 (655,519)
Increase in properties under 3% R ) S8 N
development (13,674,689) (91,020,385)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories 7S 4 /(& 0) (140,891) 70,255
Decrease/(increase) in trade EWE SRR,/
receivables (#m) (2,866,589) 16,427,518
Decrease/(increase) in BRRE ek
prepayments, deposits and H fth FE U R A (3 hn)
other receivables (8,758,276) 141,055
Decrease/(increase) in amounts ~ fEW B D B RIER D/
due from related companies (&) (514,180) 3,906,186
Increase/(decrease) in trade FERT B SR M,/
payables O 4) 14,168,133 (790,875)
Increase in receipts in advance &4 ZtIAE 1 i 7,433,433 13,822,296
Increase/(decrease) in other HinEe I MERER
payables and accruals i,/ G d) 1,515,187 (7,617,863)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts &5t A B 2B
due to related companies 2/ i) 2,538,101 (1,151,198)
Increase/(decrease) in other taxes £t & {4 & 3838 0/ (&t 2)
payables (1,525,011) 1,748,158
Cash used in operations ARELENRE (22,175,933) (70,246,828)
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REATRER

Year ended 31 December 2016 #HZ =%

—NFEFZA=+—HUFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2016 2015
ZE-RE e T S
Notes HK$ HK$
Wit B BT
USA withholding tax paid BENEEBHB (124,267) (28,446)
PRC corporate income tax paid & B B ¥ Fr 5 5 (3,211,109) (465,185)
Net cash flows used in KEEEF AR
operating activities RenEFH (25,511,309) (70,740,459)
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHELENRERE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 B 1,047,477 313,626
Purchases of items of property, BEWE BMERX
plant and equipment ®iEIEH 12 (745,899) (110,351)
Purchase of investment properties B B & & ¥ % 13 (307,187,861) (113,165,496)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEWEE 14 (622,255) —
Proceeds from disposal of items & & & EE B
of intangible assets P18 #UE — 13,659,520
Acquisition of subsidiaries WS B A A = 35,420,652
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMB R A 29 71,472,203 4,537,854
Increase in pledged bank deposit & & 4R 1777 & N (38,800,000) —
Net cash flows used in investing & & & &) Bt F &9
activities ReneFH (274,836,335) (59,344,195)
CASH FLOWS FROM METHELENRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Issue of shares B1kH 26 105,578,910 343,131,459
Share issuance expenses nETER 26 (1,203,871) (5,512,208)
New bank loans FRITER 137,532,003 —
New loans from a shareholder FRER R it 6 3 B R 207,701,480 217,121,640
Repayment of loans from EBEERRRENER
a shareholder (140,549,127) (217,121,640)
Interest paid for bank loans EMEITERFE 6 (20,514) —
Interest paid for loans from ENBRRERENERF L
a shareholder 6 — (1,991,112)
Net cash flows from MEEHELD
financing activities REMEFRE 309,038,881 335,628,139
NET INCREASEINCASHAND H&EéRBESSEIH
CASH EQUIVALENTS T 120 8,691,237 205,543,485
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERREEEY
beginning of year 243,060,265 41,395,142
Effect of foreign exchange rate ~ E RS S £ 5%
changes, net (4,256,853) (3,878,362)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS X B &R ELSEY
AT END OF YEAR 19 247,494,649 243,060,265
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

GR Properties Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong and
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The registered office and the principal
place of business of the Company is located at
Suite 1603, Wheelock House, 20 Pedder Street,
Central, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
involved in the following principal activities:

— property investments in mainland (“Mainland
China”) of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) (disposed of during the year — note
29) and the United Kingdom (the “UK”) for
earning rental income

— property development in the United States of
America (the “USA”)

— provision of property management services in
Beijing, the PRC

At 31 December 2016, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Wintime Company
Limited (“Wintime”), which is incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands, and, in the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Winluck Global Limited,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

LFRKEEH

BEEwEERAR(IARR])A—
RRBEBEMAZNBERAR @ ME
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2FREEEHE)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Information about principal subsidiaries EREZERBEATINER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries RBEZ-_ZE—X"F+-_A=+—H81t
during the year ended 31 December 2016 are as FERN KRR ETENEARINFE
follows: R
Place of Issued  Percentage of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to the
registration registered Company Principal
Company name and operations share capital Direct  Indirect activities
EWAY/ ERA BRAEEREK/ AAAEGEZREAL
&R ey dMEREE E# B % TERERED
East Pacific Properties LLC* Delaware, USA United States — 100% Property
X E dollars (“US$") development and
23,250,000 investment
23,250,000% 7T NEERRRE
GR UK Holdings Limited?# British Virgin Islands/UK Pound sterling — 100%  Property investment
(“£")1
RERAHEE/RE 158 NERE
BRENEZERERAA PRC/Mainland China US$500,000 100% —  Property investment
Jiacheng (Fujian) Investment B /b Bl A B 500,000% 1t NERE
Company Limited*
(“Jiacheng”)"*
EL(FE)ERAA Hong Kong Hong Kong dollars 100% —  Property investment
Faith Stand (China) Limited* ("HK$")1
(“Faith Stand")# ) 1B NERE
TRAARRERARAA PRC/Mainland China Renminbi (“RMB”) — 100%  Investment holding
AOCEAN Business mE /A 20,000,000 RE R
Management Company AR
Limited* (“AOCEAN Business 20,000,0007C
Management”)
([ERRAEEEER])
TREANEERFERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB11,000,000 — 100% Provision of property

AQOCEAN Property Management Bl /& Bl A B

Company Limited* (“AOCEAN
Property Management”)*
([EREENEER])
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2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about principal subsidiaries
(Continued)

i Disposal of during the year (note 29)

g Incorporated during the year

# Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or
another member firm of the Ernst & Young global
network

For identification purposes only

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors,
principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for completed investment
properties which have been measured at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in HK$
and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar
except when otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2016.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the
Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less
than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other
vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.
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2.1

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BASIS OF PREPARATION
(Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to
shareholders of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill)
and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying
amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the
consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or accumulated losses, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and
revised HKFRSs for the first time for the current
year’s financial statements:

Amendments to
HKFRS 10,
HKFRS 12 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to
HKFRS 11

HKFRS 14

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and
HKAS 38

Amendments to
HKAS 16 and
HKAS 41

Amendments to
HKAS 27 (2011)

Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle

Investment Entities:
Applying the
Consolidation Exception

Accounting for Acquisitions
of Interests in Joint
Operations

Regulatory Deferral
Accounts

Disclosure Initiative

Clarification of Acceptable
Methods of Depreciation

and Amortisation

Agriculture: Bearer Plants

Equity Method in Separate
Financial Statements

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING
POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS
12 and HKAS 28 (2011), amendments to HKFRS
11, HKFRS 14, amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS
41, amendments to HKAS 27 (2011), and certain
amendments included in the Annual Improvements
2012-2014 Cycle, which are not relevant to the
preparation of the Group’s financial statements,
the nature and the impact of the amendments are
described below:

(a) Amendments to HKAS 1 include narrow-focus
improvements in respect of the presentation
and disclosure in financial statements. The
amendments clarify:

(i) the materiality requirements in HKAS 1;

(ii) that specific line items in the
statement of profit or loss and the
statement of financial position may be
disaggregated;

(iii)  that entities have flexibility as to the
order in which they present the notes
to financial statements; and

(iv)  that the share of other comprehensive
income of associates and joint
ventures accounted for using the
equity method must be presented in
aggregate as a single line item, and
classified between those items that will
or will not be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss.

Furthermore, the amendments clarify the
requirements that apply when additional
subtotals are presented in the statement
of financial position and the statement of
profit or loss. The amendments have had no
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

2.2

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

B RS R BE(]|)

BREBVISREENFE105 - BB
BREEFI2R BB S 28
FoBH(ZE——F) 2B - BF
FIEREERFE 115 2B - B
I E R FE 1458 - F B £
F1eH BB S ERFHR &
il BAEIEAFE27TR( T ——
FVZBIIR—_FE——FFr —F—Q
FRRZ FEHEZETIERN B
mEBEANEEY KRR LTI - 85T
ZHEBERFEFEFENOT

(a) BRBEFERFIRETHA
HPBHREANEZREBERE
MESHHMENRE - ZFEFTE

=

() BEASFENEIRA
MEBEAMETE

(i) BEREPFBARARAERA
ZEEHEBATAD

(i) ERREZZ7|8 B3R
RWENIBEFESES
% K

(iv) ER#EmEAKRNDE
BERAIMNAERAIN
Hivr 2wk mBBEER
EBEERERZY - X
HEfEesrTeaHERE
MOBERAENZRFE

BREETESR -

SO - % FERT BRI B AR
R R Was R A 25BN NFE
FARMBRE - ZRFETAY
AEARENPBRRELM
MEBBRATE -

FEHRSE 2016 HESHEEREAT 139



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET

31 December 2016 —E—A~F+=H=1+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING

POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Amendments to HKAS 16 and HKAS
38 clarify the principle in HKAS 16 and
HKAS 38 that revenue reflects a pattern of
economic benefits that are generated from
operating a business (of which the asset
is part) rather than the economic benefits
that are consumed through the use of the
asset. As a result, a revenue-based method
cannot be used to depreciate property,
plant and equipment and may only be used
in very limited circumstances to amortise
intangible assets. The amendments are
applied prospectively. The amendments have
had no impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group as the Group has
not used a revenue-based method for the
calculation of depreciation/amortisation of its
non-current assets.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014
Cycle issued in October 2014 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Details
of the amendments are as follows:

o HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations:
Clarifies that changes to a plan
of sale or a plan of distribution to
owners should not be considered to
be a new plan of disposal, rather it
is a continuation of the original plan.
Accordingly, there is no change in
the application of the requirements
in HKFRS 5. The amendments also
clarify that changing the disposal
method does not change the date
of classification of the non-current
assets or disposal group held for
sale. The amendments are applied
prospectively. The amendments have
had no impact on the Group as the
Group did not have any change in
the plan of sale or disposal method
in respect of disposal of subsidiaries
during the current and prior years.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 35 ok P ot

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 23 EEMERKRERNEERM
HONG KONG FINANCIAL HHEER

REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and INE B W AR R LS BTG HRR B B A
revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not TEEME R REX I RAEIEET
yet effective, in these financial statements: EREHmELAER :

Amendments to HKFRS 2

BEBY R EERF 25 (] A)
Amendments to HKFRS 4

FEYBRE LR F45 (EFTA)

HKFRS 9

BB B RS 2E R o5

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

BEYBHmEERF105 &
BB G ER E28% (55T 4N)
(ZE2——%)

HKFRS 15

B BB 5 S R E 1555

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions?

BERABURGBEEZ A 52

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts?

BB B EERE45 [ 25 T A
—EEF BB I EEREIF IR & 4712

Financial Instruments?

ZET Az

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

KEZHABE L & &5 %2 EEE L &3 )T &

Revenue from Contracts with Customers?

P& AW a2

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers?

FEEVBREERFISREFTAN) BEEZEHBFHEE 150 EFLEH W |2

HKFRS 16

BB B EERE 165

Amendments to HKAS 7

BB EAETHR (BETA)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BAGTERFE 129 (BETA)

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

—EWFEER T NFHHZ
F R E

Leases?

HEs

Disclosure Initiative!

HEFEIE

Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses!
RAEB BRI B E

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs!

ZIEB B mE LR 2B

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 1 RZE—+tF—A—Hzkz2%&H
January 2017 16 B F E HARE AR R

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 RZFE—NF—A—Askz%&H
January 2018 16 B F 5 BRI AR R

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 3 RZE—NEFEF-—A Bk z#ER
January 2019 18 B F [ BIRE AR RK

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but 4 IR 2 TE R il AR AR B A AT T
available for adoption REHEWR

Further information about those HKFRSs that are BHKEARANEENZEERANE

expected to be applicable to the Group is as HEEARE LSBT :

follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.3

(a)

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS
2 in August 2016 that address three main
areas: the effects of vesting conditions on the
measurement of a cash-settled share-based
payment transaction; the classification of a
share-based payment transaction with net
settlement features for withholding a certain
amount in order to meet the employee’s
tax obligation associated with the share-
based payment; and accounting where a
modification to the terms and conditions
of a share-based payment transaction
changes its classification from cash-settled
to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for
vesting conditions when measuring equity-
settled share-based payments also apply
to cash-settled share-based payments. The
amendments introduce an exception so that
a share-based payment transaction with net
share settlement features for withholding
a certain amount in order to meet the
employee’s tax obligation is classified in its
entirety as an equity-settled share-based
payment transaction when certain conditions
are met. Furthermore, the amendments clarify
that if the terms and conditions of a cash-
settled share-based payment transaction
are modified, with the result that it becomes
an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction, the transaction is accounted
for as an equity-settled transaction from the
date of the modification. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2018. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the
final version of HKFRS 9, bringing together
all phases of the financial instruments project
to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions
of HKFRS 9. The standard introduces
new requirements for classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. The Group expects to adopt
HKFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group
is currently assessing the impact of the
standard.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

(c)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK (IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an
Arrangement contains a Lease, HK (SIC)-
Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK (SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance
of Transactions Involving the Legal Form
of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and
requires lessees to recognise assets and
liabilities for most leases. The standard
includes two recognition exemptions for
lessees — leases of low-value assets and
short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a
liability to make lease payments (i.e., the
lease liability) and an asset representing the
right to use the underlying asset during the
lease term (i.e., the right-of-use asset). The
right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses unless the right-of-
use asset meets the definition of investment
property in HKAS 40. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest
on the lease liability and reduced for the
lease payments. Lessees will be required to
separately recognise the interest expense
on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees
will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain
events, such as change in the lease term
and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate
used to determine those payments. Lessees
will generally recognise the amount of the
remeasurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor
accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from the accounting under HKAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases
using the same classification principle as in
HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating
leases and finance leases. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 16 on 1 January
2019 and is currently assessing the impact of
HKFRS 16 upon adoption.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.3

(d)

(e)

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an
entity to provide disclosures that enable
users of financial statements to evaluate
changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising
from cash flows and non-cash changes.
The amendments will result in additional
disclosure to be provided in the financial
statements. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2017.

Amendments to HKAS 12 were issued with
the purpose of addressing the recognition
of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses
related to debt instruments measured
at fair value, although they also have a
broader application for other situations.
The amendments clarify that an entity,
when assessing whether taxable profits will
be available against which it can utilise a
deductible temporary difference, needs to
consider whether tax law restricts the sources
of taxable profits against which it may make
deductions on the reversal of that deductible
temporary difference. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance on how an
entity should determine future taxable profits
and explain the circumstances in which
taxable profit may include the recovery of
some assets for more than their carrying
amount. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 January 2017.
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2.3

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

()

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2014-
2016 Cycle issued in March 2017 sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs. Details
of the applicable amendments are as follows:

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interest in
Other entities: Clarified the scope of
the standard by specifying that certain
disclosure requirements is not required
for a subsidiary, a joint venture or an
associate (or a portion of its interest
in a joint venture or an associate)
that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

HKAS 28 Investments in Associates
and Joint Ventures: Clarified that, when
an investment in an associate or a joint
venture is held by, or is held indirectly
through, an entity that is a venture
capital organisation, or a mutual fund,
unit trust and similar entities including
investment-linked insurance funds,
the entity may elect to measure that
investment at fair value through profit
or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments. An entity, shall
make this election separately for each
associate or joint venture, at initial
recognition of the associate or joint
venture.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. For each business
combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are
present ownership interests and entitle their holders
to a proportionate share of net assets in the event
of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for
appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of
embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the previously held equity interest is remeasured at
its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at
the acquisition date. Contingent consideration
classified as an asset or liability is measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

146 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

2.4

FEEHBREE

EBastEmE
EGEHRBBEAETRE - X
BOHBENRERYER QX FER
B HERAKERBRER I ETT 2
RMEEARKRESIABEENE
E AREMAENRBERAEER
TR AN EE RN R FENE
Me-BREGEMH FRASBAME
ERE LB TEREEHEBRRE TR
D B FEENRIREEETT A IEE
Bt  AKEIERARFER
WU IE T5 AT 4 R 0F B B O A L BT
B oo SRR HI MR AT A E AR BB
DB RAFEFE - WERBKAR
THERXH -

EAKEUNE-EEE  ewWER
RIZ ARG ~ BRI A K A8 B AR
MRFEHEREEMRENREE
TRENBRIETE  BRESREELR
EBMATETARIARPETD

MEBAHOREBET  ZHFAN
PR E NS BB QA FEEHA
B EEANTMNESERSTER -

5 B T B s R E AR
REBEANRTFEETER -8
REERABNHIBERERLTFER
E HAVEEBHEBESTER -2
BREaNIARETENAE  H
ZERMEEEES T AR -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the
excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount recognised for non-
controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in
the acquiree over the identifiable net assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this
consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a
gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at
cost less any accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or
groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of
the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) to which the
goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBEBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units)
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of
the operation when determining the gain or loss
on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these
circumstances is measured based on the relative
values of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its completed investment
properties at fair value at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
takes place either in the principal market for the
asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for
the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would
use when pricing the asset, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level2 — based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than investment properties, properties under
development, inventories and financial assets), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it
arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of a non-financial asset other than goodwill
is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and that person; (i) has
control or joint control over the Group; (ii) has
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) is
a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a holding company of the
Group; or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the
following conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members
of the same group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or of a
holding company, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)y  the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a holding
company of the entity); and
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBRBEE(HE)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties (Continued) BERL (&)
(b)  (Continued) (o) (#&)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to a holding company of the

Group.

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.
Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant
and equipment have been put into operation, such
as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line
basis to write off the cost of each item of property,
plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives
of different categories of property, plant and
equipment are as follows:

2.4
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Buildings Over the shorter of the lease terms and 20 years
BF HEHMOFHREE

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the lease terms and 3 years
HEWMEREE HEHMIFNREE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 51to 10 years

B HREMBPRAERE 5E104F

Motor vehicles 5 years

mE 5%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost of
that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately.
Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties include both completed
investment properties and investment properties
under construction.

Completed investment properties are interests in
shops, storerooms and parking spaces (disposed
of during the year — note 29) and an office building
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects
market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Properties under construction or development for
future use as investment properties are classified
as investment properties under construction. An
investment property under construction is measured
at cost, including transaction costs, until its fair
value becomes reliably measurable or construction
is completed, at which time such property is stated
at its fair value at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
values of completed investment properties are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal
of a completed investment property are recognised
in profit or loss in the period of the retirement or
disposal.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured
on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible
assets acquired in a business combination is the
fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives
of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite.

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently
amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful
life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end. The estimated annual rate of amortisation of
different categories of intangible assets are as
follows:

Property use rights 2%
Computer software 10%-25%

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets remain with the lessor
are accounted for as operating leases. Where the
Group is the lessor, assets leased by the Group
under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to profit or loss on the straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases,
net of any incentives received from the lessor, are
charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4

AEF=A=1—H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition,
as loans and receivables. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. After initial
measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for
impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included as other income in
profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in profit or loss.
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2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the asset has an impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.
Evidence of impairment may include indications
that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments, the probability
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that
there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets
that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset,
whether significant or not, it includes the asset in
a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for
impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

The amount of any impairment loss identified is
measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced either
directly or through the use of an allowance account
and the loss is recognised in profit or loss. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used
to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realised
or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
estimated impairment loss increases or decreases
because of an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is
later recovered, the recovery is credited to other
operating expenses in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part
of a financial asset or part of a group of similar
financial assets) is derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset, or has assumed
an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement;
and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset
and the maximum amount of consideration that the
Group could be required to repay.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial
recognition, as loans and borrowings. All financial
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
payables, other payables and accruals, amounts
due to a shareholder and related companies, loan
from a shareholder and bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they
are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced
by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset
and the net amount is reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to
be held for sale after completion of the property
development and are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant
property development project is expected to
complete beyond the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to
properties held for sale.

Properties under development are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
includes cost of land together with any other
direct costs attributable to the development of the
properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the estimated selling price based on
prevailing market conditions less (i) anticipated
cost to completion of the development in respect of
properties under development; and (ii) estimated
costs to be incurred in marketing and selling the
properties.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis.

B 35 5 R BT o

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

24 FESHBRME(E)

TR ITENEAREH

AN R VAR B I AT0A TE HE ) FE AR Y &2
BMEMEKHE  YEITENFELSER
‘E  IFARBERZEENMEEZA
B -RAleREENERABSEMRE
WoOFREAEMBRARRESD -

K ES

ERTOERENMEBERTKRIER
FHE YD BRRBEE  FRIER
HERABEMEZRBENEEY
BHBILEEEXAH  AER® ° TX
% BARANFERERFHEDE -

RENEFIRR - AT AR K
BRERVMENTMEMERKAR -
A ERFE2EREEFTHISNR G
A EERE() G SR ERARE
B ERBAR - F(ii) 5 #EE R
HEABMERENKATE -

3t

5
FERKAETBRFEME 2K
KE AR o BN TO IR IR 5T 58 AR

st

ﬁ o

FEHE 2016 ESHESHEAT 161



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and demand deposits, and short term
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement
of financial position, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash,
which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a
past event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present
value at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside
profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss,
either in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from
the initial recognition of goodwill or an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET
31 December 2016 —E—A~F+=H=1+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBEBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, the carryforward
of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences,
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused
tax losses can be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises
from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary
differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.

164 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

Fr& % (&)
FAEREANEREEZR  BERF
PR RO 75 T8 4R AN R A A B A 7 S 1R
ERR/ETHREE  BARA AL
B AR M AR K A R0 e E
RrIEZR - BE R AT IRE RN
AMAORBEEERR - BRIF

. BEREMAEESHEENRE
RIERB A H R B 18 R
FEL MEXZEHERTITE
SEIABLITERATAIE
HEE R

. KB R R MR ERB A
ENMNERUEZEMS - BXE
MBEEEBRRATAEREER
RRABEENARKERBA -
S 1) JRE A B2 N R BT R DA R S T
REZERR -

RE—REMRYELEHAEENK
ETETUNEZ - IRTHERAEE
K15 = S I8 M B R B DA S 5 I A B
DEEEMELERIAEENN S - BB
VDHRBEERERBEE - AR - RE8—
& B K e E T AT 4 DA B R AR Y SE
EMEEE £8 THARMATH B
WA RERAEEENBOR
ERNERELERBEE -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
when the revenue can be measured reliably, on the
following bases:

(a) rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

(b)  from the rendering of property management
services, when the services have been
rendered; and

(c) interest income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest rate method by applying
the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FESHBEBE(HE)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Employee benefits (pension schemes)

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme in Hong Kong (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries
which operate in Mainland China are required to
participate in a central pension scheme operated
by local municipal governments. These subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions vest fully once made and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds. All borrowing costs are
expensed in the year in which they are incurred.

166 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

BE®ACRKETE)

AEBERBE LR IERE R EE
PIREERSEBESHAEINZS
BEETTAREHANBH QR
ERARBHFE(TRESE]) -
HARBEEEARATIEN—EBESL
AR URBERBESAEINHAEES
EXNEERSTHE - @RS
MEEREAKREEESHNBLE
BESHA - AEEEEHIIM
BB ERTERETESR -

AREBRTFEARENHBLARNES
VEAZNBEHTRAFEENR R
KEFtd - ZEMBRARARERMET
BRANETADLE TR —EKREF
8l o N EAG BRI 2 BURRT
AL RES —RASFTENRE
EREXNKERS P -

EREH

ERERAREEEREREEMEL
MFBREMKAR - TEERERE
BAEHERSRPREIZAER -



2.4

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar, which is the Company’s functional
currency. Each entity in the Group determines its
own functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising
on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting
period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the component of the exchange
fluctuation reserve relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty
about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 TEEHBEHE(E)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued) S (&)
Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign BERIIGCEEANBEMEBEM
operation and any fair value adjustments to the HEBHEAENMBBRELNATERAE
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on BERZBIIMEEMNEENABE TN
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of ZE o WIRERERETIHE o
the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement HEeHERERME - TEBING
of cash flows, the cash flows of certain overseas BAamBenERESREEE R
subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong dollars REXRTENB T - ZEMBR AR
at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of ARERLEHELENIRS RERE FINE
the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of FHERTERB T -
these entities which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEi#IErFEEt
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

The major judgements, estimates and assumptions,
that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements and have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are set out below:

Impairment of trade receivables

The policy for provision for impairment of trade
receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation
of collectability and aged analysis of accounts
and on the estimation of the Group’s management.
A considerable amount of estimation is required
in assessing the ultimate realisation of these
receivables, including the current creditworthiness
and the past collection history of each debtor. If the
financial conditions of debtors were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their abilities to make
payments, additional allowances may be required.
The carrying amount of trade receivables in the
consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2016 was HK$20,316,142 (2015:
HK$20,668,920).

Estimation of fair value of completed
investment properties

The fair values of the Group’s completed investment
properties are assessed by management based
on property valuation performed by independent
professionally qualified valuers. The assumptions
adopted in the property valuation are based on
information from annual rental income supported by
the terms of any existing leases and other contracts
and (when possible) by external evidence such as
current market rents for similar properties in the
same location and condition.

Further details of the fair value estimation of
completed investment properties, including the key
assumptions used for fair value measurement and a
sensitivity analysis, are set out in note 13(b) to the
financial statements.

3.
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E X & &t FI B 044 & (#8)

THN®EWERRPEZNEER
EEAFENUREEY T — a5
FEEENEERASEERERH
EWEARBROERHE - AR
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2 e

EWE ZRERE
AEEZ EWE S FIERE B H K
RIIRIEER B 2 AT W = 5T & BR
BN URAEBEBEAMEZM
o R EZERRRERRESE
R BEHKREME  EFBES
ERAZ B AEBMRRRBEERK
ek MEBAVBRREE » EH
HERE R Almem EEHEE
INBERS - R—ZE—ARE+_A=+—
H SRAEMBRAIRAZERE SER
KA RS 58 520,316,142/8 £ (=
T —F4F 20,668,920/ 7T) °

EERREMELFENMGE

BEEBERBBYAERMGEMY
BEEXRYMERETZEEFGEARRA
BREMERZAVE - ETTHEMAER
Mz BRIDREEMNERELY
REMEHN ZEH - AR(NA] B
SMERE(MER - RMKRT
BUMEZRTHSEEAS)NFEM
TWAWBHEER -

EAREXREEDERATFEMTHNE
—SHE BREAFEAEMENE
DHRELBERREDNT - SR HRE
B sE13(b)A °
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong
Kong, Mainland China, the USA and the UK. The
Group carefully evaluates tax implications of its
transactions in accordance with prevailing tax
regulations and makes tax provision accordingly.
However, judgement is required in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes as there
are many transactions and calculations, of which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain, during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, the differences
will impact on the income tax and deferred tax
provision in the periods in which the determination
is made. The carrying amount of current tax
payables carried as liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December
2016 was HK$2,036,355 (2015: HK$4,511,512).

Classification of properties under
construction between investment properties
under construction and properties under
development

The Group develops properties for future sale and/
or for future leasing to third parties to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is
made by management in determining whether a
property under construction is designated as an
investment property or a property held for future
sale. The Group considers its intention of holding
the properties at the early development stage of the
related properties.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Classification of properties under
construction between investment properties
under construction and properties under
development (Continued)

During the course of construction, the related
properties under construction are accounted for as
properties under development included in current
assets if the properties are intended for sale after its
completion, whereas, the properties are accounted
for as investment properties under construction
included in non-current assets if the properties are
intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Upon completion of construction of
the properties, the properties under development
intended for future sale are transferred to properties
held for sale and are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value, while the properties that
are intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation are transferred to completed
investment properties, which are stated at fair value
at the end of each reporting period.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised
into business units based on the nature of their
services and has two reportable operating
segments as follows:

(a) the property development and investment
segment engages in (i) leasing of shops,
storerooms and car parking spaces in Fujian
Province, the PRC (disposed of in June
2016); (ii) property development for sale
and property investment in the USA; and (iii)
leasing of office units in the UK; and

(b)  the property management segment engages
in the provision of property management
services for office buildings, residential
properties and car parks in Beijing, the PRC.

B 35 5 R BT o
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B X &t 3R 065 51 (48)
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of
making decisions about resources allocation and
performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss,

HESBEHE)

BEEEIHAEEAKSESRLENEH
i ORTEWMA D BB IR K- &
B DBRBREBRED BB B
BETE - MENERHBBAFE, &
Bt E - KABBABENFEEAR

SEBANE/BEEHE B HEE
AAEY T ERERRERERONE
MEARREBEKERHENBEAR
Al AR - AR R QA
ARFEX -

which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before
tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax
except that interest on loans from a shareholder,
a gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries, gain
or loss on disposal of subsidiaries as well as head
office and corporate income and expenses are
excluded from this measurement.

DHEENDHBEIBREARDER
MRAREE  ARZFEEMEE
EEEEmERE -

Segment assets and segment liabilities exclude
unallocated head office and corporate assets as
these assets and liabilities are managed on a group

basis.
Property development
and investment Property management Total
NEBRRRE NEER CEH
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Z8-x§ -T-1F Z%-RE _—T-1F ZB-AfF _—T-IF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A AT -y BT V-2 AT
Segment revenue 2HBA 6,902,409 6,723,334 133,275,941 70,086,033 140,178,350 76,809,367
Segment results APLE (13,702,893) (18328,745) 5740505 7059998  (7,062,388) (11,268,747)
Reconciliation: i
Interest on loans from a REREEFHF S
shareholder —  (1,991,112)
Gain on bargain purchase of WEAAREREE W&
subsidiaries — 6,776,122
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HERB A4
subsidiaries i/ (BB) (1,587,305) 217,708
Other unallocated gains Hih R E Uz 309,854 1,102,224
Corporate and other unallocated A& R EMASEEE
expenses (25,435,192)  (13,250,226)
Loss before tax HaBe (34,675,031) (18,414,031)
Segment assets PTHEE 630,409,063 285573,416 121,625,537 111,773,700 752,034,600 397,347,116
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OPERATING SEGMENT 4., BEHSBPEH(E)
INFORMATION (Continued)
Property development
and investment Property management Total
NEBERRE NEER &t
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
ZE-xE -—T-1F ZB-Af -—ZT-nf ZEF-AE _—E-1F
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT BT BT BT AT
Reconciliation: H&
Corporate and other unallocated AR REMANEEE
assefs
— Property, plant and — 0% BRERGE
equipment 168,296 180,622
— Deposits and other —ERREMER
receivables A 1,068,305 875,621
— Pledged bank deposits —BERROER 38,800,000 -
—Cashand cash equivalents ~ — B4 RELZED 38,924,162 155,394,197
Total assets BAE 830,995,363 553,797,556
Segment liabilities THEE 207,402,585 19,170,299 87,264,459 79,160,674 294,667,044 98,330,973
Reconciliation: H&
Corporate and other unallocated A& R EMAD R &R
liabilities
— Other payables and accruals — — EftEM 7 &
fEitER 1,842,300 2,582,251
— Income tax payables — BN mEH 396,000 .
Total liabilities ZaE 296,905,344 100,913,224
Other segment information: B nHER:
Impairment losses recognised in B3 P i H &
profit or loss B#&
— Operating segments —BEXH = — 1,850,028 403,867 1,850,028 403,867
— Amount unallocated —KPEEE — 66,877
1,850,028 470,744
Depreciation and amortisation ~ # & M# 3
— Operating segments —BEAY 272,006 598,967 715,263 482,367 987,269 1,081,334
— Amount unallocated —kPEsE 84,028 240,037
1,071,297 1,321,371
Capital expenditure* EREY
— Operating segments —BENH 308,334,961 115,801,259 149,350 265,367 308,484,311 116,066,626
— Amount unallocated —KPEEE 71,704 2,483
308,556,015 116,069,109
Fair value loss of investment RENELTESE
properties 9,154,894 15,988,119 - — 9,154,804 15,988,119

Capital expenditure consists of additions to

property, plant and equipment, investment
properties and intangible assets, including assets

from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

- EXARXBEDNE BERRME
ZHRE REMEREVAEER
FBWEHNBARZEE)
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

4.

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

Geographical information of revenue from
external customers is not presented since
over 90% of the Group’s revenue from
external customers is generated in Mainland
China. Accordingly, in the opinion of the
directors, the presentation of geographical
information of revenue from external
customers would provide no additional useful
information to the users of the financial
statements.

Non-current assets

4.

HESBEHE)

ith & &

(@) RENBELHYA
Pl 7 A2 38.90% 75 4 B 3k 13 1 5
B MM AR B AREELE -
R it 3 4% 51 7 B 3R 5 5 2B
F At E R o B -
HERB - FIRABRE N
BEEMRAMBEENTEA
B 1 3 5% 0 A & 12 4B 1
BH o

(b) HFEBHEE

2016 2015
—E—-XEF —ET—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

The UK 2 275,005,250 —
The USA EH 130,263,211 113,202,174
Mainland China FR B K B 2,033,048 80,988,437
Hong Kong B 168,297 180,622
407,469,806 194,371,233

The non-current asset information above is
based on the locations of the assets and
excludes financial instruments.

Information about a major customer

During the year ended 31 December 2016,

one

(2015: one) customer from the property

management segment, which is a related company
in which two directors of the Company have
beneficial interests, contributed over 10% of

the Group’s total revenue for the year and the

revenue earned from this customer during the year
amounted to HK$18,254,027 (2015: HK$9,808,721).
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. A -Httlf AR =

GAIN

Revenue represents the value of property
management services rendered, net of value added
tax, business tax and government surcharges; and
gross rental income received and receivable from

WAREKRHEMEEERBNER
(HERIBER - X B & BT M
B) UERXKEREMEZHEFPHEE
MEKESWALRE  NREERR

tenants of investment properties, net of business tax

and government surcharges.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gain is as

BFHI I E

WA~ B A RS ST

follows:
2016 2015
—E—XEF —ET—FHF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Revenue PN
Rendering of property EHMEEERY
management services 133,275,941 70,086,033
Gross rental income He U Az 6,902,409 6,723,334
140,178,350 76,809,367
Other income and gain - NS
Bank interest income RITH B U A 1,047,477 313,626
Penalty income from tenants R EMP SRR A 161,693 558,518
Gain on disposal of intangible TEREEENKE
assets — 67,040
Others H1th 281,633 163,040
1,490,803 1,102,224
FINANCE COSTS 6. MBEH
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BRSO mT :
2016 2015
—E—-XF —ET—hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on loans from a BRERENE KT B
shareholder 1,375,925 1,991,112
Interest on bank loans RITERH A 20,514
1,396,439 1,991,112
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7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. RBEHE
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after AEERMEBBEENR (K&E)T
charging/(crediting): 5| & 18
2016 2015
ZB-XRHF —T—A1F
Notes HK$ HK$
B &F BT BT
Cost of property REMEESERBESN
management services BN
rendered 110,746,905 52,789,869
Direct operating expenses AREHA TR E W E
(including repairs and NEEKEER
maintenance) arising from  (BFE & EMRS)
rental-earning investment
properties 723,593 972,007
Depreciation e 12 1,071,297 1,321,371
Less: Included in costof  J& @ st ARG A E
property & 12 AR 7% & BX AR
management
services rendered (715,263) (482,367)
356,034 839,004
Amortisation of intangible & JZ & B # #5*
assets” 14 70,904 425,416
Loss on disposal of items HEYWE - BEK
of property, plant and REBEEBEEE
equipment 13,725 61,442
Minimum lease payments KEHENZEHEE
under operating leases N3 — L REF
in respect of land and
buildings 2,648,177 2,010,677
Employee benefit expense EE®RFER
(including directors’ (B 3E = = 5 B
remuneration (note 8): (MI5E8) :
Salaries, allowances and Fe EREEY
benefits in kind) F 2% ) 36,619,898 22,295,132
Pension scheme RIR & 5T &I K
contributions 11,005,933 5,075,478
47,625,831 27,370,610
Less: Included in costof & @ st AR
property & 12 Bk 7% & B A
management
services rendered (38,138,232) (21,593,859)
9,487,599 5,776,751
Auditor’s remuneration % 8RR B 1,250,000 1,100,000
Impairment of intangible | A ERE
assets™ 14 — 470,744
Impairment of trade EUWE 5 R FOME
receivables 17(b) 1,850,028 403,867
Foreign exchange MEHEZ% 8
differences, net 14,504,187 85,072
Gain on bargain purchase [i B R & EEE B Wt
of subsidiaries* — (6,776,122)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued)

The amortisation and impairment of |ntang|ble
assets are included in “Administrative expenses”
and “Other operating expenses, net” on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
respectively.

v The gain on bargain purchase of subsidiaries
recognised in the prior year arose from the
acquisition of AOCEAN Business Management in
May 2015. AOCEAN Business Management and its
subsidiary (collectively the “AOCEAN Group”) are
engaged in the provision of property management
services for office buildings, residential properties
and car parks in Beijing, the PRC.

In the opinion of the directors, the gain on bargain
purchase of subsidiaries was resulted from
historical financial instability of the AOCEAN Group
which contributed a discount for the consideration.
Further details of the acquisition transaction are
set out in the Company’s circular dated 27 March
2015.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

7. #ﬁﬁuﬁs?a(%a)

B EEREMRED B F AL
EEBERXRENITRER IR
MmEEER  FHE] -

6 RAFERNMBARRERBS
WHE VEEBR_-_Z—HEFH
AWBILLURAREXERER A
Al RRAREEEGRAT
REMBAR(TERAER])
RAEEIEREERRPANE -
EEMEREESREHYEER
AR5 o

EERR WBRAAREBER
g Jh i b SUR T & B E SR B S
BABEMRE - EAKEED
THR - KRBXZFNE - TFE
ERARBAAMAE T -—HF=
AZ+ERAMBEA -

8. EFHMN

BEBLHA(ESF EMBRAT ED
A ~ FBCR A K HI1) 5 383(1)
(@) * (b) * () R(N)EARLA A (HEE
EENZER)BRFDIE2BFEEHK

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of FEESFHMMOT :
the Companies (Disclosure of Information about
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
Group
rEH
2016 2015
—E—REF —ARF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Fees e 665,527 660,000
Other emoluments: Hqth SR BN
Salaries, allowances and e RMNEDN =
benefits in kind 876,570 —
Pension scheme contributions RN T &R 32,277 33,000
908,847 33,000
1,574,374 693,000
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEFHM(ME)
(Continued)
An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a EEEFM(AGERBERE)DTHT -

named basis, is as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2016 BE-Z-—R"E+-H=t—-HLEE
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Name of director Fees in kind contributions remuneration
& 2EA Bk
Esps e ENAE SRS 40 Foh
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$
V¥ V- BT BT
Executive directors: HiTEE .
Mr. Wei Chunxian BHELE 300,000 876,570 15,000 1,191,570
Ms. Liu Shuhua ZhEL L — — — —
Mr. Sun Zhongmin BhREE = = = =
300,000 876,570 15,000 1,191,570

Independent non-executive BLHXHTEE :

directors:
Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric ~ ERE x4 120,000 - 6,000 126,000
Mr. Guan Zheng Michael® BAE K& 24,194 — 1,210 25,404
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiut EXBEE 101,333 — 5,067 106,400
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit RE/EE 120,000 - 5,000 125,000
365,527 — 17,277 382,804
Total st 665,527 876,570 32,277 1,574,374
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2015

RA 35 5 R BT =
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8. EEHM(E)

BEZ-_Z-1f+-HA=+—HLEE

Salaries
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Name of director Fees in kind  contributions  remuneration
e RMM RiKe
EENA we BN & AR & 5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Executive directors: HiTEE .

Mr. Wei Chunxian RAETE 300,000 — 15,000 315,000
Ms. Liu Shuhua ARER T — — — —
Mr. Sun Zhongmin BMREE — = = —
300,000 — 15,000 315,000

Independent non-executive BV HHITEE :

directors:

Mr. Tung Woon Cheung Eric SR %A 120,000 — 6,000 126,000
Mr. Wong Kai Tung Simon* BHEREE 20,000 — 1,000 21,000
Mr. Mak Kwong Yiu EXBEE 120,000 — 6,000 126,000
Mr. Chui Tsan Kit" REHELEE 100,000 — 5,000 105,000
360,000 — 18,000 378,000
Total Bar 660,000 — 33,000 693,000

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year
(2015: Nil).

g Appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 19 October 2016.

Appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 17 February 2015.

¥ Resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 19 October 2016.

Resigned as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 17 February 2015.

FRNEEERELAREREZEAH
ZH(ZT—AF : &) -

6 RZB-—RF+ATLBEEE
RERABILIFRTES o

" RZZE-—RAF-_AT+HEZE
RARNBEULIERITES o

6 R-ZB-—RF+ATABBER
RAVBILIFATESE -

* RZZE-—AF-_ATHHBEEA
RABILIFATES °
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 0. IfiEEFRES
The five highest paid employees during the year ANEE  AlNSESHFEETBEIE—Z
included 1 (2015: 1) director, details of whose —E—RF: —R)EE HEHM
remuneration are set out in note 8 above. Details of AR EXHFES - FAKTHNE (==
the remuneration of the remaining 4 (2015: 4) non- —hF NI EENERSHEE
director, highest paid employees for the year are as ZHEMEBOT
follows:
2016 2015
—E—-REF —E—RF
HK$ HK$
E T T
Salaries, allowances and e REBNEYAN =
benefits in kind 2,446,768 1,546,566
Pension scheme contributions RIKNE T8 5 142,575 126,709
2,589,343 1,673,275
The remuneration of each of the non-director, RAFEREF  FHEEFERTE
highest paid employees for the current year and the 8 M B <9 8 & =1,000,0007% 7T &Y
prior year fell within the band of nil to HK$1,000,000. E// e
10. INCOME TAX 10. Fie#R
An analysis of the Group’s income tax is as follows: AEBRESCEEBKNMER o0
™~
2016 2015
—E-RF T —A1F
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current — Mainland China EH — B Rk 1,897,548 2,254,652
Current — USA B — = 124,267 28,446
Deferred (note 25) BRI (ffi125) 122,323 (2,544,769)
Total tax expense/(credit) ANEERBER,(HERE)
for the year 1B ER 2,144,138 (261,671)
No provision for Hong Kong and the UK profits tax RAEAFERN AR AEBTEELS(T
has been made as the Group did not generate any MREERERESENETRFE -
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong and the UK At - Wt EH B & BB AR g
during the year (2015: Nil). EHE( T —RF | o

180 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016



10.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX (Continued)

The PRC corporate income tax provision in respect
of operations in Mainland China is calculated at the
applicable tax rates on the estimated assessable
profits for the year based on the prevailing
legislation, interpretations and practices in respect
thereof.

The USA corporate income tax provision
represented withholding tax provision calculated
at the applicable tax rate on interest income for
the current year in respect of certain intra-group
advances to a subsidiary in the USA, based on
existing legislation, interpretations and practices in
respect thereof.

A reconciliation of the tax expense/(credit)
applicable to profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory
rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company
and majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax expense/(credit) at the effective tax rates, and
a reconciliation of the applicable rates (i.e., the
statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as
follows:

10.

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

Fris iR (&)

REEA T EAREEEEL 0T E
1 3 FFF 15 B4 4 48 R A 51 A SR 0B =t
2 TREEMORTAR  RERN
MEER  RRERNEE -

AERXBEOERMEHEBERMBK
TR - RAXBEHRBRREHNE
BARRRBRAFERFNBWAD
BRREFR  AREBEENRTE
® BENEEER  RREAHE

HE .
A Ean

BEERAREARREAS BB A
R AE MO TR R O BB R
(BB M EEREHEHOHES
B/ (%)  BEREERRHEHY
BEIE % A0 B - SA R PR 2K (B
EERE)NEREHEOHEDT -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET
31 December 2016 —E—A~F+=H=1+—H

INCOME TAX (Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2016

10.

10. PR8I (#8)

BE-_Z-A"5+-A=+—-HLFE

Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
R HE KK 28 %8 &t
HK$ % HK$ % HK$ % HK$ % HK$ %
V-7 V-2 Ax A7 A7
Profit/(loss) before tax fanas/
(BR) (23,746,629) 4,500,484 (5,672,684) (9,756,202) (34,675,031)
Tax expense/(credit) BEEHEGER
at the statutory tax rate RERS/
(£5) (3,918,194) 165 1,125,121 5.0 (2,269,074) 400 (1,951,240) 200 (7,013,387) 202
Income not subject fotax  EARH KA (772,185) 33 (612489)  (136)  (78,584) 14 (54501) 06 (1517,719) 44
Expenses not deductible R A EAKER
for tax 88 4,690,339 (19.8) 549,286 122 = = 5,200 (0.0) 5,244,915 (15.1)
Effect of the PRC withholding & BB % X &
tax on rental income from  RANENAE
investment properties WAfEE - - 53,916 1.2 - - - - 53,916 (0.2)
Effectof withholding tax ~ BHHKHEEEHE
on interest income B S WA
derived from the USA £+ - - - — 124,267 (22) - — 124,267 (0.4)
Effect of the PRC HEMBARZ
withholding tax on REBENH
disposal of subsidiaries VA7 1 - - 396,000 8.8 - - - - 396,000 (1.1)
Tax losses not recognised ~ AEZHEEE = — 508037 13 2,347,658 (414) 2,000,451 (205) 4,856,146 (140)
Tax expense at the Group's  RAZBRBH X
effective tax rate TENREER - — 201987 49 124,267 (2.2) - — 2,144,138 (6.2)
Year ended 31 December 2015 BZE-ZE—FRFE+-_B=1+—-HLEE
Hong Kong Mainland China The USA The UK Total
&k R E AR * ES At
HK$ % HK$ % HK$ % HK$ % HK$ %
A1 BT BT BT BT
Loss before tax HAEEE (14,124,082) (3,440,342) (849,607) - (18,414,031)
Tax credit at the statutory A EHZHEH
fax rate BEES (2,330,474) 165 (860,086) 250 (339843) 400 - —  (3530,403) 192
Income not subject totax ~ EEBBEMA (1,816) —  (233,995) 6.8 - - - —  (285811) 13
Expenses not deductible T &K B
for tax 1] 2,332,290 (165) 254,101 (74 91,83 (108) - — 2678207 (145)
Effect of the PRC withholding F BB %k &
tax on rental income from  RENENAE
investment properties KA — — 87,690 (2.5) - - - — 87,690 (0.5)
Effect of withholding tax BNREGEER
on interest income derived  #1F| 8 A K
from the USA ye - - - 28446 (33) - — 8 02)
Tax losses not recognised ~ REAHBER - — 462173 (13.4) 248,007 (29.2) = — 710,180 (39)
Tax expense/(credit) BRAEEERH X
at the Group’s SENREER
effective tax rate /(58) - — (2%0117) 84 28446 (33) - — (o61671) 14

182 GR PROPERTIES LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2016



11.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount
is based on the loss for the year attributable to
shareholders of the Company of HK$36,819,169
(2015: HK$18,152,360), and the weighted average
number of 860,106,548 (2015: 577,302,906 after
taking into account the effect of a rights issue
completed in November 2015) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

In respect of the diluted loss per share amounts,
no adjustment has been made to the basic loss
per share amounts presented as the Group had no
potentially dilutive shares in issue during each of
the years ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

11.

B 35 5 R BT o

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

BERAELFRRAOTREG
"

EREAEESEDRELATER
B AR IR R/ E1836,819,1697%8
T(ZZE—FR%F 18,152,360/ 7T) °
LARRAFENRNE 37780
159 £1860,106,548f% (—ZF — L 4F :
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31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 12. MR WBBERBRE
EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings improvements  equipment vehicles Total
HENE GA - 2EAN
& %8 BOERRK RE ait
Notes HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Mz V-1 V-1 V-3 V-3 V-3
Year ended 31 December 2016 HZ-F-x%+=A
St-BLEE
At 1 January 2016: RZF-7E-A-R:
Cost A 3,900,656 610,154 3,412,431 4,420,251 12,343,492
Accumulated depreciation 2i1E (1282,139)  (563,191)  (2,074610)  (2795250)  (6,715,190)
Net carrying amount KEFE 2,618,517 46,963 1,337,821 1,625,001 5,628,302
Net carrying amount; BEFE:
At 1 January 2016 RZE-~5-A-A 2,618,517 46,963 1,337,821 1,625,001 5,628,302
Additions Em - - 745,899 - 745,899
Depreciation provided AEHRENE
during the year 7 (96,928) (46,836) (560,917) (366,616) (1,071,297)
Disposals & - - (13,725) - (13,725)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKBAT 29 (2,464,815) (68) (619645  (281,804)  (3,366,332)
Exchange realignment EiRE (56,774) (59) (54,312) (82,353) (193,498)
At 31 December 2016 \ZE-RE
+ZA=1+-H - - 835,121 894,228 1,729,349
At 31 December 2016: RZF-7
tZR=1-H
Cost A - 220,855 2,726,666 3,316,106 6,263,627
Accumulated depreciation 2 e - (220,855)  (1,891,545)  (2,421,878)  (4,534,278)
Net carrying amount BHFE - - 835,121 894,228 1,729,349
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= M T
31 December 2016 —F—A~FE+=-HA=+—H

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 12. V¥ BEREKMW(E)
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings  improvements equipment vehicles Total
BENE &l %XEA
BT kB HAERE A8 CH
Notes HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
Mz AT AT AT AT AT
Year ended 31 December 2015 HZ-ZF-7f+=F
St-ALEE
At 1 January 2015: R-E-1F-H-R:
Cost KA 4,082,371 627,794 934303 2499605 8,144,073
Accumulated depreciation 2ithE (1,137,750) (387,333) (355,686) (1,759,104) (3,639,873)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,944,621 240,461 578,617 740,501 4,504,200
Net carrying amount: RETE:
At 1 January 2015 R-Z-1%-A—-H 2,944 621 240,461 578,617 740,501 4,504,200
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAR - - 1,154,750 1,626,703 2,781,453
Additions 21 — — 110,351 — 110,351
Depreciation provided during ~ REFRMTE
the year 7 (201,439) (191,951) (369,901) (558,080)  (1,321,371)
Disposals e = = (61,442) = (61,442)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBRA 29 = = (15,602) (97,527) (113,129)
Exchange realignment ERAE (124,665) (1,547) (58,952) (86,596) (271 760)
At 31 December 2015 RZB-0%
TZA=1-H 2,618,517 46,963 1,337,821 1,625,001 5,628,302
At 31 December 2015: RZZ-0%
T-B=t+-R:
Cost KA 3,900,656 610154 3412431 4420251 12,343,492
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (1,282,139) (563,191)  (2,074,610)  (2,795,250)  (6,715,190)
Net carrying amount BEFE 2,618,517 46,963 1,337,821 1,625,001 5,628,302
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31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

(a)

The Group’s completed investment properties as
at 31 December 2016 represent an office building
in London, the UK, which is leased to third parties
under operating leases, further summary details
of which are included in note 31(a) to the financial
statements.

The Group’s investment property under
construction as at 31 December 2016 represents
a portion of a commercial and residential complex
(the “US Complex”) currently being developed by
the Group on a parcel of land located in Santa
Monica, the County of Los Angeles, State of
California, the USA, which would be leased out for
rental income upon completion of the construction
of the US Complex.
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(a)

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. BREME
Under
Completed construction Total
2% K EES &5t
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Carrying amount RZZE—hR&E—H—H
as at 1 January 2015 ZERMEE 95,069,001 — 95,069,001
Additions N — 113,165,496 113,165,496
Net loss from fair value NEFERAEEAD
adjustments R (15,988,119) — (15,988,119)
Exchange realignment PE 5 58 & (3,723,292) (17,518)  (3,740,810)
Carrying amount R-ZT—HEF
as at 31 December 2015 +=—A=+—H8kK
and 1 January 2016 —ET—R"F¥—HA—H
7 BR T B 75,357,590 113,147,978 188,505,568
Additions N 290,186,142 17,001,719 307,187,861
Net loss from a fair value ANEERAEELEW
adjustment FE1E (9,154,894) —  (9,154,894)
Disposal of subsidiaries i & B B 2 A
(note 29) (Pt 7E29) (73,678,066) — (73,678,066)
Exchange realignment PE 5 & (7,705,522) 44,083 (7,661,439)
Carrying amount —E-RE+=A
as at 31 December 2016 = +t—HBME®EE 275,005,250 130,193,780 405,199,030
Notes: Htat -

R-—ZT—x&E+-_A=+—8"
AEBMEBEKNEEMERER
WMBN—ERREEY - ZME
NEEBEnEABEE=F "
BHANBEERE SR AR
=i sE31(a) °

R—FB-—ARFEF+=-_HA=+—8 "
AEBEZTHNRENERASE
| 1E £ — & iz 7 35 B A0 A 48 e 28
MELBRERRERT 2 LHER
ME DB ESAME(EBES
MED REBEAVERET
REKE - £ & HHE X ERE
WA -



13.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. _EVER(E)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) et - (&)

(b)

The Group’s completed investment properties
were revalued on 31 December 2016 based
on valuations performed by Gerald Eve LLP,
independent professionally qualified valuers,
at £28,750,000 (equivalent to HK$275,005,250).
Each year, the Group’s senior management
decides which external valuer to be appointed
for the external valuations of the Group’s
investment properties. Selection criteria include
market knowledge, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The
Group’s senior management has ongoing
discussions with the valuer on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed.

Investment properties under construction are
measured at cost as at 31 December 2016 as, in
the opinion of the directors, the fair value cannot
be determined reliably with reference to latest
available status of the construction.

Fair value hierarchy disclosure

At 31 December 2016, fair value measurement of
the Group’s completed investment properties are
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) as
defined in HKFRS 13. During the year, there was no
transfer into or out of Level 3.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques
used and the key inputs to the valuation of the
Group’s completed investment properties:

(b)

RZF-—R"F+=ZA=+—
B "&£ BEERBNIEED
¥ HBILEES KM MEGerald

Eve LLPETHHBEETE 5
fit 1B /3 28,750,000 & £ (48 & H
275,005,250 Jt) o BF + A&
EeRERERTEEW— R
BEEMEBEEAEEREME
RN EE - R LR BEMS
ME - BUMRRSHEFEEK
EoAEERREDREHGERM
FETHERBETRGEERRK
REEER -

R-_ZE—X"F+=-_A=+—8 "
EREPREMELRKANGTE  Tb
HREERA 2ZEETEN
BEHMAMNER  AFETETSE
e E ©

AT EERFKE

R=_ZE—X"F+=-_A=+—8 "
AEBERERKBREMENRAFE
FERNFRHEARTIHEREAE
(BZBR)(EXRBBMBRE
AERIE135R) - RAFER e
BAFEHE=EBRNRFE

= °

NTERAREEEEXRKRE D
HEMRANGEERTREEZS
ANENBE

Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
fit B & 9l EXTAEEBAE BAEEE
2016 2015
—E-RE “E-I1f
Office building — Income (i) Capitalisation rate 4.28% t0 5.61% —
capitalisation (%)
MRARERE —RAERLE () BRMEE(%) 4.28%%5.61%

(i) Annual unit market
rent per month

(iy BRAEFEMMS
e

£35 — £42.5 per —
square metre of
gross floor area
B¥H K
BEEEE
BEREE
42 55 8
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET
31 December 2016 —E—A~F+=H=1+—H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

13. |EBEWMRA)

Brat - (%)

(b) (Continued) (b) (#&)
Fair value hierarchy disclosure (Continued) BHFE(E)
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range of input
it B & 9l EXTABEERAE WAEEE
2016 2015
ZE-RE —E-RF
Shops, storerooms (i) Capitalisation rate — 7.5%
and car parking (%)
spaces — Income
capitalisation
B REER () BXRHLE(%)
FEL —WAZRE
(i) Annual unit market — RMB69 —
rent per month RMB255 per

(iy BABFEM
misHe

The income capitalisation approach is applied
based on net rental income that can be derived
from existing tenancies with due allowance for the
reversionary potential of the properties.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated
rental value and the market rent growth rate per
annum in isolation would result in a significant
increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and
the discount rate in isolation would result in a
significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of
the investment properties. Generally, a change in
the assumption made for the estimated rental value
is accompanied by a directionally similar change in
the rent growth per annum and the discount rate and
an opposite change in the long term vacancy rate.
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square metre

of gross floor area
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. MBEYE(E)

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued) KiaE - (&)

(c) At 31 December 2016, the Group’s investment (c) RZE—RF+_A=+—H -
properties were pledged to secure bank facilities BERAEENREDEEARET
granted to the Group (2015: Nil) (notes 23(a) and NREBNRITHREZER(ZE
(b)) —RF : ) (MiE23(a) k(b)) °

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14. BB E
Hotel
management Property Computer
right use rights software Total
EEEERE NEFERE ERBH &3
Note HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
k3 BT A7 BT B
Year ended 31 December 2016 EZ-Z—~E+-F
S+-ALEE

At 1 January 2016: RZE-"E-HA-R:

Cost A - - 11,909 11,909
Accumulated amortisation R — = (1,311) (1,311)
Net carrying amount EHFE - - 10,598 10,598
Net carrying amount: REFE :
At 1 January 2016 W=E—7~E-—HA—H - - 10,598 10,598
Additions NE - - 622,255 622,255
Amortisation provided REFHRE
during the year 7 — — (70,904) (70,904)
Exchange realignment B 5 A - - (20,522) (20,522)
At 31 December 2016 RZE-RE
+-A=+—-H - - 541,427 541,427
At 31 December 2016: RZE-RE
TZA=1+-R:
Cost AR - - 606,457 606,457
Accumulated amortisation 2 EH - - (65,030) (65,030)
Net carrying amount FEFE - - 541,427 541,427
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 14, EREE ()
Hotel
management Property Computer
right use rights software Total
BEEERE  NERRE BREH o
Notes HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
hiit BT B BT BT
(notes (a) (notes (b)
and (c)) and (c))
(Hi#a)R(c) (H#b)E(c)
Year ended 31 December 2015 HZ-F-Ff+=F
ST-ALEE
At 1 January 2015; RZE-15-A-H:
Cost KR 5221238 15,226,528 — 20,447,766
Accumulated amortisation and ~ ZE# RAE
impairment — (874,370) — (874,370)
Net carrying amount RERE 5221238 14,352,158 — 19,573,396
Net carrying amount: RERE -
At 1 January 2015 \ZF-n%-A-H 5,221,238 14,352,158 — 19,573,396
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEREAR - = 11,809 11,809
Amortisation provided REHREH
during the year 7 — (424,523) (893) (425,416)
Impairment provided REERENAE
during the year 7 (470,744) — — (470,744)
Disposals vk — (13,592,480 — (13,592,480
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAA 29 (4,662,220) — — (4,662,220)
Exchange realignment R H% (88,274) (335,155) (318) (423,747)
At 31 December 2015 RZZ—HF
+-A=+—-H - = 10,598 10,598
At 31 December 2015 RZZ—1F
+-A=f+-H
Cost AR - - 11,909 11,909
Accumulated amortisation 25T — — (1,311) (1,311)
Net carrying amount REFE = — 10,598 10,598
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14.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

In prior years, the Group entered into a hotel
management contract with an independent third
party (the “Grantor”) to acquire a 10-year hotel
management right for a cash consideration of
RMB4,180,000 (equivalent to HK$5,059,388, at
the then exchange rate). Pursuant to the hotel
management contract, the Grantor granted a 10-
year hotel management right to the Group to
manage the operation of a hotel (the “Hotel”) which
was owned and built by the Grantor. In return, the
Group was entitled to receive 2% of the revenue
generated by the Hotel as management income
for 10 years from the date of commencement of
operation of the Hotel.

The hotel management right was derecognised in
2015 upon disposal of 100% equity interest in Vast
Glory Investment Limited by the Group in 2015,
as further detailed in note 29(b) to the financial
statements.

The amount in 2015 represented investments
in two private entities established in the PRC.
Based on the relevant agreements for these two
investments, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the two investments are, in
substance, the procurement by the Group of
the rights of occupation and use, the rights to
receive rental income and the rights of disposal
for certain portions of their properties located in
Fujian Province, the PRC. Accordingly, the two
investments were accounted for as intangible
assets in accordance with HKAS 38.

On 22 October 2015, the Group entered into
two share transfer agreements with a third
party independent of the Group and a minority
shareholder of the Company, respectively, to
dispose of the investments in the above-mentioned
two private entities for cash considerations of
RMB7,000,000 (equivalent to HK$8,537,200) and
RMB4,200,000 (equivalent to HK$5,122,320),
respectively. These transactions were completed
on 26 October 2015.

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

14. #&f

Kiaz -

(a)

BE (W)

RUAREE  ASEHEH—ZBL
E=ZAURFADEY —BE
BE4 BESREBARE
4,180,000 7t (4R #& & BF &9 [E = -
12 75,059,388 7T ) W BE 104
HAEEEE BREBEBEEES
B BTFTARAEBER TFI10FH
BEEEE UWEEBEBRERETAR
BEEEEZRH —FBE(DE
EDOEEEK - fFREHK - K
CEEEERBERREEAR
104F A JE BT Bk EX A9 U A U8 B 2%
WEERA o

I

i
o

RZZE—AF ERAEER=-F
—AAHERKEEERAAD
100% M A g - BEEEED
K IEHER  BREE—FPFBER
BB 7% @R & Kl 5E29(b) -

—E-RFABcBERYMELE
PERZINTAERBNRE - 1R
BZMBEKRENEEABE AR
AEERR ZMAKREEL L
RSB EGSE A R ER %M E
PRABRBURNTEBREENYE
METEHONERN BKREES
WA R RER - A R i H B e
oo Bk ZMBAKREREBEEE
BRI EAFEBRIERBINEEX

H o
ZAF

R=ZZFE—RE+A=-+=H &
EESREBINANEENE =
Vi WNGIRE Y 8 8 S VA
BERMHEZRSE UK LLRM
BELABERNRELE  E#F
£ RED F A AR E7,000,0007T
(12 78,537,2008 7T) I A R #&
4,200,000 7T (#8 5 75,122,320 7%
L) c ZERGERNR _T—AF
+A -+ NHZEKX °
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31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

14.

15.

16.

17.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 14. |\ E ()

Notes: (Continued) Kzt - (&)

(c) On the respective dates of disposal, the Group (c) REBLHERN  XEBEE -
determined the recoverable amounts of the RAEMAETEBORERBEE
investments in two private entities and the hotel BEOTKREERERFER
management right based on fair value less costs LEEREE EDUABBILE
of disposal, which were estimated by valuations EEARGHEMBRERRETHGBE
performed by DTZ Cushman & Wakefield, BEr - RBEFE  BHRBEE
independent professionally qualified valuers. An BEENEAEBERETKE &
impairment loss of HK$470,744 was recognised B A UL R (E BT 470,744
during the prior year since the carrying amount JC °©
of the hotel management right exceeds its
recoverable amount.

PROPERTIES UNDER 15. ERPYME

DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development of the Group as at R-ZE—XRNFE+-_A=+—8 ' &&

31 December 2016 represented a portion of the US BMERAMELAZTBREAME(TE

Complex (as defined in note 13(a)) which would be AW sF13(a) M —3 5 » RERLR

held for sale upon completion of the construction EYMERETIRETKE  Efels

of the US Complex. At 31 December 2016, such ERE -RZE—ARF+_A=+—
properties were pledged to secure a bank loan H BERZEVEERETARFZ
facility granted to the Group (note 23(b)). RITER@E 2 ER(HiE23(b)) -

INVENTORIES 16. &

Inventories represented spares used for daily FENHEAEERERAEEREE

maintenances of properties managed by the Group. ZERRBZEH -

TRADE RECEIVABLES 17. BB SRR

2016 2015

—E—XF —ET—hF

HK$ HK$

E T BT

Trade receivables JEUE 5 Bk 3K 26,265,656 25,138,080
Less: Impairment (note (b)) W ORE (BT AEb)) (5,949,514) (4,469,160)
20,316,142 20,668,920
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing and
arise from the provision of property management
services and leasing of investment properties.
Tenants of the Group’s managed properties
are required to pay a calendar year’s property
management service fees annually in advance.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables that are
not individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired is as follows:

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

17. B R HER:(#E)

Kiaz -

(a)

W B BRI AT at B RN H
MEEERBLEEREDER
EX HPEARBXAEEEREZ2Y
X ABFRN-—ABF2YME
EERGER -

I 48 4% 18 5l b = B8 PR E A RUE
Z BB SR REDOTT

2016 2015

—E—-RE —T—hF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Past due: B A

Less than 1 year D15 15,164,691 13,927,350

1 year to 2 years 1524 4,287,886 5,659,072

2 years to 3 years 2FEIF 863,565 1,082,498
20,316,142 20,668,920

The Group’s credit terms for its property
management service fees and rental income are
negotiated with and entered into under normal
commercial terms with its tenants. Since the Group
has a large number of tenants with individually
insignificant trade receivables balances,
impairment assessment of these trade receivables
is based on a collective assessment of individual
tenants with similar characteristics and credit
history, which indicate that trade receivables which
are less than one year past due are not considered
impaired. At 31 December 2016, trade receivables
of HK$5,151,451 (2015: HK$6,741,570), net of
provision for impairment, were past due over one
year but not impaired according to collective
assessment policy adopted by the management.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over these balances.

AREBYESERBERHES I
ANEERREREEMAFER
B—REEIERET Y - BRAE
ERFAZRZ MHAFEED
BESREBREBERT FEKX
It ZEEWRE SRR R E T
HRBEFGEREELRFEUNE
R EMERBTEmET  HE
RNEE L ERERE S ERT
RERE R-_ZT—X~E+_-A
=+—H BEEEERMANE
B2 ST {H B R 0 5,151,451 ;o (=
T—RE 6,741,570/ 7T) U FE I
BRI GNBRREEE) B@H
BEIFETERE - AEELR
B ohiE R BRI T A HE 4 S sk
Hfthfs AR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET
31 December 2016 —E—A~F+=H=1+—H

17. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

The movements in the Group’s provision for

17. BB SER(E)

HiaE -

(b)

RAEFEERN  ARBEREE S K

impairment of trade receivables during the year are FTREEENEFHOT
as follows:
2016 2015
ZE-RF —T—AfF
HK$ HK$
E BT
At beginning of year REH 4,469,160 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries g = NG — 4,276,505
Impairment during the year RAFEEEZF
recognised in profit or loss, net WRERE - FHE
(note 7) (K17%7) 1,850,028 403,867
Exchange realignment ME 5, o8 & (369,674) (211,212)
At end of year RER 5,949,514 4,469,160

The above provision for impairment of trade
receivables represented provision for impaired
trade receivables assessed collectively
with an aggregate gross carrying amount of
HK$11,075,902 (2015: HK$10,774,678) as at
31 December 2016.

The collectively impaired trade receivables relate
to customers that were in default in settlement of
trade receivables for a long period of time and
only a portion of the receivables is expected to be
recovered. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over these balances.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables
are amounts due from related companies of
HK$734,636 (2015: HK$2,978,467), which are
repayable on credit terms similar to those offered
to other tenants of the Group. Messrs. Wei
Chunxian and Sun Zhongmin, both being directors
of the Company, have beneficial interests in these
related companies.

At 31 December 2016, trade receivables of
HK$314,711 (2015: Nil) in total were pledged to
secure a bank loan facility granted to the Group
(note 23(a)).
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HERBIHEEARLES XA
11,075,902 T(Z T — A F :
10,774,678 7T) °

SROEBAREZEKE SHHRE
EHERERESHEAZEFPA
B 2R REGRIRTRET S A
Ym - REBIORE B E LR TR
FEEMER @A EERER -

NEBBEWRE S KK B EER
BEHHNEEE734,6368 L (=%
— R4 :2,978,4678 L) - W HEIL
BEURANEBMEAMER AR
HOEHGERERZ BRgELE
FERREEMBAEARRAIES)
RZEEERRBEERSERS -

R—ZE—XRNE+-_A=+—8 "
B RERKEREFT3I47118 T
(ZZ—F2F : T)EFIEAL
CEEERBITERRE 2R
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18.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCES WITH RELATED
COMPANIES

The balances with related companies are
unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.

(a) Due from related companies

Amounts due from related companies,
disclosed pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information
about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, are

B 35 5 R BT o

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

18. EREXFIMREER

HERERRN GRS EER - 28

(a) EBHREBEEQARE

BIEE B a5 F] )5 383(1)
(AIERCAR(HEEEF =
BRD) B OIYE I E 1 W
BEARRENT :

as follows:
Maximum Maximum
amount At 31 amount
outstanding ~ December outstanding
At 31 during 2015 and during At
December  the current 1 January the prior 1 January
Company name 2016 year 2016 year 2015
RZB-1E
t=A
ZE-RE =t-HR B
tZA XE5EBS Z%-KF FERS R-F-I%
NEAER =t-B AEESE -B-B #HELE -A-H
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT AT BT AT
Beijing RH Central Hotel ~ t REAE X /5
Management Company ~ EEBR A
Limited” — 282,594 257,815 282,594 —
Beijing Guorui Property ~ tREHEHERE
Development Company ~ BB AAEHEEE
Limited Jinan Branch* DRF 1,352,838 3,205,821 690,682 5,580,772 —
Beiling Guolong Property It REIEE ¥
Company Limited* BRAT 170,332 1,671,801 201,475 201,475 —
Beiling Guorui Jinding IREHEEN TR
Kindergarten® 44175 44 175 — — —
1,567,345 1,149,972 —

* For identification purposes only

* EREF
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

18. BALANCES WITH RELATED
COMPANIES (Continued)

(a) Due from related companies (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Two directors of the Company, namely
Messrs. Wei Chunxian and Sun Zhongmin,
have beneficial interests in these related
companies.

(i) The natures of the amounts due from
related companies are certain property
management service fee income, car park
management service fee income received
on behalf of the Group by the related
companies and certain miscellaneous
expenses paid on behalf of the related
companies by the Group.

(b) Due to related companies

Included in the balance as at 31 December
2016 are payables of HK$5,601,350 (2015:
HK$2,024,923) due to owners of certain
properties managed by the Group in respect
of certain cost of property management
services paid by the owners on behalf of
the Group. Two directors of the Company,
namely Messrs. Wei Chunxian and Sun
Zhongmin, have beneficial interests in the
owners of these properties.
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18. BMEAELXTIMEER(K)

(a)

(b)

FE W B8 3 1 ] 7R A ()
Wit -

(i) AABMEBEZFRMESR
ERBRHNREEEZSH
BARTHEAE@D R °

(ii) FEURBAE A RIRIEM £ E
7B E D R A 5 B YR
WETYEBEREREEK
AREFEESEERSEE K
AR KRAREEREERA
XEETFHERS -

EABERATRE
R—ZZE—R"FEF+=-_A=+—
H #HeRiAEE8mER
METWENHERSARERSE
B HETUEEEREK
AN ENEBEAR AN FRIE
5,601,350 L (ZF — A F :
2,024,923 70) ° NR A W&
EF ARG ETEREMFRR
EERZENENZERE A
FHEE TSR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND 19. EEHBITERRAERE
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TR
2016 2015
—E—RE —E—AF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Cash and bank balances BREHFEFINNRES R
other than a time deposit RIT M B2 247,494,649 243,060,265
Time deposit 7E Hi 77 3K 38,800,000 —
Total cash and bank balances Be RIBITHE AT 286,294,649 243,060,265

Less: Pledged bank deposit
(note (c))

Cash and cash equivalents

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2016, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$90,553,827(2015: HK$86,137,395). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct

foreign exchange business.

(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based
on daily bank deposit rates. A short term time
deposit was made for a period of twelve months,
and earns interest at the short term time deposit
rate. The bank balances and pledged bank deposit
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no

recent history of default.

(c) At 31 December 2016, a bank deposit of
US$5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$38,800,000)
(2015: Nil) was pledged to a bank for the issuance
of a standby letter of credit in respect of future
settlement to a contractor for the construction of

the US Complex.

B BRI ER
Hiaz(c)
HENBELEEY

(38,800,000) —

247,494,649

243,060,265

Hrat

(a)

RZEBE—XR&E+=_A=+—8 "
AEBRAARBIENRS RIR
17 4% #2 1 90,553,827 T (= &
— f 4 :86,137,395% T) ° &
EAREGEHEHEMERARE
BoEEREBEFBEAEANREA
R £ 0 B 9 B & 1R 1 ) R A5 BE
EERNEEERTE  AEET
BB EEETINEERNET
BARBHBREMEE o

RITEFEFRREES HRITERA
EABEZFHFEFE - HHE
HERZEFREA @A &
BRZEHEMERNEFE -
RITHEBREBRRITFERIDF
WY EEENZEMAEED
RAT ©

R-—TE—X"E+-_A=+—8"
$R 17 77 3¢ 5,000,000 %= Jt (HH & »
38,800,000 L) (=T — A F :
)M FET - LS E A&
PEBREEEEGRANERE
ITRELHEEERK -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

20. TRADE PAYABLES 20.

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and the
average credit period is 30 days. An aged analysis
of the Group’s trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

BB HER

R E SERTES - HEHEEY
RB30F - IREHEEH - NIBEH
K AEREENE S ERNER DI
m

follows:
2016 2015
= S —F-EF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within 3 months 318 AR 18,242,520 5,845,702
3 to 6 months 3Z618 A 1,201,169 664,092
6 to 12 months 6= 121E A 3,252,316 2,277,110
Over 1 year 1F LA £ 751,095 1,674,445
23,447,100 10,461,349

21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 21. HftlEf S EIEE H

2016 2015
—E—-XRE —E—hEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Other payables E fth JE S 3 24,161,634 31,825,692
Accruals JEiR & M 8,382,299 7,388,822
32,543,933 39,214,514

The Group’s other payables as at 31 December
2016 included, inter alia, the following:

(i) amounts of HK$7,611,342 (2015:
HK$9,704,962) in total payable to water,
heating and electricity suppliers in respect of
public utility fees collected from tenants on
behalf of public utility suppliers; and

(ii) refundable decoration deposits and property
management service fee deposits of
HK$13,202,762 (2015: HK$11,410,188) in
total received from tenants of a commercial
building and residential properties.
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R—ZTE—XNE+=-_F=+—H  &&
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(i) FERERK BRKREIFKIE
AH76113428B L (ZF— 1
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FA &8 A TR A BB AR L e
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23.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 35 ok P ot

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER 22. EFBEERFHIA
The balance with a shareholder as at 31 December BERZZE—RNF+_A=+—H
2016 is unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed ZESREERE GENERTER
terms of repayment. Hy o
BANK BORROWINGS 23. SRITHER
Effective
interest
rate Maturity 2016 2015
BERRAE FAMA Z—ZT-RFE Z—T—RF
Notes (%) HK$ HK$
iz (%) B BT
Current R
Bank loan - secured BOER—BHER (a) 2.76% 2017 132,264,315 —
ZE—tF
Non-current 3 B
Bank loan - secured BOER—BER (b) 4.75% 2018 5,267,688 —
—E-N\F
137,532,003 —
Analysed into ERNFBAINA
amount repayable:
Within one year or —FENFEEX 132,264,315 —
on demand
In the second year EF 5,267,688 =
137,532,003 —
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

23.

24.

BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 23. BIRBITHMR(E)

Notes: Htat -

(a) At 31 December 2016, the Group had a bank (a) R=ZFE—XR"F+=_A=+—8"
loan facility of US$20 million or its equivalent in 7N & B # A& 20,000,000 3 7T sk &
other currencies, of which £13,875,000 had been ENEMEBHNRITERRE
utilised as at that date, for financing the purchase HE 413,875,000 R EE RN BB E
of an office building in London, the UK (completed HEGAPRARNE(ERIKREDY
investment properties). The bank loan facility is X)EAHH - RITEZRBEHAL
secured by the Group’s completed investment SE D% TIRE Y (K 5E13(c))
properties (note 13(c)) and trade receivables of RE S EWBFKIEI47T11E (=
HK$314,711 (2015: Nil) (note 17(d)). The bank loan T—RF : T)(MaFE17(d)) 1EEK
facility contains a repayable on demand clause. HoRITERBERTERERE

BN o

(b) At 31 December 2016, the Group had another bank (b) R=ZFE—XR"F+=_A=+—8"
loan facility of US$18 million, of which US$679,281 K& B 5 4NFE A 18,000,000 % T
had been utilised as at that date, for financing the EXmE  HF679281EF T2
construction cost of the US Complex. The bank REERGAEREEZER AR
loan facility is guaranteed by the Company and EEHHAH AKEBEETERA
secured by the Group’s investment property under AR EREAAEEBEZE =
construction and properties under development T-AF+ZA=+—HHE
with carrying amounts as at 31 December & 9 5 & 130,193,780 7 T &
2016 of HK$130,193,780 and HK$104,716,441, 104,716,441 B T EEF R ER
respectively. R EYEELER o

(c) The bank borrowings as at 31 December 2016 were (c) R—_E—XRNE+=-_A=+—8 "
denominated in the following currencies: MITERATIEEFE :

2016 2015
ZE-KEF —T—AHF
HK$ HK$
£ 3 132,264,315 —
uss$ ETT 5,267,688 —
137,532,003 —
LOAN FROM A SHAREHOLDER 24, BRERBBHER

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated
28 July 2016 and a supplemental agreement
dated 24 August 2016 entered into between the
Company and Wintime, the immediate holding
company, Wintime granted a shareholder’s loan
facility of HK$250,000,000 (or its equivalent in £)
to the Company, of which £6,425,000 (equivalent
to HK$61,458,337) had been utilised as at
31 December 2016. The shareholder’s loan bears
interest at the rate of 2% per annum, and is
repayable in 3 years from the date of drawndown
of the shareholder’s loan or such other date agreed
between Wintime and the Company.
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BEARAGEARBHEEERA A
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“HNBEZRREREREEREEAE =
T—RNEFENAZ+HEHB 2R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 25. EERBAR
The movements in deferred tax liabilities of the NTRASERLEHIBEEENESS
Group are as follows: o
Arising from
revaluation
of investment
Notes properties
Wi EEXEBREMEER
HK$
E T
At 1 January 2015 R=ZZE—RF—HA—H 15,138,765
Net deferred tax credited to profit 7~ B &8 25 1 54 #9
or loss during the year RIEB I F 10 (2,544,769)
Exchange realignment ME X 5 B (592,934)
At 31 December 2015 and RZZE—RAF+=ZA=+—H
1 January 2016 T —XR"F—H—H 12,001,062
Net deferred tax charged to profit Zx #8285t A B9
or loss during the year iR 3E B T8 % FR 10 122,323

Disposal of subsidiaries & B B A A 29 (11,853,913)

Exchange realignment & o 38 & (269,472)

At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF+ZHA=+—H =

Notes: Kt -

(a) At 31 December 2016, deferred tax assets have (a) R—_E—XRNE+-_A=+—8 "
not been recognised in respect of unutilised tax HRBEEEBEENAQARE TH
losses of HK$23,218,284 (2015: HK$10,869,368) BRAAIEEE —RER mAM
as they have arisen in the Company and certain SFTETKAIEELERNIEEE B
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some MEEENEHRIE Bk
time and it is not probable that taxable profits will Bt R A A B 5 B 18 23,218,284 7%
be available against which such tax losses can (=% — A % :10,869,368 /&
be utilised. Out of this amount, no tax loss (2015: T)IERELEMRBEE - £%2 28
HK$462,173) will expire in one to five years. do mBEIEBEE(ZZE - AF

462 173B L) B ER —ERHF A
FHf o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
M= MET
31 December 2016 —E—A~F+=H=1+—H

25. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

Pursuant to the PRC corporate income tax law,
a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland
China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied
if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the
Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008.

Pursuant to the USA corporate income tax law,
a 30% withholding tax is levied on dividends
declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in the USA.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes
on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries
established in the USA.

Pursuant to the UK profits tax law, a 20%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared
to foreign investors from the foreign investment
enterprises established in the UK. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in the
UK.

At 31 December 2016, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in Mainland China
(2015: Nil). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised was not significant as at 31 December
2016 and 2015.

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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26.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R R M

31 December 2016 —F—N#F1+=-H=+—H
SHARE CAPITAL 26. &
2016 2015
—E-ARF —ET—hF
HK$ HK$
BT T
Issued and fully paid: BERERITRERE -
897,420,738 (2015: 791,841,828)  897,420,738%
ordinary shares —E—RE:
791,841,828) i%
=gl 519,965,063 1,115,590,024

A summary of movements in the Company’s share
capital is as follows:

ARFABRANSHEENT -

Number of
shares in issue Share capital
=5 £6)
IR 5 HE iR 2
HK$
E T
At 1 January 2015 R-_ZE—RHFE—H—H 527,894,552 777,970,773
Rights issue (note (a)) HRR (B i (a)) 263,947,276 343,131,459
Rights issue expenses HREITER — (5,512,208)
At 31 December 2015 and R_E—h%F
1 January 2016 +-—A=+—"8xK
—ET-XE—H—H 791,841,828 1,115,590,024
Placing of new shares (note (b))  #1 I 1p B & (K1 :# (b)) 105,578,910 105,578,910
Share issue expenses R EITER = (1,203,871)
Capital reduction (note (c)) BB (H i (c)) = (700,000,000)
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF
+=—A=+—H 897,420,738 519,965,063

Notes:

A rights issue of one rights share for every two
existing shares held by members on the register
of members on 24 November 2015 was made
at an issue price of HK$1.3 per rights share,
resulting in the issue of 263,947,276 ordinary
shares of the Company on 3 December 2015 for
a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HK$343,131,459.

Hiat

RE_Z-—HAF+T-—HA-+M

BREELH BRESHEER
B 3R B B {5 % o 3 — IR 4 IR AR
1 /T AR - T AR AR AR (D B
TERISEL R-ZZE—AF
+TZA=ZARBITAAR L AR
263,947,276/% © RIBR B A K 42
{4 R (B 5343,131,45938 7T °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

26. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

27.

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Pursuant to a placing agreement entered into with
a placing agent on 21 April 2016, the Company
issued a total of 105,578,910 ordinary shares
at the placing price of HK$1.00 per share to
independent third parties on 10 May 2016 for
a total cash consideration, before expenses,
of HK$105,578,910. Further details of the
share placement are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 21 April 2016 and 10 May
2016.

(c) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution of shareholders
of the Company passed on 7 November 2016,
a capital reduction plan was approved during
the year to reduce the share capital account of
the Company by an amount of HK$700,000,000,
for the purpose of offsetting the entire amount
of the accumulated losses of the Company of
HK$675,781,658 as at 30 June 2016 with the
remaining balance of HK$24,218,342 to be retained
at the capital reduction reserve account of the
Company. Further details of the capital reduction
are set out in the Company’s circular dated 21
October 2016.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) was adopted pursuant to a
resolution passed on 7 November 2016 for the
primary purpose of incenting and rewarding
those who have contributed or may contribute
to the development of the Group and attracting
and retaining skilled and experienced personne
(“Eligible Participants”) and to motivate them to
strive for the future development of the Group
by providing them with an opportunity to acquire
proprietary interests in the Company thereby linking
their interest with that of the Group and will remain
in force for a period of ten years commencing on the
adoption date and shall expire on 6 November 2026
subject to early termination provisions contained in
the Share Option Scheme. The board of directors
of the Company may grant options to Eligible
Participants to subscribe for shares in the Company
subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme.
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26. BR&(#8)

27.

Hiat - (%)

(b) BER-_ZE—X"FONA-_+—H
M ENRBE A LHNEE HE
ARRR—_ZTE—A~"ERAT+AHR
B E = HEEITA ££105,578,910
BERKRESE1.008 TH TR
R EEREERER1.00E
T ANMBRERANBBAAEE SN
8 5105,578,910/8 7T ° A @K%
REME—THBHN AR A
HAE-_Z—XRNEMNA-t+—HK
—T-—XERATHHAHRA -

(c) BEARIRERZZT—AF
+T—AEtRBBZTERRER
MEEARB R T —NFENA
“+HEMEFEENZE BRE
675,781,658 7T #it ) A F E IR
S H R 5T 8 0 AR A AN 2 &) R A
88 B & 700,000,000/ JL ;X © M
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27.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue at any point in
time, without prior approval from the Company’s
shareholders. Further, the total maximum number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme of the Company must
not exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time. Options granted to a
substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or to any of their respective
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any time and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotation
sheets issued by the Stock Exchange at the date
of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period up to and including the date of
grant, are subject to shareholders’ approval in
advance in a general meeting.

Options granted must be taken up within 21 days
inclusive of the day on which offer was made, upon
payment of HK$1 by the grantee. Options may be
exercised at any time for a period determined by
its directors which shall not be later than the day
immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of
the date of grant. The exercise price of the share
options shall be a price solely determined by the
board of directors of the Company and notified
to an Eligible Participant and shall be at least the
highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet of
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant of the
options; (ii) the average of the closing prices of the
Company’s shares as stated in the daily quotations
sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of
the Company on the date of grant.

27.

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

RSBz 4 et B (48)

ERBARRBEZATENBR
T - RIBERER S AR L 8B R
ENEBERDBETEBAARRFT
AIREMNEZETROB10% - B -
BHITEREBRETSI RAD AT
A EMmEREFEBREERTENS
M ARITE BRI AR ITHRG
BEeBABTERBARQARTRZE
TREARB0% ° WM —HB F B REHB
VN TEERIMESSANBE
ABHNERERTIAEZRBER
B 1218 B B B id AR 2 AL A{A]
REAEEITRMB0.1% & BEE (M
BTHAREBHEENERREBR
FTat AR AR B U B B EE) BB
5,000,000/ BEEEARBRERE
EEUBRREHE o

REmEREANREZAE218 (2
BIRZ2A)AAR  ARAZEZT
BT BREANEFEENHEME
ARETRITE  EABERERR
HESMHAFAER - BRETEE
AREAARFEEEEREETINE
fER2EE  BERKIBUTR
=mE ()RR EBERER R e
BRERIIARA DR TE
(INEXRLBREBHIAEARS
R FTH) &8 B MER AN R R K
B F U T E ¢ R(ii)R H B #A
RABEMEEE °

FEHE 2016 ESHEERAT 205



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B35 R I ot

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME
(Continued)

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme on
7 November 2016, no share options were granted,
and hence there was no outstanding option under
the Share Option Scheme as at 31 December 2016.

28. RESERVES

(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and
the movements therein for the current year
and the prior year are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b)  Capital reduction reserve represented the
unutilised amount of the capital reduction
approved by shareholders of the Company
on 7 November 2016. The balance will be
utilised in future to offset accumulated losses
of the Company that may arise in future.
Further details of the capital reduction are set
out in note 26(c) to the financial statements.

(c) Capital reserve mainly arose from deemed
contributions from non-controlling
shareholders of the Company as a result
of certain liabilities of the Group of
HK$161,035,077 in total being waived by two
shareholders of the Company in February
2014.
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29.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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29. HEMHMEL T

2016 2015
—E-REF —ET—h%F
Notes HK$ HK$
b & BT BT
(note (a)) (note (b))
(K1it(a)) (K7 7E(b))
Net assets disposed of: HERFEE :
Property, plant and ME - BE KRB
equipment 12 3,366,332 113,129
Investment properties WEYE 13 73,678,066 —
Intangible assets mEEE 14 = 4,662,220
Prepayments, deposits and FEft K HE 512 &
other receivables H ) JE WK 1,417,114 13,868
Cash and cash equivalents BR& KR EZEY 923,797 96,626
Other payables and B e B &
accruals EETE R (6,005,177) —
Receipts in advance 78 Uk 78 (621,224) —
Income tax payables FES TS HX (1,187,698) —
Other taxes payables B e A< B 1B (1,776,396) —
Deferred tax liabilities EEF B A& 25 (11,853,913) —
58,040,901 4,885,843
Exchange fluctuation SIMHE L RBFE
reserve realised 15,942,404 (469,071)
Gain/(loss) on disposal of HEWHEB AT & KR
subsidiaries (B #8) (1,587,305) 217,708
72,396,000 4,634,480
Satisfied by cash AR 2T 72,396,000 4,634,480
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DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and
cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of
subsidiaries is as follows:

29.

29.

H € Bt 8 2 B (#])

HREEMBRARNBE e RREEE
MEFERADITAT -

2016 2015

—E—XREF —E—RF

HK$ HK$

BT BT

(note (a)) (note (b))

(Kt aE(a)) (K17E(b))

Cash consideration BERE 72,396,000 4,634,480
Cash and cash equivalents HEMIR e RIBITER

disposed of (923,797) (96,626)

Net inflow of cash and cash BALEHRBRARTN

equivalents in respect of RERBSZEDH

the disposal of subsidiaries FRA 71,472,203 4,537,854

Notes:

(a)

On 15 June 2016, the Company entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Huge Spread
Limited, an independent third party, to dispose
of the Company’s 100% equity interest in each
of Jiacheng and Faith Stand for a total cash
consideration of HK$72,396,000. These two
subsidiaries were engaged in leasing of investment
properties comprising shops, store rooms and car
parking spaces located in two residential property
development projects in Gulou District, Fuzhou,
Fujian Province, the PRC. The transaction was
completed on 30 June 2016.

Further details of this transaction are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 15 June 2016.

The disposal transaction in the prior year
represented the disposal of the Group's 100%
equity interest in Vast Glory Investment Limited on
26 October 2015 to a non-controlling shareholder
of the Company for a cash consideration of
RMB3,800,000 (equivalent to HK$4,634,480 at the
then exchange rate). At the time of the disposal,
Vast Glory Investment Limited and its subsidiary
did not actively engage in any businesses other
than holding a hotel management right.
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30.

31.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Major non-cash transaction

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the
Group had the following major non-cash transaction
of financing activities:

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement dated
28 July 2016 and a supplemental agreement dated
24 August 2016 entered into between the Company
and Wintime, the Company accrued £143,842
(equivalent to HK$1,375,625) interest expenses
regarding the shareholder’s loan and did not settled
the amount during the year ended 31 December
2016. The unsettled interest expenses were
recorded as amount due to a shareholder during the
year ended 31 December 2016.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group had no major non-cash transaction.

OPERATING LEASE
ARRANGEMENTS
(a) As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties
(note 13) to third parties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated
for terms ranging from 1 to 7 years (2015: 1
to 5 years). The terms of the leases generally
require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the contract terms.

At 31 December 2016, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants
falling due as follows:

B 35 5 R BT o
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30. FEBRERERME

31.

EAXREXS
WRE-F—AF+-A=+—AL
S AREHEELTEARRSH
EEDRH -

B AN T EWintime:s] M & B H &
—E-RFLATNBZBREER
HEMABA—STE—A"ENA=-1+ME
Bz@iEWwz  NRAmBREERE
A4 143,842 5 £ (1B & 71,375,625 7%
MBI REERERBEZF
—RNE+ A=+t HILFEIRE
Ho-HzEz_T—"F+-_A=+—A1
IEFE  REEF BRI ARYIIERE
AR FRIE o

REE_Z—RAF+_A=+—H1t
FE  AEBEVEERIERERSH °

EEHARH

(a) EAEHBEA
AEBRELEHELHER
FEZFHBAEREDE (K
13)  &pm - HEPE—F
ELF(ZT—hF: —F=E
EF)ANE - ZESHENKER
—REXBEEIMNRES A
AAREE KRR EHARR

S
& °

RZFE—RFE+ZA=+—
B AKEREBEREEMEPFRR
MR RBEEEERE - AR
TFE 2 H B YR R R & A

HemmHMT -
2016 2015
—E-XRE —T—hEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Within one year —FR 10,506,731 2,978,945

In the second to fifth years, E-_EFEREREF

inclusive BEEEMFE 22,536,434 498,534
Beyond five years AELE 2,310,115 —
35,353,280 3,477,479
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31. OPERATING LEASE 3. BEHERBE(E)
ARRANGEMENTS (Continued)
(b) As lessee (b) ERFEMBEA
The Group leases office premises, staff AEBERBEEHELZHME
quarters and a director quarter under AMAEYE BEIFSRE
operating lease arrangements. Leases for EEE KL WEHEEH
properties are negotiated for terms ranging R—EXRNFE(ZZE—HF : =
from 1 to 6 years (2015: 3 years). F) o
At 31 December 2016, the Group had total RZE—RF+_A=+—
future minimum lease payments under non- B AEBEREDAHELE
cancellable operating leases falling due as HE RUTFEEIHHAENS
follows: MARKERSBLEOT :
2016 2015
ZB-ARHF —E—hF
HK$ HK$
BT VBT
Within one year —F A 2,990,097 841,625
In the second to fifth years, EF_FEERF -
inclusive BEEREMF 4,819,732 138,976
Beyond five years AFLE 111,179
7,921,008 980,601
32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 32. BERE
In addition to the operating lease commitments B b SCHT 5E31(b) R il B 48 & T &
detailed in note 31(b) above, the Group had the TN REREEIR AEBEELHIUAT
following capital commitments at the end of the EARAGE -

reporting period:

2016 2015
—E-XE —ET—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted, but not provided for: 2 2 #){8 R %4 :
Purchase of an intangible asset B E &L EE — 322,530
Construction of properties under ZEEZEREFRYEN
development and investment "EYHE
properties 186,242,995 2,888,242
Total A&t 186,242,995 3,210,772
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. REFHE
(a) The Group had the following material (a) RAFENRN AEEHEBFER
transactions with related parties during the BEUTEARARS :
year:
2016 2015
ZB-XRHF —T—hF
Notes HK$ HK$
B & BT BT

Directors-controlled
corporations:

MEZZHNER :
3t = B 8% 55 i 2 B E Property
AR A A management fee
Beijing Guorui Property income
Development Company ¥ % & 12 & g A (i) 11,877,802 8,944,215
Limited* (“Beijing Hotel management
Guorui Development”) service fee income
(TEHEME]) BEEERBEWRA (i) 2,044,694 —

Heat supply and

maintenance fee

income
HEREECERA (i) 1,605,894 512,266
Car park

management fee

income
BEIZEEBERA (i) 1,942,020 352,240
Steam supply fee

income
EREBERA (ii) 2,725,637 —

IERBAMFIERRER  Property

AR A A management fee
Beijing Haoshi income
Zhonghong Technology ¥ % & 1 & Ik A (i) 603,161 152,477
Development Company Property decoration
Limited*(“Beijing fee income
Haoshi”) ([ 81t ) MEEEBRA (i) 2,885,959 —
Car park
management fee
income
FHESEEBRA (i) 240,834 20,146
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33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. MEHME (M)
(Continued)
(a)  (Continued) (a) (#&)
2016 2015
— N —hHF
Notes HK$ HK$
b aF BT BT
Guolong Property
management fee
income
MEEEBRA (i) 2,678,012 1,507,214
Heat Supply and
maintenance fee
income
HEREEERA (i) 5,130,672 1,017,318
I rRBEHERERA Office rental
Beijing Guorui Holdmgs expense
Company Limited* MAEHEHRX (iii) 735,064 422,156
1b T & 188 R 15 Property
SMARA A management fee
Beijing Crystal Tree income
Hot Spring Company ## &2 &I A
Limited* (i) — 230,156
Wintime Interest paid and
payable
ERNP AN PUPSN (iv) 1,375,925 1,991,112

* For identification only * EHEE

Notes: Hat -

(i) The Group provides property management (i) AEBRAEEERED
services to landlords of properties managed MEREE(MBEER
by the Group, in which two directors of E#EREmER)RHE
the Company have beneficial interests. MEERRE - NEE A
In return, the Group receives property KmmEEEREE -
management service fees, heat supply HEREERBEERESR
and maintenance service fees and car SEBRBKE  HEASE
park management service fees which Eﬁ%f%ﬁﬁﬁ% &N E
were charged at rates mutually agreed BBER -REBEZT—
between the Group and the landlords. fﬁ‘i‘:ﬁ +—HIEF
During the year ended 31 December 2016, EA - ZK%I%%IWHX
the property management services fees WYEEERBE AH
received by the Group from landlords 24,078,395 L (=T —H

amounted to HK$24,078,395 (2015:
HK$12,736,032). These related party
transactions also constitute continuing
connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)
(a) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

During the year ended 31 December 2016,
the Group also receives hotel management
service fees, steam supply fees and
property decoration fees of HK$7,656,290
(2015: Nil) in aggregate, which were
charged at rates mutually agreed between
the Group and the landlords, in which two
directors of the Company have beneficial
interests. These related party transactions
also constitute exempted connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Office rental expense was charged by
this related company for the lease of one
office premise at RMB58,339 (equivalent to
HK$68,152) (2015: RMB56,718 (equivalent
to HK$70,359)) per month during the year
ended 31 December 2016, on a mutually-
agreed basis, which, in the opinion of
the directors, approximated to market
rates. This related party transaction also
constitutes an exempted continuing
connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan
agreements dated 24 August 2016, Wintime
granted a shareholder’s loan facility of
HK$250,000,000 or its equivalent in £ to the
Company. The shareholder’s loan bears
interest at the rate of 2% per annum, and is
repayable in 3 years from the date of draw-
down of the shareholder’s loan or such
other date agreed between Wintime and the
Company.

On 25 August 2016, the Company drew down
a total amount of £20,300,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$207,701,480). On 31
December 2016, the Company repaid a
total amount of £13,875,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$132,720,000).
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33. MEFHE(HE)

(iif)

(%)

REE-_ZT—X~"F+=-A
=t+—BHLtEE A£ER
MEASEBEEF HERAR
TEHY B A% W BUE & & 12 AR
BE - ERBRARYE
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HEEn R ZEHE
F R G IERKC ETT AR ALY
ETUAZEEE N %
S5 .
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s
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MBS A ARHS58339
o0 (¥ & 1 68,152 7 7T)
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56,718 7t (18 & M 70,359
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BEBHA-ZT—XNEN
AZtmBZ2REER®
% 0 Wintime[R AR &% F
250,000,00078 7T =k & H &8
EEVMZRREERME -
IR B B KR 2% Y E I & 5
HF B IR 52 EUAR R
BMEEZZBEAH=4F
sk WintimeEL 78 X &) £ [&] 15
ERHEMBEEIE -

R=ZFE—R"FNA=-+H
H'  ARRRIBAELEH
20,300,000 % 5 (8 & »
#)207,701,480 7 7T) °
—E-RF+ZA=+—
A - AQRENRARSEE
13,875,000 % & (A E R %Y
132,720,0005 JT ) °
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33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)
(a) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(iv) (Continued)

Pursuant to a shareholder’s loan agreement
dated 2 March 2015, Wintime granted a
shareholder’ s loan of HK$194,000,000
(equivalent to approximately
US$25,000,000) to the Company. The
shareholder’s loan bears interest at the
rate of 3% per annum, and is repayable
in 3 years from the date of draw-down of
the shareholder’s loan or such other date
agreed between Wintime and the Company.

During the year ended 31 December
2015, the Company had drawn down the
principal of HK$194,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$25,000,000) from the
loan granted, and the loan was fully repaid
as at 31 December 2015.

These related party transactions also
constitutes continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements and the balances as
disclosed in notes 6, 8, 9, 17, 18, 22, 24 ,
27 and 30 to the financial statements, the
Group had no other material transactions and
outstanding balances with related parties
during the years ended 31 December 2016
and 2015.

(b) Key management personnel of the Group are
directors of the Company, whose emoluments
are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

All financial assets and liabilities of the Group
as at 31 December 2016 and 2015 were loans
and receivables and financial liabilities stated at
amortised cost, respectively.
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35.

36.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities
which are due to be received or settled within
one year approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments, therefore, no disclosure of the fair
values of these financial instruments is made.

For other non-current financial assets and liabilities,
in the opinion of the directors, since their carrying
amounts are not significantly different from their
respective fair values, no disclosure of the fair
values of these financial instruments is made.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments
comprise trade receivables and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is mainly for the Group’s operations.
The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, other payables and receipts in
advance.

The main risk arising from the Group’s financial
instruments is foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks
and they are summarised below:

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. Since HK$ is
pegged to US$, the Group does not have significant
foreign exchange risk in respect of its operations
in the USA. However, owing to its significant
investments and operations in Mainland China and
the UK, the Group’s financial position and operating
performance can be affected significantly by
movements in RMB/HK$ and £/HK$ exchange rates.
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity
at the end of the reporting period to a reasonably
possible change in the RMB and £ exchange rates,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
loss before tax (due to changes in fair value of

monetary assets and liabilities).

MERBREEREHERERBE
(#8)

s B ()

TRHBT R REHREMEHR
A8 MARBLREFEZRHES
BRI EREMBERT - A% E A E
B(AEKEERBBEATFELRE
B)HIKEB A GRIE -

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in foreign (decrease) in
exchange rate loss before tax
Fh B 2R AT A
EH (T ) ®m, A L)
% HK$
T
Year ended 31 December 2016 HE_-ZT—~&E+=-H
=t+t—HLEEE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens WEBTEARBRE
against RMB 5 13,280
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens & & # T 5 A R &
against RMB (5) (13,280)
If Hong Kong dollar weakens MEBTREERE
against £ 5 7,899,432
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens 4% 8 7T 4 & & FHE
against £ (5) (7,899,432)
Year ended 31 December 2015 HE—-ZE—H&E+=-H
=t+—-HLEEE
If Hong Kong dollar weakens MEBTEARERE
against RMB 5 1,446,000
If Hong Kong dollar strengthens & BT H AREFAHE
against RMB (5) (1,446,000)
If Hong Kong dollar weakens W& B TR HERE
against £ 5 —

If Hong Kong dollar strengthens
against £

s %5 B 7T R A
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36.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from the potential failure of the
Group’s counterparties to meet their obligations
under property management services agreements
and rental agreements. Credit risk exposure is
minimised by undertaking transactions with a large
number of counterparties and conducting credit
reviews on prospective tenants. In addition, the
Group regularly reviews the recoverable amount
of trade receivables to ensure that adequate
provision for impairment losses is made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk.

With respect to credit risk arising from other
financial assets of the Group, which mainly
comprise cash and bank balances and other
receivables, the Group’s exposure to credit risk
arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of
these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from the receivables
are disclosed in notes 17 and 18 to the financial
statements.

Liquidity risk

In light of the future business expansion of the
Group, the Group ensures that it maintains
sufficient cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity
requirements and the estimated future construction
cost of the US Complex. The Group’s objective is
to maintain a balance between continuity of funding
and flexibility through cash receipts from the issue
of shares, as well as the strict control over its daily
operating expenses. In the opinion of the directors
of the Company, proceeds from the rights issue
and a share placement obtained during the prior
year and the current year, respectively to finance
certain of the abovementioned capital commitments
are expected to be fulfilled by the Group after
2016. Accordingly, the Group expects to have
adequate sources of funding to finance the Group’s
operations and manage its liquidity position.

36.

RA 35 5 R BT =

31 December 2016 =—F— N NF+=HA=+—H

MERBRERERERBE
(#)

= A & B
EREBREANEE 2R 57 A8
ERTHRSENMEEERSHELE
EHE T CEEMESL - AKEES
BEREXFHTETR S RHELER
FETERELZ  #ERARBER
Kol AEBEERERREEES
BR A2 AT Y [E] & FE DA AR BE T AT e )
CHRAREHREEERE - A&H
THEEEASEFERAERERE -

AEEEMBEREETZBRATR
RITEBR L EMEER  AEEERH
BLEMEENGEARRFEERRS
HTED RARRBOFRELT
EMEmEEH -

BRAASEREEKFAMELERAR
B — B L BUR I B B R I o
17 RIS E -

B & B
BERAEBERREFIR  ~NKE
BREEREHNRESREE  Uin
RERDESHFERASERHEH
BEEBERAMEMLF RKEERK
Ko AEENERRERBITRMAA
WERRE ARBERIEFHERERLS
X AR RENFEEEEERED
T - ARREZRS  REEFE
R AREE AR RO EE S 5IRE
MAEFREEBERASE/IRN -F
—RNFRETHET Ll & A&
FNEE - At AEEEHKE
RAET RENRERNEEEEER
RESREEERBESMKR -
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36.

demand clause giving the bank the unconditional
right to call in the loan at any time and therefore,
for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the
total amount was classified as “on demand” as
at 31 December 2016. In accordance with the
terms of the loan agreement, the contractual
undiscounted payments of the bank borrowing
amounted to HK$135,518,017 (2015: Nil) which
were repayable within 1 year as at 31 December
2016.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. MEGREEEEERBER
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES ($8)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B R B ()
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial RIEBR - BRERSIIEHEG BN
liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, R AEBRECEEBNESRE
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, BRI BHRAMR TN T
is as follows:
Within
On demand 1 year 1-2 years Total
REX —EH0R —EWF &3t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
31 December 2016 —E-XE+ZR
Er=F
Trade payables ERESHER 5,603,577 17,843,523 — 23,447,100
Other payables H i & 50 24,161,634 — — 24,161,634
Due to related companies [ 28 2 7) ;U8 5,601,350 - - 5,601,350
Due to a shareholder JE 1+ B 3R ZK TR 1,375,925 — — 1,375,925
Bank borrowings (note) RITER (B aE) 135,518,017* 237,046 5,504,734 141,259,797
Loan from a shareholder R R R E — 1,229,167 63,487,305 64,716,472
172,260,503 19,309,736 68,992,039 260,562,278
31 December 2015 —E-R&E+-H
Eqr=|3
Trade payables ERE SBER 1,674,445 8,786,904 — 10,461,349
Other payables H fth & 15 5% 24,076,125 = — 24,076,125
Due to related companies & B & 1\ & KB 3,394,044 — — 3,394,044
29,144,614 8,786,904 — 37,931,518
The loan agreement contains a repayment on- * EXpZeEREREREKR

BTPROBREKRGEHER
ROREF - Bt - Bt Lt B H ERR
BRAmME R_ZTE—XRNE+ =
A=+—H BEXRELER
DPEARBIREXR] - BEEXRKB
EEREAERBEE_ZT—X~F
+—_A=+—BLE—"FAREED
RITERZAEHRMBAERE
135,518,017 (=& — A F :
') o



36.

37.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2016 and 2015.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

36.

37.

B 35 5 R BT o
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MERBRERERERBE
(#&)

EXER
AEEEAREENTIEZABRRRER
SEBEBRSELEEELENRE
N UHEFRROEARL R - UXH
HEHEXBREELEMERER -

AREBEZEEIECERARBBE
ENEREHEETELENRERE I
HEELAR - BHAABREARE
B ASEBORESEITHRNG - RE
E-E—RNFER-_T—AF+_-A
=+—RALFE EBEAMBEEZ -
MR EFHEZTE -

L8 F
ETHBRBTEEHRDBUHAAF
E225) -
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position

38. E L FIHIMBIKAR

BRARANHREMROTHARREK

of the Company at the end of the reporting period is MER DT :
as follows:
2016 2015
—E—XE —ET—RF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Property, plant and equipment LE R = 168,297 180,622
Investments in subsidiaries KRB ARIMNIEE 180,489,750 267,969,087
Non-current deposits JERNERET & 428,754 428,754
Total non-current assets EREBEEA 181,086,801 268,578,463
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Loan to a subsidiary RETHBAAMNER 131,235,257 23,252,100
Due from subsidiaries JE W BfT /B8 A B 5K 1B 211,854,763 21,790,192
Prepayments, deposits and other FEfIZXIE ~ 5] & M E h JE
receivables W =k 639,551 446,867
Pledged bank deposits BEFIETER 38,800,000 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 38,885,662 155,394,197
Total current assets MEEESGT 421,415,233 200,883,356
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEEE
Other payables and accruals EMEMNRAMBRE A 1,810,500 2,582 254
Due to a shareholder & 1~ B% 3R 7k 18 1,375,925 —
Income tax payable FE PSR 396,000 —
Total current assets mE)E E B 5T 3,582,425 2,582 254
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEETFHE 417,832,808 198,301,102
TOTAL ASSETS LESS REEELERME
CURRENT LIABILITIES =R 598,919,609 466,879,565
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY kRBEE
Loan from a shareholder BRIREHNER 61,458,337 =
Net assets BEFHE 537,461,272 466,879,565
EQUITY ExE
Share capital &% 7R 519,965,063 1,115,590,024
Reserves (note) Rt at) 17,496,209 (648,710,459)
Total equity T s AR RE 537,461,272 466,879,565
Wei Chunxian Liu Shuhua
MaE 2N E
Director Director
EZE EE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

39.

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

B 35 5 R BT o

31 December 2016 —ZF—A~F+=H=+—H

38. FLOFHMBRRE (&)

(Continued)
Note: A summary of the Company’s reserves is as Biit - ARBIEBRENAT -
follows:
Capital Exchange
reduction Capital fluctuation ~ Accumulated
reserve reserve reserve losses Total
EXFERE EXRE EXRIEG RitE# it
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT BT AT
At 1 January 2015 RZE-1%-A—H — 10,867,997 (16,099,774)  (628,294,320)  (633,526,097)
Loss for the year KEEE — — — (15,184,362)  (15,184,362)
At 31 December 2015 and R-E-RF+-A=t-H
1 January 2016 kRZZ-"5-F-H — 10,867,997 (16,099,774)  (643,478,682)  (648,710,459)
Loss for the year REEE — = —  (33793332)  (33,793,332)
Capital reduction EXRE 24,218,342 — — 675,781,658 700,000,000
At 31 December 2016 RZE-RE+ZA=+—H 24218342 10,867,997 (16,099,774) (1,490,356) 17,496,209

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on
31 March 2017.

39. MBWEDHE

KUMBREN _-_FT—tF=ZA=+—
FREZRABYLIEEM -
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ARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES AND
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Attributable
interest of the

Location Use Lease term Group
FRER

i B A& HEH rEBHER

Completed investment properties

EEBBREDHE

Boundary House, Commercial Medium term lease 100%

7-17 Jewry Street, [EES A ERAE 4Y

London EC3N 2EX

Investment properties under construction and properties under development

EEPREVERBRP Y

2300-2320 Wilshire Blvd., Residential/ Not applicable 100%

Santa Monica, Commercial i A

CA90403, /A%

the USA
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
RAFEPHHE

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and
total equity of the Group for the last five financial years/
period, as extracted from the published annual report and
audited financial statements, is set out below:

AEBEBEREAMBFEE HEEEEE T
ENFRLRERYBRROLLERE
EE REVNEZAOBENT :

RESULTS E ¥
Eleven
months
ended
Year ended 31 December 31 December  Year ended 31 January
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
HE
ZT-E
+= 8
HEt-A=1+-HLEE =+—H HBE-A=T-HLEE
“E2-x"§ ZE-1F |t-@EF ZE-=Ff CE-_fF
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BESEER
Revenue A 140,178,350 76,809,367 5,937,043 5,892,008 5,141,085
Profit/(loss) before tax from RECEEBELN
continuing operations BaAE/ (EB) 34,675,031  (18,414.031) (13251,355) (34,100,416) 1,241,217
Income tax M (2,144,138) 261,671 (202,437) (205,516) (527,461)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE KEE/HEBE
YEAR/PERIOD FROM BEXBELEN
CONTINUING OPERATIONS B/ (BE) (36,819,169)  (18,152,360) (13,453,792)  (34,305,932) 713,756
DISCONTINUED OPERATION ERILE&%%
Profit/(loss) for the year/period A& /MR & I
from discontinued operation BEEBEEN
ME/ (B8) - — 5,106,141 1,090,626 2372122
Profit/(loss) for the year/period ~ REE /S
i/ (B#8) (36,819,169)  (18,152,360)  (8,437,651) (33,215,306) 3,085,878
Attributable to: BER :
Shareholders of the Company KRRRR (36,819,169)  (18,152,360)  (8,437,651) (33,490,700) 2,463,465
Non-controlling interests FER IR - — — 275,394 622,413
(36,819,169)  (18,152,360)  (8,437,651) (33,215,306) 3,085,878
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

=z &H
REHFBKRHE
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND TOTAL BE ARMEZER
EQUITY
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 January 31 January
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
“2-xf -84 ZE-QmE Z=ZE-=%f =ZT—=%
t=A tZA tZA —A —
Er=[ =+—H =r=E =+—H ==k
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT B BT BT BT
Total assets BEEE 830,995,363 553,797,556 161,644,073 138,443,610 130,989,536
Total liabilities BfEEE (296,905,344) (100,913,224)  (22,304,141) (544,966,864) (500,244,601)
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE/(BR)FE 534,090,019 452,884,332 139,339,932 (406,523,254) (369,255,065)
Attributable to: FER
Shareholders of the Company ARAIRE 534,090,019 452,884,332 139,339,932 (406,080,673) (368,401,322)
Non-controlling interests RIS — (442,581) (853,743)
TOTAL EQUITY/ B/ (BEFH) A3
(DEFICIENCY IN ASSETS) 534,090,019 452,884,332 139,339,932 (406,523,254) (369,255,065)
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